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REGULATION THAT IS RELEVANT AND ROBUST 

• Coastal Navigation Safety Review completed

• Successful implementation of Health and Safety at Work Reforms

• Revised Port and Harbour Safety Code introduced under tripartite management arrangements 
with port companies and local authorities

• Maritime Rules programme implemented

• New International Engagement Strategy developed 

 

RISK-FOCUSED, RESPONSIVE COMPLIANCE PRACTICES 
THAT REDUCE HARM IN THE MARITIME SYSTEM

• Nearly 50 percent of domestic operators issued with new Maritime Operator Safety System 
(MOSS) certificates

• 1800 new SeaCert certificates issued to seafarers

• 10 Foreign Chartered Fishing Vessels reflagged to NZ and subject to NZ’s Health and  
Safety standards

• Implementation of the Maritime Labour Convention underway

• Introduction of a world first ‘geofence’ encircling NZ’s coastline which triggers safety messages 
to boaties on the water passing through the ‘fence’

• 50% reduction in recreational boating fatalities

 

RESPONSE CAPABILITY THAT IS WELL PREPARED AND 
EFFECTIVELY DEPLOYED TO RESOLVE EMERGENCY INCIDENTS

• Medium Earth Orbit Search and Rescue Satellite system installed, operating and improving 
response times

• Second National Incident Response Exercise (Whakautu II) completed

• Pacific Maritime Safety Programme yields successful results in Tonga, Kiribati and the  
Cook Islands 

A RESULTS-DRIVEN, RESILIENT ORGANISATION, 
WORKING COLLABORATIVELY FOR SUCCESS

• Co-ordinated IM-ICT work programme underway

• ACC Workplace Safety Management Practices (WSMP) Level 2 accreditation retained

• Midpoint funding review and Oil Pollution Levy review completed

• Staff engagement survey completed, with good overall results

Key highlights 2015/16
STRATEGIC GOAL

STRATEGIC GOAL

STRATEGIC GOAL

STRATEGIC GOAL
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The year in review
Introduction
This annual report records the achievements of 
Maritime NZ (Nō te rere moana Aotearoa) against 
the plans and objectives set out in the Statement 
of Intent (SOI) for 2015–2021 and its associated 
Statement of Performance Expectations (SPE) 
for 2015/2016. It also provides a broader range 
of information which provides insights into the 
progress being made in improving our safety, 
environmental and security outcomes – and of the 
extensive range of activities that play a vital part in 
enabling the national maritime system to operate 
‘safely, securely and cleanly’ out on our seas and 
upon our waterways.

Overview of what we achieved
Our Vision – the big result we aspire to and on which 
our efforts are focused – is ‘a maritime community that 
works and plays safely and securely on clean waters’. 
We made better progress towards this in 2015/2016 
than we have for some time; particularly in the vital  
area of safety.

The commercial sector safety trends remain low and 
are moving in the right direction, while the recreational 
boating toll was almost 50% lower than previous years. 
As is always the case, the challenge is to keep these 

results moving in the right direction. The Health and 
Safety in the Workplace Act (HSWA), implemented 
during the year, will provide a complementary framework 
to the one provided by the Maritime Operator Safety 
System (MOSS) that will enable a comprehensive 
approach to safety by our domestic commercial 
operators.

In the response parts of the organisation, particularly 
those that are key to mitigating the environmental 
impacts of marine incidents and those vital to search 
and rescue responses, very good improvements have 
been made in organisational capability and capacity. 
While there is still work to do, investment made in these 
areas is noticeably paying dividends.

During the year Maritime NZ made good progress 
in engaging very effectively with key New Zealand 
interest groups – in industry, and in local and 
central government. Importantly, a number of these 
relationships moved during the year from identifying 
problems to implementing solutions.

The international maritime system has a major effect on 
New Zealand’s domestic one. During the year Maritime 
NZ was able to work effectively to ensure that, as far 
as practical, decisions made in international maritime 
forums did not adversely impact on the interests of 
New Zealand – and New Zealanders working in the 
maritime sector.

Keith Manch, Director, Maritime NZ David Ledson, Chair, Maritime NZ
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Maritime NZ must have a business model that is fiscally 
sustainable. The Midpoint Funding Review, completed 
and implemented during the year, achieves this over at 
least the next few years.

Maritime NZ’s people
What Maritime NZ achieves during the year is 
dependent on a number of factors – resources, 
operational space and capability and effective 
collaboration and compliance to name a few. However, 
the most important factor is the performance of 
Maritime NZ’s people. And, over the past year they 
did very well – and in the face of some pressures right 
across the organisation.

It was especially pleasing at the end of the year to 
complete a staff engagement survey that indicated the 
‘health’ of the organisation was in a number of areas 
above the public sector average.

Keith Manch 
Director, Maritime NZ

David Ledson  
Chair, Maritime NZ1

1 David Ledson held the position of Chair, Maritime NZ 
from 1 February 2010 – 19 October 2016. Blair O’Keeffe 
assumed role of Chair as of 20 October 2016.
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Part A: Maritime NZ

Overview of Maritime NZ

WHO WE ARE
Maritime NZ is the national regulatory, compliance 
and response agency for the safety, security and 
environmental protection of coastal and inland 
waterways. We are a Crown entity set up in 1993  
and are governed by a five-member Board appointed  
by the Minister of Transport under the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994.

We have approximately 190 staff located in our  
10 regional offices and Wellington head office, at  
our Marine Pollution Response Centre in Auckland  
and our Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand in 
Lower Hutt.

We were established to promote a safe, secure and 
clean maritime environment for all commercial and 
recreational activities on the water, and to minimise 
the impact of maritime incidents and accidents on 
New Zealand’s land, waters and people.

WHAT WE DO
Maritime NZ’s three key roles are:

1. Regulation2 and compliance
We help to develop and maintain the national safety, 
security and environmental protection regulations 
that govern maritime operations, ports and offshore 
installations in New Zealand waters.

We support, encourage and require operator 
compliance with those regulations by:

• licensing and certifying seafarers and commercial 
operations

2 The term regulation is used here to refer to the international 
and national conventions, laws, regulations, rules and 
standards that govern maritime activity.

• educating the maritime community

• auditing operators and service providers, such as 
ship surveyors

• investigating incidents to understand causes and 
develop preventative strategies

• enforcing the regulations to hold people to account 
for their actions.

Maritime NZ also monitors the security provided by 
port operators, undertakes security profiling of vessels, 
and maintains information about security threats to 
New Zealand’s maritime interests, taking action as 
appropriate.

2. Provision of safety infrastructure
We maintain New Zealand’s coastal navigation aids to 
shipping (principally coastal lights and lighthouses) the 
national maritime distress and safety radio service, and 
an emergency distress beacon detection network for 
land, sea and air.

3. Response to incidents
We provide a national land, sea and air search  
and rescue coordination service that covers some  
30 million square kilometres, from the Pacific Islands  
in the north to Antarctica in the south.

We also manage the development and improvement 
of national maritime incident and oil spill response 
capability, and lead New Zealand’s responses to 
significant maritime incidents and emergencies, 
including oil spills.
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International obligations
Maritime NZ implements a number of the Crown’s 
obligations under international maritime and marine 
environment protection agreements and treaties by 
representing New Zealand’s interests at the United 
Nations International Maritime Organisation (IMO).

Active engagement in international rulemaking 
and adoption of relevant conventions is critical for 

New Zealand, given its dependence on safe and efficient 
global shipping for its economic prosperity.

Maritime NZ continues to provide technical support to 
the government’s Pacific Maritime Safety Programme 
where the primary focus has been on Tonga, Kiribati and 
the Cook Islands. This involves a mix of initiatives – from 
the provision of safety infrastructure and equipment 
through to training of key staff and the development of 
more effective safety administrations.

WHAT WE SEEK TO ACHIEVE
A MARITIME COMMUNITY THAT WORKS  
AND PLAYS SAFELY AND SECURELY ON 
CLEAN WATERS.

Maritime NZ brings together its three core roles – the 
national regulatory and compliance agency, a provider 
of maritime safety infrastructure, and a national incident 
response agency – to achieve its vision of three key 
outcomes:

SAFE – a maritime system that supports, 
encourages and requires strong safety 
standards and behaviours.

SECURE – a maritime system that 
protects people and goods from unlawful 
actions as they move across domestic and 
international waters.

CLEAN – a marine environment that is 
clean and protected.

Contributing to key transport sector objectives

OVERVIEW OF THE GOVERNMENT 
TRANSPORT SECTOR
Transport is a critical component of daily life for all of 
New Zealand’s businesses and people. New Zealand’s 
transport system is our primary mechanism for 
international connectivity, linking our businesses to their 
export markets and supporting New Zealand’s $23 
billion a year tourism industry.

The diagram below provides an overview of the 
transport sector and Maritime NZ’s role within this.

The Government is seeking:

A TRANSPORT SYSTEM THAT MAXIMISES 
ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL BENEFITS FOR 
NEW ZEALAND AND MINIMISES HARM.

The Ministry of Transport has defined four system 
outcomes that guide the work of transport sector 
agencies and Crown entities, including Maritime NZ:

• Safe and responsible – reduces the harms from 
transport

• Effective – moves people and freight where they need 
to go in a timely manner

• Efficient – delivers the right infrastructure and services 
to the right level at the best cost

• Resilient – meets future needs and endures shocks.

The Minister of Transport has also identified three key 
priorities, namely:

• a transport system that is increasingly safe and 
secure

• a transport system that supports economic growth 
and productivity

• a transport system that delivers increasing value 
for money.

Maritime NZ’s work contributes to these goals and 
priorities.
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MINISTER OF TRANSPORT

MINISTRY OF TRANSPORT
Policy advisor to government
Governance and accountability support

MARITIME 
NEW ZEALAND
• Safety regulator 
• Enabler of economic activity
• Service provider

CIVIL AVIATION 
AUTHORITY
• Safety regulator 
• Enabler of economic activity
• Service provider
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• Safety regulator 
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ACCIDENT 
INVESTIGATION 
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selected aviation, maritime 
and rail occurrences
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Sector leadership

Sector leadership Sector leadership Sector leadership

Board Board Board

State-owned enterprises

AIRWAYS 
Air navigation service provider

KIWIRAIL
Rail owner and operator

Wider transport sector leadership role (by mode)

METSERVICE
Provision of weather 
information and services

Transport 
Crown entities



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/20168

The way we operate
To achieve safe, secure and clean seas and inland 
waterways, Maritime NZ’s mission is to be:

A PROFESSIONAL, EVIDENCE-BASED, 
INTELLIGENCE-LED, RISK-FOCUSED 
REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND  
RESPONSE AGENCY.

Professional
Maritime NZ employs people with a range of 
professional skills and experience. Our people come 
from the maritime industry; policy, regulatory and 
operational compliance backgrounds; and have rescue 
coordination and response experience, especially in the 
oil spill area. We maintain a strong focus on professional 
development through technical and management 
programmes and our contribution to system-wide 
capability initiatives.

Evidence based and intelligence led
We base our work on robust evidence and intelligence 
that is collected, collated and analysed so that we 
understand what is happening and why it is happening. 
Only then can we properly assess the safety, security 
and environmental risks that we need to address, and 
make effective decisions about which interventions are 
needed.

Our information base covers all aspects of what we do 
and the environment we operate within: From data on 
incident and accident trends and behavioural drivers 
within the industry, through to the effectiveness of the 
regulatory, compliance and response initiatives that we 
have put in place.

Risk focused
Increasingly, Maritime NZ is adopting a risk-based 
approach across its activities to target its allocation of 
resources, for greater impact in lifting compliance. This 
means using the evidence and intelligence we collect to 
build up profiles of the different sector and operators we 
regulate so we can better assess risks of safety, security 
and environment harm.

We can then make judgements about their potential 
impact and relative importance of different risks, 
and select the most appropriate interventions to 
address them. It is about proactive and informed risk 
identification and taking proportionate action.

Appropriate compliance interventions to 
achieve our outcomes
Maritime NZ’s compliance activities are designed to 
contribute to our system outcomes of safety, security 
and environmental protection in New Zealand’s maritime 
environment.

We tailor our compliance strategies to positively 
influence the factors that drive safety systems, attitudes 
and behaviour–utilising the most effective mix of 
regulatory and non-regulatory tools.

Our choices of interventions are informed by 
understanding what contributes to poor or inconsistent 
levels of compliance, and then determining what will 
work best to achieve improvement. As a result, we 
select from a wide range of intervention options, taking 
into account risk, attitude and capability, plus the likely 
consequences of an incident or harm occurring.

Our tools range from educating and assisting maritime 
sector participants to get things right, to using 
enforcement actions when we have to.

Working collaboratively
Collaboration with other agencies reflects the breadth of 
our interests across transport, health and safety, oil and 
gas, local government, search and rescue, security and 
international domains, and is crucial to our effectiveness 
in achieving outcomes.

We work with partner organisations to develop effective 
regulation, share information, achieve efficiency 
and capability gains, and to design and implement 
strategies and services that reflect shared goals and 
responsibilities.

Maritime NZ also seeks to work constructively with 
the parties it regulates and their representative 
organisations. Our engagement takes place through 
formal industry groups that we have helped establish, or 
which are provided for in legislation. These include the 
New Zealand Maritime Forum, the Oil Pollution Advisory 
Committee, and the Safer Boating Forum.

We regularly seek industry input and advice through 
engagement with these and other organisations, the 
appointment of sector representatives to Maritime NZ 
reference groups, as well as formal consultation on draft 
maritime rules and new initiatives.

Continual improvement
To remain effective in the future, Maritime NZ must be 
able to continually develop and adjust the way it deals 
with the differing needs and circumstances of the 
groups it regulates, and demonstrate the impact of its 
actions.

In developing its strategies, Maritime NZ draws upon 
emerging best practice, including: Implementing 
targeted strategies based on a clearer understanding 
of safety risks; streamlining processes to minimise the 
burden for those regulated; enhancing our capability to 
evaluate and review our performance, and the difference 
our work makes.
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six million 

people take to the water on 
960,000 recreational craft

Each year, on average:

more than 30 cruise ships 
making 100 voyages and

a marine industry with 
an annual turnover of 

more than 
800 foreign cargo 
vessels make almost

12 million
staff go to work in our offshore 
industries extracting and exploring 
for oil, gas and mineral sands

land, sea and air incidents require 
a coordinated rescue effort

1,500

1.3 million
700
5,600

99%
port calls 
transporting

of New Zealand’s 
trade (by volume)

port calls

commercial fishing vessels 
operate around our coastline, generating

$1.7 billion

$1.6 billion
$652 million

4,000approximately

around250

in export 
earnings

and exports of

over

This figure includes Category II taskings, Category I support and other SAR events, for example Medevacs.

passengers use harbour and 
Cook Strait ferries to get to 
work or go on holiday

tonnes of oil and 4 million 
tonnes of freight is transported 
around our coastline

Our operating context
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Understanding our sectors
Maritime NZ is charged with regulating a maritime sector that is characterised by its diversity, embracing 
everything from the humble recreational dinghy through to the large ocean-going vessels that carry 
New Zealand’s trade to the world. These each generate a unique set of issues that require Maritime NZ 
to specifically tailor its regulatory, security and response interventions to address them. To help it better 
understand this wide range of issues, Maritime NZ has divided the maritime community into eight 
‘sectors’ and developed a sector profile for each during 2015/16. The key characteristics of these sectors 
and the specific regulatory challenges they raise for Maritime NZ are summarised below, drawing on our 
full sector reports3.

 Foreign Shipping
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• Total value of export and imports carried by international vessels 

estimated at $83.6b (2015/16 year)4

• NZ economy heavily dependent on international trade and 
international shipping accounts for 99% (by volume) of trade 
exports. 

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• There are 16 ports in New Zealand that receive 

port calls from foreign-flagged ships

• Around 880 ships visited NZ in 2015/16 making 
over 2,200 visits and 6,200 port calls

• Ships visiting NZ included cruise (167) ships, bulk 
carriers (348), container ships, oil tankers and 
general cargo.

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
• International instruments determine high safety standards for 

international shipping, however the level of enforcement of these 
standards by flag States can vary

• 284 Port State inspections carried out by NZ in 2015/16 which 
revealed 5545 deficiencies. The majority of these (47%) required 
rectification before departure, while eight were detainable 
detentions.

• Average6 of 11 serious harm incidents and 1 fatality a year. 

WORKFORCE
• Predominantly foreign workforce who are subject 

to the maritime legislation of their flag state

• Global shortage of seafarers

• Maritime New Zealand has five officers able to 
conduct port state control inspections.

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Effectively implementing mandatory and non-mandatory international conventions and standards, such as Maritime 

Labour Convention and the Ballast Water Management Convention.

• Influencing the development and implementation of new international conventions that are appropriate and supportive of 
New Zealand’s economic, environmental and social interests.

• Maintaining effective Port State Control in New Zealand and in the Asia Pacific region with limited operational 
resources. 

3 Unless otherwise specified, figures reported are taken from Maritime NZ’s sector reports produced over 2014/15. 

4 International Shipping in New Zealand Annual snapshot for 2015/16.

5 Deficiencies are coded and range from ‘detainable’ to rectifiable within a set period, i.e. ‘before departure’; ‘at next port’;  
‘within 14 days’; ‘within 3 months’; or ‘other’.

6 Figures based on events reported to Maritime NZ over the last four financial years 2012/13–2015/16.
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Domestic Coastal Shipping
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• Sector carries 4m tonnes freight pa, which is 15% of NZ total freight

• Cook Strait ferries carry 1m passengers & 230k cars pa

• Coastal shipping is a more cost efficient and environmentally 
acceptable means of moving containerised freight compared to road 
and rail7. 

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• 11 NZ flagged vessels (ferries, bulk cement 

carriers, tankers, dredgers, containerships)

• Two UK-flagged ferries – (ie two of the 
Interislander ferries, Kaitaki, Kaiarahi).

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
• Generally safety is of high standard

• UK flagged ships subject to different regime

• Average of 3 serious harm incidents per year and – since 2008,  
no fatalities.

WORKFORCE
• Age profile of officers and crew is increasing

• International seafarers brought in to replace 
NZ seafarers going offshore for better pay.

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Need to manage potential for safety risks that could result from ‘hubbing’8 where smaller coastal vessels collect 

and distribute the cargo from the main ‘hub’ ports to other ports. Smaller coastal vessels may undertake multiple shorter 
trips, with smaller crews, increasing crew workloads and possible crew fatigue.

 Domestic Fishing
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• Significant export sector for New Zealand

• 90% of catch exported, earning NZ $1.7 billion9 mainly 
from Australia, China, Japan and USA.

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• Five companies control 70% of NZ’s fish production

• Over 1,500 certified commercial fishing vessels exist, 
many are small owner-operator businesses

• Diverse sector with foreign and domestic operators using 
a range of fishing methods. 

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL 
PERFORMANCE
• One of the most dangerous occupations in NZ with 

a high average injury and fatality rate relative to other 
commercial sectors, ie 23 serious harm incidents and  
2 fatalities a year

• Causal factors include tough working conditions, long 
hours and time away at sea, drug and alcohol issues and 
a high tolerance for risk and danger. 

WORKFORCE
• Around 2,500 employed in commercial sea fishing and 

aquaculture – 50% self-employed

• Predominantly male, older and twice as many Maori as 
other NZ sectors

• Work longer than average hours for low pay

• Surveys show sector operators recognise the industry 
is risky, but don’t expect events to occur in their own 
operation10.

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Understanding the new HSW legislation and applying it to operations

• Understanding the transitioning of existing certificates into SeaCert and STCW

• Understanding the role of the surveyor now in comparison to SSM.

7 Maritime NZ sector report – coastal shipping September 2015.

8 Hubbing may increase as container ships become larger, which require Ports to improve their infrastructure and facilities  
(eg channel dredging etc) to allow larger ships access to their facilities.

9 http://www.seafoodnewzealand.org.nz/industry/key-facts/ accessed 18 Aug 2016.

10 2014 Health and Safety Attitudes and Behaviours in the New Zealand Workforce Survey (https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/
Publications-and-forms/Commercial-operations/Shipping-safety/Health-and-safety/MNZ-commercial-fishing-report-2014.pdf)
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 Domestic Passenger and Non-passenger
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• 5.8 million passenger boardings in 2012/13, predominantly 

Auckland commuter ferries. 

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• Diverse range of vessels, commuter ferries, water 

taxis, tourist cruises, charter boats, tugs, pilot 
vessels, tankers, barges, research, survey and 
cargo vessels

• 55 medium/large operators with 5+ vessels

• 2,000+ small operators with 3,000 vessels.

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
• Generally reasonable safety standard, with an average of 11 

serious harm incidents and 1 fatality a year

• <10 very small spills of marine diesel a year.

WORKFORCE
• Limited information currently available on 

workforce. 

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Legislative requirements not always easy to interpret or apply to the diversity of operations within this sector. 

This can make targeting of Maritime NZ initiatives difficult

• Most barges unregulated, meaning operators are not consistently aware of requirements

• Diversity of operations makes transitioning into MOSS regime a significant change process for operators and Maritime NZ.

 Domestic Outdoor and Adventure
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• Sector is seen as major contributor to tourism $ with significant 

impact on international reputation

• Jet boats & rafts carry 390,000 tourists a year.

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• Whole sector relatively new; business processes 

still maturing

• Diverse range of commercial activities including 
100 jet boats & 270 whitewater rafts

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
• Harm events and fatalities generally low in number, but high 

profile – average of 3 serious harm incidents and less than 1 
fatality a year

• Limited data for some industries.

WORKFORCE
• Staff often young, unqualified and inexperienced; 

low pay and poor conditions; high staff turnover.

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Clarifying the respective jurisdictions of Maritime NZ and WorkSafe NZ in this area following the introduction of the 

Adventure Tourism Regulations

• Some operators currently face dual compliance regimes

• Limited data about some operators, varying risks and safety performance for many outdoor adventure activities.
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 Offshore 
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• 75% of NZ’s oil and gas production situated offshore – 

currently all from Taranaki Basin

• Petroleum sector $3b of NZ’s export revenue pa

• Potential to exploit unexplored basins & grow exports to 
$30b pa by 2025 – Government remains keen to attract 
responsible global investment in industry.

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• NZ owns and manages petroleum and mineral resources 

in its offshore jurisdiction through block offers and 
environmental consents

• mainly large exploration and producer firms

• seabed mining and mineral activities relatively 
undeveloped: oil exploration is longstanding.

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL 
PERFORMANCE
• Safety conscious sector, average of 3 serious harm 

incidents and less than 1 fatality a year

• Complex and potentially hazardous conditions in remote 
locations and harsh weather

• No offshore well blowouts in NZ to date.  
15–20 minor oil spills per annum.

WORKFORCE
• Industry employs nearly 4,000 directly and supports 

further 4,000 in other parts of economy

• Highly skilled and educated workforce, in high demand 
and highly paid (twice NZ average).

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Potential growth of marine mining will see increased vessel usage and application of new technologies

• Coordination of regulatory activity which is spread over four agencies (Maritime NZ, Environmental Protection Agency, 
Worksafe NZ, and NZ Petroleum and Minerals)

• Falling international oil price could put pressure on operators to reduce costs.

 Recreational Boating
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• Purchase of boats and equipment, including their 

maintenance, contributes to marine industry with 
estimated turnover of $1.6b.

SIZE OF SECTOR
• Around a third of NZers are involved in some form of 

boating

• Nearly 1m recreational vessels – over half are kayaks/
canoes and power boats <6m. 

SAFETY PERFORMANCE
• On average15 serious harm incidents and  

21 fatalities per year (a total of 117 fatalities in last 6 
years – up to two thirds might have been saved if wearing 
lifejackets)

• Surveys show large gap between acknowledging safe 
behaviour and actual practices11

• fastest growing boating group in NZ (paddle craft) is 
increasingly represented in the annual boating toll.

PARTICIPANTS
• Skippers tend to be male aged 50+

• In Auckland, ‘boaties’ are younger and more affluent than 
general population; profile is similar to general population 
in rest of country

• More women and younger people getting involved, and 
growing cultural diversity.

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Lowering the boating toll

• Achieving national legislative consistency in addressing key safety risks such lifejacket wearing

• Working together to develop and implement new safety initiatives.

11 Research NZ; 2016 Recreational Boating Rates of Participation Survey.
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  Ports and Harbours
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
• NZ ports handle $39.5b of exports and $48.2b of imports 

by sea

• Cruise industry increasing over the last five years (2014/15 
cruise season) injecting $436m into the NZ economy. 

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
• 14 commercial port companies

• 12 regional councils oversee harbours that include a 
commercial port

• In 2015/16 – 6,119 port calls (down from 6,241 in 
previous year)12.

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
• 2000 events reported over 5 years (2011/12–2015/16) 

either in the harbour or while at berth

• 45% of these were for commercial vessels (61% of those 
involved foreign flagged vessels, while 39% were foreign 
vessels)

• Port operators, regional councils and Maritime NZ 
collaborate to implement a voluntary port and harbour 
safety management system.

WORKFORCE
• 23 harbourmasters and deputy harbourmasters

• More than 70 harbour pilots located in New Zealand 
ports

• Each port has a marine or operations manager

• Additional enforcement officers may be employed if 
the size and characteristics of maritime activity in the 
port and harbour require these staff on a permanent or 
seasonal basis.

KEY CHALLENGES FOR MARITIME NZ AND THIS SECTOR
• Maintaining the economic sustainability of 14 commercial ports in NZ (in the face of overcapacity and changes to 

shipping)

• Catering for larger and fewer international cargo ships arriving, which are generating additional dredging  
and infrastructure costs

• Meeting the demands of a rapidly growing cruise ship sector

• Implementing the new Health and Safety at Work legislation

• Providing effective management of the Port & Harbour Safety Code under new tripartite arrangements (Councils, Port 
Companies, Maritime NZ).

12 International Shipping in New Zealand Annual snapshot for 2015/16.
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Our future challenges

Globalisation of maritime business
Global trends will continue to impact commercial 
and recreational maritime activities, and will influence 
Maritime NZ’s strategic direction and how it works 
to achieve its outcomes and contribute to the overall 
safety, security and environmental protection of 
New Zealand’s maritime environment.

A central driver for the shift to an increasingly integrated 
global economy has been the operational and 
technological development of the shipping industry, 
which has dramatically lowered transportation costs. 
The drive for increased economies of scale is leading  
to greater containerisation, larger vessels and just-in-
time delivery processes, with major implications for port 
construction and surrounding areas.

These shifts are affecting New Zealand’s port and 
harbour infrastructures, with considerable dredging 
activity going on to accommodate larger vessels. 
Changing trends in international maritime transportation 
and their impact on navigational safety led to 
Maritime NZ’s Coastal Navigation Safety Review13 
completed this year. The review has identified potential 
areas of higher risks and considered the extent to which 
existing safety frameworks may be adjusted to manage 
these.

With almost all of New Zealand’s trade being carried 
by foreign-flagged ships, we want to ensure that the 
shipping regulations adopted by the international 
community are set at levels that meet New Zealand’s 
safety, security and environmental protection 
standards, but not set so high that the efficiency of 
shipping serving our trade is compromised and our 
trade competitiveness jeopardised. Our continuing 
engagement with the International Maritime Organisation 
(IMO) and other international bodies is critical in ensuring 
that global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s 
interests. Maritime NZ is taking a more strategic 
approach, prioritising our allocation of limited resources 
to international developments that have the most impact 
on outcomes for New Zealand’s maritime system and 
environment.

Technological advances
Technological advances create new safety opportunities, 
and risks, for commercial and recreational activities and 
are impacting all areas of Maritime NZ’s work.

For example, digital information and automated 
functionality in equipment and systems continue to 
influence the design of vessel navigation systems and 
safety equipment, offering potential safety improvements 
as well as efficiency gains.

13 https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/public/consultation/
coastal-navigation/

Real-time satellite-sourced vessel tracking and virtual 
maritime beacons are already in use globally and are 
now increasingly being used in New Zealand – making 
it easier for Maritime NZ to spot dangerous vessel 
traffic patterns and locate people in need of rescue. 
Lower prices for mobile phones with GPS capability 
and Personal Location Beacons (PLBs) are encouraging 
greater usage by individuals venturing on the sea and 
land-based adventure activities.

Drones are starting to be used in marine environments 
around the world – to monitor port and terminal areas 
for illegally moored vessels, conduct remote safety 
surveillance over platforms and rigs, look for ice hazards 
– and could have particular benefits given our very large 
maritime search and rescue area.

Whilst bringing opportunities, these advances also 
create more complex and dynamic risks. They can 
encourage an over-dependence on technology, 
especially GPS, leading to ‘technology-induced 
accidents’ when those systems fail or generate false 
information. There can also be exposure to increasing 
environmental hazards through the use of new offshore 
equipment and greater maritime traffic as a result of new 
areas of business opening up. Drone use generates a 
number of potential security and safety concerns.

As a result, there will be an on-going need to review 
relevant legislation and compliance strategies, and 
ensure that we have the capability to understand 
and respond to fast-paced technological change. 
Maritime NZ’s strategic work programme includes 
initiatives to enable the maritime sector to adapt to the 
risks and benefits posed by technological advances 
– for example, the replacement of the emergency 
distress beacon detection and location system (via the 
MEOSAR14 project) which has continued over 2015/16. 
Although still in the ‘test phase’, the new system has 
already picked up data from beacon alerts that the old 
technology would not have ‘seen’ or would only have 
seen in a slower time. The resulting rescue operations 
have been more efficient and more effective.

Our changing society
New Zealand society is characterised by an aging 
population and a growing ethnic mix. It is Maritime NZ’s 
role to address the maritime safety, security and 
environmental challenges generated by these changes 
in the population, and to reflect the extent of society’s 
tolerance for safety, security and environmental risk.

Research shows that New Zealanders are becoming 
increasingly aware of the importance of maintaining a 
clean and sustainable environment, rating the quality 
of the natural environment as being the third most 
important aspect of New Zealand, behind the quality of 

14 Medium Earth Orbiting Search and Rescue.
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life and the quality of education. In actively promoting 
a safe, secure and clean New Zealand maritime 
environment, Maritime NZ, as the country’s national 
maritime regulatory and response agency, must ensure 
that our actions continue to reflect the expectations of 
the society we serve.

At the same time New Zealand’s workplace health and 
safety record is relatively poor compared with other 
western OECD countries with similar market economies 
and regulatory systems15. Every year in New Zealand 
four in every 100,000 New Zealand workers die from 
a work-related incident. This is in part due to a ‘she’ll 
be right’ attitude where self-reliance, ‘number 8 wire’ 
resourcefulness, and ‘not whinging’ are an integral part 
of the country’s history and culture.

It is clear, however, that society is increasingly less 
willing to tolerate poor safety practices in the workplace. 
The Government has set clear targets to improve 
workplace health and safety, and in 2013 established 
WorkSafe as New Zealand’s lead health and safety 
agency to deliver on these targets.

The Commercial fishing sector is one of the five top 
priority sectors for health and safety identified by 
WorkSafe. Maritime NZ has primary responsibility for 
regulating workplace health and safety of this sector. 
Maritime NZ’s implementation of new regulatory regimes 
over the next six years are aimed at improving the health 
and safety record of the sector.

Adapting to a new regulatory 
environment
Regulatory environments change and evolve and 
regulatory agencies must adapt their organisational 
practices in response. Key changes that are shaping 
how Maritime NZ needs to operate include public 
expectations that regulatory bodies adopt a cost-
effective principles-based, rather than prescriptive, 
approach to regulation. Agencies are expected to 
identify risks and provide the public with assurance  
that their strategies are effective in reducing the 
impact and consequences of harmful incidents. The 
introduction of the Health and Safety at Work (HSW) 
Act (2015) has distributed responsibility for health and 
safety at work across a wider group of individuals in a 
workplace setting.

This requires Maritime NZ to ensure maritime 
communities understand their obligations under the 
new legislation, and to consider new approaches that 
may be needed to enable groups to be compliant with 
their new obligations. Greater access to and use of 
information is also changing the regulatory environment. 
Developments in smart devices, social media and cloud 
computing are expanding people’s ability to access 
and use information, and changing their expectations 
about how they interact with each other, and with and 

15 http://hstaskforce.govt.nz/documents/report-of-the-
independent-taskforce-on-workplace-health-safety.pdf 

within businesses and government. Maritime NZ needs 
to share and capture a variety of information about 
individuals and businesses for regulatory purposes and 
may need to share this information with other groups 
to be effective. However, in order to provide and share 
information, people need a level of assurance that their 
information will not be used to disadvantage them.

For Maritime NZ, this means reviewing how its services 
and interfaces with stakeholders can be improved 
through new technologies and media. It also involves 
generating increasingly robust analytical data and 
intelligence to inform regulatory developments and 
compliance processes, as well as ensuring operational 
processes for capturing, storing and sharing information 
(internally and externally) protect the privacy of 
individuals but are still able to inform organisational 
practice and reduction of maritime harm over time.

Sustaining the delivery of better 
regulatory compliance and response 
outcomes
Maritime NZ is adapting to changes in the regulatory 
environment. Maritime NZ has undergone a significant 
change in recent years, re-engineering its organisational 
systems, strategy and culture – to become a relevant, 
modern “evidence based, intelligence-led and risk-
focused” regulatory compliance and response agency. 
The challenges Maritime NZ faces in sustaining this shift 
and ensuring its regulatory compliance and response 
practices are effective and efficient and deliver set 
outcomes, include:

• Improving organisational capability to collect, collate, 
analyse and use information to better understand the 
performance of the regulatory system and to ensure 
its on-going improvement.

• Developing an integrated response capability by 
working in partnership with other regulatory and 
response agencies. 

• Maintaining a clear understanding of the overall 
health and safety and transport regulatory system, 
what it intends to achieve and Maritime NZ’s 
contributions within that framework, and enhancing 
internal capacity to deliver professional regulatory 
practice. 

• Ensuring that our activities do not place undue 
compliance costs on the sector and working 
alongside regulatory compliance agencies with 
similar operational responsibilities to ensure 
consistent and efficient approaches to overlapping or 
shared jurisdictions.

Funding the changes required to operate in this way and 
avoid the regulatory failures of the past, is challenging 
– particularly for small agencies. Maritime NZ’s funding 
model was established prior to this expanded approach, 
and needs to be regularly reconsidered in this light. 
Regular funding reviews have therefore become part of 
Maritime NZ’s strategic work programme.
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Organisational Health and Capability
Our success as an organisation is measured by our 
people, who make a vital contribution in ensuring that 
Maritime NZ strives towards its intention of being a 
resilient, healthy, capable organisation that values and 
energises its people to deliver high quality regulatory 
and response services.

Our people have worked hard throughout the past year, 
constantly striving to achieve Maritime NZ’s vision of 
safe, secure and clean waters. This has created a strong 
platform for further gains in maritime system outcomes.

Maritime NZ has sought to further develop and 
implement a range of actions to support improvement 
in organisational performance over the past 12 months. 
These include provision of learning and development 
opportunities/initiatives for staff throughout the 
organisation (particularly for frontline staff), induction 
sessions, creation of a framework for leadership and 
management development, a continued focus on 
supporting internal communication channels and 
fostering a “One-MNZ” culture.

Organisational health measures

PERFORMANCE 
MEASURE 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Average sick day 
absences per employee

4.0 4.0 4.5

Number of injuries/
accidents per  
100 employees  
per annum16

10.5 6.8 12.5

% of reported near miss 
incidents to reported 
accidents

66.7% 60.6% 51.8%

16 Maritime NZ has a large office-based staff. Increased 
emphasis was placed on reporting in the 2015/16 year. 
Pain and discomfort make the largest percentage of 
reported workplace accidents and are easily resolved. The 
remainder are minor (ie cuts, scrapes, burns etc).

Maritime NZ’s current health and safety focus has 
revolved around the implementation of the HSWA 2015. 
This includes updating existing systems and providing 
internally focused and regulatory focused health and 
safety training. MNZ continues the development 
of a reporting culture and the focus on contractor 
management within the organisation. The organisation 
has focused on building awareness of health and safety 
risks and encouraging reporting of near misses and 
accidents. This has resulted in an overall increase in 
reporting for both near-miss incidents and accidents. 
It is expected that incident/accident reporting will 
continue at an increased level due to continued in-house 
awareness campaigns. However, over time, the rate of 
accidents is expected to decrease as a result of risks 
being identified and controlled before accidents occur, 
with the net effect being an overall increase in the safety 
of the workplace.

Recruitment and retention
There has been a significant focus on recruitment, 
induction and people development activities within 
Maritime NZ during the year. This has occurred in 
parallel with providing secondment and development 
opportunities for our staff during a time of change in 
the way the organisation operates and the regulatory 
systems we are responsible for. 

Maritime NZ has a current total of 196.11 Full-Time 
Equivalent (FTE) employees (comprising 176.18 
permanent and 19.93 fixed-term employees) based in 
12 regional offices including Wellington office, RCCNZ in 
Lower Hutt and Marine Pollution and Response Service 
in Auckland. Fiscal constraints are impacting on our 
ability to recruit a full staff complement. 
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Table 1: Workplace profile of Maritime NZ as at  
30 June 2016* This information is voluntarily 
reported by staff

2014/15 2015/16

STAFF NUMBERS

Establishment FTEs 199.3 212.3

Vacancies FTEs 7.12 16.19

Actual FTEs 192.2 196.11

GENDER

Male 114 118

Female 79 80

AGE

Average age of staff 45 45

PROMOTIONS AND INTERNAL SECONDMENTS

Promotion 7.3% 8.0%

Internal secondments 5.7% 12.1%

ETHNIC PROFILE*

New Zealand European 54.2% 51.3%

Other European 20.3% 19.6%

Maori 3.1% 3.5%

Pasifika 2.6% 2.0%

Asian 7.3% 6.5%

Other ethnicity 2.1% 17.1%

Undisclosed 10.4% 13.1%

DISABILITY PROFILE*

Our proportion of employees with a disability is 3%

STAFF TURNOVER

Staff turnover (voluntary) 13% 11.9%

The average age of Maritime NZ staff is 45, which is 
the same as the public service average age as at June 
2015. 40 percent of Maritime NZ staff are female. While 
lower than the 2015 public service percentage (60.5%) 
and the 2015 labour force (47%), it reflects the seafaring 
qualification requirement for a large number of Maritime 
NZ staff. 

These roles are sourced from a predominately male 
recruitment pool. The executive team has 38% female 
membership, which is slightly below the 2015 public 
service percentage of 44.2% and reflects the small size 
of the team. 

Maritime NZ’s candidate recruitment statistics and 
workforce reflect a wide range of nationalities

Maritime NZ undertook a Workplace Engagement 
Survey in June 2016 run by IBM. Maritime NZ’s overall 
staff engagement was 74 percent, which is significantly 
higher than the 2016 Public Sector benchmark of 68 
percent.  The 2016 engagement survey also showed a 
significantly higher level of staff confidence in the senior 
leadership of Maritime NZ (67.5 percent) compared to 
the Public Sector benchmark of 57.1 percent.

STAFF SURVEY

2016 MNZ 
STAFF 

SURVEY
2016 PUBLIC 

SECTOR

Overall Rating 74.0% 68.0%

Leadership rating 67.5% 57.1%

Training/Capability 62.6% 62.3%

Equal employment opportunity employer
Maritime NZ promotes equal employment opportunities 
to ensure that our human resources practices 
meet ‘good employer’ obligations. A review of our 
organisation’s People Capability Strategy has recently 
been completed, and reinforces the organisation’s focus 
on building a shared culture that lives our values. The 
Human Resources business plan is reviewed annually, 
and actively supports and encourages staff participation 
in all equal employment opportunities related matters.

Activities this year

Over the past 12 months, Maritime NZ has completed a 
number of activities. These are summarised in the seven 
key elements of being a ‘good employer’ below.
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ELEMENT OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR

Leadership, 
accountability  
and culture

• Work is underway in the Management and Leadership Development area, led by an internal Learning 
and Development Steering Group. The group’s work to date has included developing a set of eight 
Maritime NZ management and leadership “pillars for success”.

Recruitment, 
selection and 
induction

• Regular review and updating of recruitment policies and procedures.

• Utilisation of a variety of recruitment media, both national and international, to attract applicants.

• Delivery of four two-day comprehensive staff induction programmes, covering all key areas of 
Maritime NZ for new staff.

Employee 
development, 
promotion  
and exit

• Continued focus on staff development and on-going training opportunities for staff.

• Building a learning and development framework for the organisation providing clear alignment with 
Maritime NZ’s values, strategy and operational requirements.

• Promotion and secondment opportunities available to staff. Any promotion is based on merit.

Flexibility and  
work design

• Professional ergonomic workstation assessments undertaken for all new and existing staff, as required, 
and any recommendations implemented.

• Flexible work arrangements policy and procedure in place.

• Flexibility with work locations considered in line with job attributes and employee needs.

• Major regional offices linked with video conferencing facilities. 

Remuneration, 
recognition and 
conditions

• Job evaluations undertaken by an independent specialist provider for all new and amended roles.

• Annual external benchmarking of Maritime NZ’s remuneration structure is conducted by an independent 
specialist provider.

• Eight staff were recipients of 2016 Chief Executive Development Award, a recognition programme that 
aims to enhance the capability of Maritime NZ and its people by supporting personal development 
opportunities that are not part of standard training programmes.

Harassment 
and bullying 
prevention

• Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures in place and several trained internal anti-harassment 
support people.

• Up-to-date and accessible employee code of conduct.

Safe and healthy 
environment

• Implementation of WorkSafe online modules for internal and regulatory health and safety training.

• Strengthening reporting culture by increasing awareness of risks and encouraging reporting of near 
misses and accidents.

• Proactive Health, Safety and Wellness Committee that includes representation from each work group, 
the union, the Executive Team and the Chief Executive.

• Staff support available through an Employee Assistance Programme. A total of 85.75 hours of 
counselling was utilised.
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System performance

Maritime system outcomes –  
what we set out to achieve
New Zealand is highly dependent on safe, secure and 
efficient shipping, given that close to 99 percent of 
imports and exports (by volume) are transported by sea. 
Water-based activities are a key element of the tourism 
offering of this country, and having a strong safety 
record is essential for this key area of the economy. 
There are high social and financial costs of seafarer 
deaths and injuries, in both commercial and recreational 
contexts.

A clean maritime environment that is protected from 
pollution is also critical for New Zealand’s economic 
and social prosperity, and is fundamental to the long 
term viability of industries such as commercial fishing, 
outdoor and adventure tourism and recreational 
boating activities. Furthermore, New Zealand’s marine 
environment contains valuable energy and mineral 
resources, and the risks that commercial extraction and 
shipping bring must be carefully managed.

Maritime NZ’s ultimate goal is a maritime system in 
which everyone who goes out in or on a vessel returns 

home safely, where no security incidents impact on 
maritime activities and no adverse environmental 
impacts occur as a result of maritime activities. This is 
summarised in our vision for “a maritime community that 
works and plays safely and securely on clean waters”.

The performance of the overall maritime system 
depends on complex, dynamic interactions and factors 
that Maritime NZ has only limited control over. We 
recognise that while we can continue to drive and 
enable improvements in the maritime sector’s accident 
record, the inherent risks of many commercial and 
recreational activities are such that it is unrealistic to 
expect to eliminate all accidents.

It is necessary to recognise this reality in the targets and 
indicators used as markers of system performance, but 
keep our sights firmly set on better outcomes for the 
maritime system. New Zealanders expect Maritime NZ 
to lead the maritime sector to better understand and 
manage risks, and to minimise the impact of maritime 
harms on people, our environment and the economy. 
To this end, Maritime NZ has developed the following 
indicators and targets to monitor the safety, security 
and cleanliness of our maritime system, aligned with the 
Government’s key areas of focus for transport.

DESIRED MARITIME SYSTEM OUTCOMES DESIRED TREND INDICATOR TARGET

SAFE Our maritime transport 
system supports, encourages 
and requires strong safety, 
security and environmentally 
responsible standards and 
behaviours

The average annual 
rate of maritime 
fatalities and serious 
injuries consistently 
trends downwards 
over time.

Annual rate of maritime 
fatalities and serious 
harm17 injuries for each 
sector18 per 100,000 
NZ population.

Reduce maritime 
sector fatalities 
and serious harm 
injuries by  
25 percent  
by 2021.

SECURE Our maritime system 
protects people and goods 
from unlawful actions as they 
move across domestic and 
international waters

The New Zealand 
maritime system 
is recognised as 
secure by key trading 
partners.

Annual number of 
security incidents 
reported in 
New Zealand waters.19 

No security 
incidents20 are 
reported in 
New Zealand 
waters. 

CLEAN Our marine environment 
is clean and protected

The number of 
pollution incidents 
impacting on our 
marine environment 
reduces over time.

Annual number  
of oil spill incidents 
reported in 
New Zealand waters.21

Reduce oil spill 
incidents by  
15 percent  
by 2021.

17 The term serious harm has been redefined under the 2015 HSW Act to refer to notifiable injury or illness (appendix 5) provides a 
full definition of this.

18 Note that ‘sector’ refers to maritime sectors that Maritime NZ regulates and the three geographical domains (i.e. New Zealand, 
Pacific and Antarctica) where Maritime NZ has search and rescue search responsibility. Our sectors are: Foreign shipping, 
Coastal shipping, Domestic fishing, Domestic passenger/non-passenger, Domestic outdoor and adventure, Offshore, Ports and 
Harbours, and Recreational boating.

19 The security of New Zealand’s maritime system is challenging to monitor because security breaches are difficult to predict and 
actual failures only tend to be observable in retrospect. Maritime NZ has chosen one high-level ‘system’ lag indicator to provide 
a picture of past security performance (i.e. number of security incidents reported by ports and offshore industry bodies).

20 This target refers to incidents that meet the threshold of an incident as defined in the Maritime Security Act. Note that port and 
industry report minor security incidents (e.g. protests) annually to Maritime NZ but none of these have met the threshold of a 
security incident as defined in the Act.

21 The total number of reported oil spills does not provide an indication of the total volume of oil spilled (from reported events). 
Maritime NZ is considering revising this indicator in future.
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How well are we doing?

SAFE – OUR MARITIME SYSTEM SUPPORTS,  
ENCOURAGES AND REQUIRES STRONG SAFETY 
STANDARDS AND BEHAVIOURS

Maritime NZ bases its work on evidence and intelligence that is collected, collated and analysed so that we 
understand what is happening and why it is happening. With robust evidence and intelligence Maritime NZ is able 
to assess the safety, security and environmental risks that need to be addressed, and make effective decisions about 
which interventions are required.

Our information base covers all aspects of what we do, from data on incident and accident trends and behavioural 
drivers within the industry, through to the effectiveness of the regulatory, compliance and response initiatives that we 
have put in place.

Maritime NZ gathers its information through a variety of means, including notifications of commercial accidents, 
serious harm injuries and fatalities and recreational boating fatalities it receives in accordance with section 31 of the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994. However, while we are confident in the fatality information we collect, it is clear from 
ACC claims data that there is significant under-reporting of harm incidents to Maritime NZ. Maritime NZ will work with 
other relevant organisations to improve the accuracy of harm reporting over time. Further explanatory notes to assist 
in interpreting our harm statistics are provided on page 23. Overall, commercial fatalities are low and recreational 
fatalities have reduced by 50% over the last year.

Commercial sectors
The number of fatalities occurring within our commercial sectors is low in comparison with the recreational 
sector (Figure 1). However, given that the number of vessels and participation rates for the recreational sector are 
considerably higher, this is to be expected but not acceptable.

The rates of harm events reported to Maritime NZ appear to be reducing over time, however some sectors, such as 
the domestic fishing sector continue to experience a higher rate of fatalities and serious harm than other commercial 
sectors. Maritime NZ has a number of strategic initiatives underway aimed at increasing awareness of safety risks and 
reducing the levels of harm occurring across the commercial sectors. Most notably are MOSS and SeaCert. MOSS 
introduced in 2014, was developed to improve maritime operator safety by examining an operator’s entire operation 
to ensure any safety risks are identified and managed.

SeaCert, introduced on 1 April 2014, is the new maritime seafarer licensing framework for national certificates 
of competency and proficiency. At the core of the framework are specific rules that cover seafarer certification, 
medical standards, training and examination. MOSS and SeaCert are designed to significantly improve safety in 
New Zealand’s commercial maritime environment. Long term, this is intended to benefit local mariners and visiting 
international operators, and contribute to New Zealand’s strong international reputation as a safe and responsible 
host for maritime-related activity.

Recreational boating sector
Last year saw a nearly 50% drop in the recreational boating toll compared with 2014/15, from 32 down to 16. While 
this is still 16 deaths too many, it is a significant reduction that has been welcomed by Maritime NZ and the NZ Safer 
Boating Forum22 who have been working together for a number of years to deliver a nationally co-ordinated safer 
boating strategy. That strategy has seen the introduction of new national and local authority legislation around the 
carriage and wearing of lifejackets, the application of enforcement programmes and implementation of a range of 
safety education and awareness campaigns. Maritime NZ has led a series of national safety awareness campaigns 
over that time, with a particular focus on the wearing of lifejackets, a factor in up to two thirds of all boating fatalities. 
Television advertising has been at the heart of these campaigns, but increasingly the emphasis is being placed on  
the use of social media.

22 The New Zealand Safer Boating Forum (formerly the National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum) is a formal network representing 
a cross-section of national and regional government agencies, local body groups, organisations and the marine industry, 
involved in promoting recreational boating safety in New Zealand. The purpose of the Forum is to work together to develop 
and implement a common recreational boating safety strategy for New Zealand and to support agreed boating safety policy, 
communications, education, compliance and regulation. Maritime NZ leads the Forum and works with members to coordinate 
safe boating activities.
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Next year, Maritime NZ will continue to build safety awareness through the social media platform, while increasing  
its funding support for regional compliance programmes that generate greater face–to-face contact with the  
boating public.

Figure 1: Indicator: Annual rate of maritime fatalities each sector per 100,000 NZ population
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Table 2: Fatality numbers and rates (per 100,000 NZ population) by sector

SECTOR FOREIGN DOMESTIC 
COASTAL

PAX/NON-PAX OUTDOOR & 
ADVENTURE

DOMESTIC 
FISHING

OFFSHORE RECREATIONAL

COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE

2012/13 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 3 0.07 0 0.00 15 0.34

2013/14 2 0.04 0 0.00 2 0.04 0 0.00 3 0.07 0 0.00 22 0.49

2014/15 0 0.00 0 0.00 2 0.04 0 0.00 2 0.04 0 0.00 32 0.70

2015/16 2 0.04 0 0.00 0 0.00 2 0.04 3 0.06 0 0.00 16 0.34

2021 Target No fatalities No fatalities

<0.03 
fatalities (per 
100,000 NZ 
population) 

by 2021

No fatalities

<0.03 
fatalities (per 
100,000 NZ 
population) 

by 2021

No fatalities

<0.52 
fatalities (per 
100,000 NZ 
population) 

by 2021
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Figure 2 Indicator: Annual rate of maritime notifiable injuries, illnesses and incidents for each sector  
per 100,000 NZ population
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Table 3: Notifiable injuries, illnesses and incident rates (per 100,000 NZ population) by sector

SECTOR FOREIGN DOMESTIC 
COASTAL

PAX/NON-PAX OUTDOOR & 
ADVENTURE

DOMESTIC 
FISHING

OFFSHORE RECREATIONAL

COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE COUNT RATE

2012/13 28 0.63 4 0.09 22 0.50 0 0.00 39 0.88 0 0.00 17 0.38

2013/14 2 0.04 3 0.07 9 0.20 6 0.13 29 0.64 1 0.02 9 0.20

2014/15 8 0.17 4 0.09 8 0.17 4 0.09 13 0.28 0 0.00 24 0.52

2015/16 9 0.19 4 0.09 8 0.17 5 0.10 13 0.28 0 0.00  11 0.24

Explanatory note: The information shown above represents fatalities and serious harm (ie notifiable injuries, illnesses 
and incidents) events reported to Maritime NZ over the past four financial years. In presenting this information, it 
should be noted that comparisons between Maritime NZ data and other sources of harm data (for example, ACC 
claims) indicate that the actual number of harm events are much higher. Maritime NZ is working with other safety 
agencies and with industry to improve the gathering, analysis and dissemination of accident and incident information. 
On this basis, specific serious harm reduction targets to 2021 have not been set.

Maritime fatalities and notifiable injuries, illnesses and incidents rates are currently reported per 100,000 NZ 
population to enable comparisons between our sectors. Changes are being made to our data collection processes to 
enable rates to be reported per the population working in each sector. 

The tables above present harm statistics for seven of our eight sectors. Figures are not reported for the Port and 
Harbour sector as they are a subset of the fatalities and notifiable injuries, illnesses and incidents reported for other 
sectors which took place in a Port or Harbour setting. Refer to Appendix five for further information.

Harm figures reported in this report differ from the format used in Maritime NZ’s previous quarterly reports. (Quarterly 
reports present raw number of fatalities and notifiable injuries, illnesses and incidents for four groups – SOLAS, SSM, 
Commercial Tourism and Commercial <6m) and more recently, reported raw numbers of commercial accidents, 
commercial serious harm injuries, commercial fatalities and recreational fatalities. From July 2016, our quarterly 
reports will more closely align with the format used in this report – ensuring that figures align with our sectors as 
stated in our Statement of Intent 2015–2021.
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SECURE – OUR MARITIME SYSTEM PROTECTS PEOPLE AND 
GOODS FROM UNLAWFUL ACTIONS AS THEY MOVE ACROSS 
DOMESTIC AND INTERNATIONAL WATERS

Close to 99 percent of New Zealand’s imports and exports (by volume) are transported by sea, so it is important that 
the international transport system operates without disruption. The Maritime Security Act (MSA) requires all vessels 
that visit New Zealand ports and harbours to comply with the International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) 
Code. While security breaches are difficult to predict, Maritime NZ monitors a high-level system indicator.

Indicator: Security incidents reported by ports and offshore 
industry bodies annually in New Zealand waters
Only minor incidents have been reported to Maritime NZ, and of these one23 met the 
threshold for reporting under the MSA. No major security incidents have been reported 
in the offshore sector. The US Coast Guard currently rates New Zealand’s port security 
compliance as very good; given this high assessment future compliance visits by the US 
Coast Guard will likely occur every two or more years, rather than annually.

CLEAN – OUR ENVIRONMENT IS CLEAN AND PROTECTED

Activities such as shipping and offshore oil and gas development bring important economic benefits to New Zealand, 
but they also create environmental protection issues. These have historically had a significant focus on the prevention 
and response to oil spills although, following the Rena incident, the wider pollution impacts from maritime activity 
have come more to the fore. Maritime NZ’s goal is to minimise compliance costs for industry, while safeguarding lives, 
the marine environment and property.

Indicator: Annual number of oil spill incidents reported in 
New Zealand waters
Maritime NZ monitors the number of oil spills reported directly or via regional councils. 
During the 2015/16 financial year, a total of 98 oil spills across New Zealand (Tier 1  
and 2) were reported. This is a small increase on the previous year but as in previous  
years all these spills were of very small quantities – often a few fractions of a litre. This 
reflects the rigour of the reporting requirements. Only one spill (from a refuelling facility 
at Port Tauranga) was significant in terms of its environmental effects. This has been 
extensively reviewed and appropriate remedial measures put in place.

Figure 3: Number of reported oil spill incidents within the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)
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23 The one incident involved the receipt of intelligence around a potential illegal exit from the country via a port. Proactive 
work ensured that ports were forewarned and that the potential security breach was prevented. This incident highlighted 
the importance and effectiveness of Maritime NZ’s connection with the all of government process, the significance of being 
‘intelligence led’ and the efficiency of the Port security regime.

2021 TARGET:
No security incidents  

in New Zealand waters

2015/16 RESULT:
1 incident

2021 TARGET:
<80 oil spills reported

2015/16 RESULT:
98 oil spills reported
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Delivering against our strategy

PROGRESS TOWARDS MARITIME NZ’S STRATEGIC GOALS
To drive performance towards the desired outcomes for the maritime system, Maritime NZ puts focus on four 
strategic goals that can be directly influenced by the organisation over the longer term. For each of these the 
intended impacts are specified, as shown below.

STRATEGIC GOALS INTENDED IMPACTS

Regulation 
that is relevant 

and robust

Specifically this means:

• International engagement ensures global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests

• Policy advice ensures maritime safety, security and marine environmental protection regulation is 
fit-for-purpose

• Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime safety, security and marine 
environmental protection interests

• Comprehensive domain assessments continually shape regulation and compliance practices.

Risk-focused, 
responsive 

compliance practices 
that reduce harm 
in the maritime 

system

• Compliance strategies and campaigns support, encourage and require commercial operators to 
take responsibility for the safety of their maritime operations

• Safety strategies and campaigns lead to improved safety attitudes and behaviours across the 
recreational boating community

• Compliance strategies and campaigns are based on monitoring and risk profiling to ensure the 
most appropriate interventions are chosen to address risks to safe, secure and clean waters

• Implementation of the seafarer certification framework provides for internationally acceptable 
seafarer qualifications.

Response 
capability that 

is well prepared 
and effectively 

deployed to 
resolve emergency 

incidents

• An efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination service within an integrated 
search and rescue system (jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and NZ Police) which takes full 
advantage of modern technology to save lives

• A fit-for-purpose maritime incident response system provides effective response and recovery for 
national maritime incidents, minimising social and economic harm

• A comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service minimises the environmental and 
economic impact of any oil spill

• An internationally linked, intelligence-led security system assures protection for all in 
New Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility.

A 
results-driven, 

resilient 
organisation, 

working 
collaboratively 

for success

• An integrated information base supports evidence-based, risk-focused decision making that is of 
consistent high quality

• A resilient, healthy, capable organisation has people who are valued and energised to deliver high 
quality regulatory, compliance and response services

• There is sustainable funding to deliver identified outcomes

• Collaboration with other agencies enables sharing of resources and builds capability that improves 
government services

• Business processes enable straight-forward, efficient transactions with Maritime NZ that enhance 
compliance.

Key achievements during 2015/16 in each of our four strategic goals and intended impacts are presented on  
the following pages. Strategic performance indicators were established in the Statement of Intent 2015–21 to 
measure progress.
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 STRATEGIC GOAL 1:  
REGULATION THAT IS RELEVANT AND ROBUST

Robust and relevant regulation contributes to the safety, security and cleanliness of the maritime system by 
establishing clear standards, that are internationally credible and based on rigorous development and supporting 
evidence. Our regulation must remain relevant to the New Zealand context and be capable of adapting to  
changes in the maritime environment and the behaviour of commercial and recreational participants. It must be 
geared to the degree of risk posed by different maritime activities and be operable in terms of transparency and 
ease of application.

RELEVANT  
MEANS:

• Fit-for-purpose, focused on the 
degree of potential risk

• Current, in step with economic, 
social and technological 
developments

• Acknowledges industry needs, 
readily understood and easy to 
apply, and supports behavioural 
change

ROBUST  
MEANS:

• Internationally credible with maritime 
agencies and governments

• Durable, but can adapt to changing 
needs

• Evidence-based, developed through 
rigorous processes
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Maritime NZ has identified four impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these 
impacts are outlined below:

Impact 1: International engagement ensures global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Improve International Engagement

• Review of the International Engagement Strategy

• Advising government on new conventions and obligations 
to which New Zealand is not party.

Desired result: International engagement ensures global 
regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests.

Indicator

• Prioritised contribution at international meetings and fora, 
where Maritime NZ can influence international outcomes to 
reflect New Zealand’s interests.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

Review of the International Engagement Strategy: An 
independent review of our international engagement strategy 
by Martin Jenkins was completed in November 2015. The 
Minister of Transport agreed to the release of the report in 
February 2016 and it has been shared with the sector and 
across government. The report has been used to develop a 
discussion document that was considered by the Ministry of 
Transport and Maritime NZ’s International Leadership Group in 
June 2016.

The Leadership Group has provided feedback to enable a 
refresh of the international engagement strategy. This is an 
item on the Strategic Work Programme for 2016/17, and will 
be jointly undertaken by Ministry of Transport and Maritime NZ.

Assessment of new convention obligations: A 
prioritisation matrix was developed to ensure a robust basis for 
determining which of the numerous, and sometimes onerous, 
new maritime conventions need to be considered, before 
New Zealand decides whether or not to accede. Maritime NZ 
provided support and advice to the Ministry of Transport 
(MOT) and MFAT on a number of IMO conventions to which 
New Zealand is not currently party but is working towards 
accession:

• Standards of Training Certification and Watchkeeping-
Fishing (STCW-F) and the Cape Town agreement to 
improve the safety and the qualifications of fishers and 
strengthen international support for these conventions.

• Ballast water management convention – to prevent 
proliferation of invasive species in New Zealand waters.

• A new treaty in relation to the International Association 
of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Association 
(IALA) becoming an international government organisation 
so that it is better placed to set mandatory requirements for 
navigational safety aids.

Effective international engagement remains a key focus to 
ensure that New Zealand interests are appropriately reflected 
in international standards and decision-making that impact 
on our overseas trade and domestic regulatory environment. 
Maritime NZ’s approach has been to engage with industry 
and work with a cross-agency group to carefully prioritise and 
co-ordinate the focus of New Zealand’s International Maritime 
Organisation (IMO) engagement to developments and issues 
that have the most impact on our maritime system and 
environment. 
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Impact 2: Policy advice ensures maritime safety, security and marine environmental protection regulation 
is fit-for-purpose

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Deliver Annual Regulatory Programme

• Delivery of an annual regulatory programme which 
includes:

• the development of an agreed annual rules 
programme

• policy investigations

• reviews of regulations that support the maritime 
system.

• Reviews of sector safety standards. 

Desired result: We provide advice on the regulatory framework 
and advance policy and regulatory advice to address gaps 
to ensure that regulation is, and remains, relevant and 
robust. Regulatory shortcomings are not found to be a major 
contributing factor in fatal/serious harm accidents.

Indicator

• The transport regulatory programme is appropriately 
prioritised to ensure regulation is fit-for-purpose.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR: ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

Delivery of annual regulatory programme for 2015/16 has 
been achieved, this year has included:

• Finalisation of a new rule part 131 for discharge and 
dumping, and provision of a final draft rule for part 132 on 
dispersants and demulsifiers.

• Finalisation of a new rule for ballast water management 
to allow New Zealand to become a party to the Ballast 
Water Management convention.

• Finalisation of a rule change to implement the Maritime 
Labour Convention.

• Provision of a draft rule to the Ministry of Transport, and 
consultation for the revocation of rule part 81 dealing with 
commercial river rafting.

• Signing of a rule change to meet SOLAS convention 
requirements (including those related to new container 
weight verification).

• Consultation on changes to SeaCert transition 
requirements.

The regulatory programme and quality criteria for all targets 
in this area have been met or exceeded. This is a good result 
considering the fact that significant additional pressure was 
placed on the programme because of the need to include an 
urgent amendment to the SeaCert Transition Timelines, as well 
as limited staff resourcing. 
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CASE STUDY: MARITIME NZ HELPS KEEP CARGO BALANCED
The need to safeguard New Zealand’s economic interests was a key driver for Maritime NZ when working with 
other countries and industry on a proposed new requirement by the International Maritime Organization for a 
change to SOLAS (Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea), requiring containers’ weights to be verified.

Maritime NZ consulted widely on a proposal by Australia, Denmark and the Netherlands to build more flexibility 
into the new requirement – so that shippers had the option to aggregate the weight of items to establish the 
Verified Gross Mass (VGM), and not have to weigh the whole container-load.

“We talked with industry and realised that big companies were already weighing product, so it would be more 
convenient and cost effective to have two options for assessing container weight,” says International Principal 
Adviser, Ian Lancaster. 

“We also suggested a three-month window of ‘practical and pragmatic application’ to give companies more time 
to test new software introduced to cope with the measures and to allow cargo loaded before the introduction on 
July 1, 2016, to complete its voyage.”

Shippers are now responsible under the Convention for providing a VGM on shipping documents – the ship’s 
master cannot allow containers to be loaded without this information. The Convention has more than 160 
signatory countries covering 98 percent of the world’s shipping tonnage.

The new requirement was introduced, after years of campaigning, as mis-declared container weights make it 
difficult to plan the safe stowage of cargo on a ship; which can result in container stacks collapsing, the ship’s 
structure being overstressed, or the ship itself becoming unstable.
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Impact 3: Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime safety, security and marine 
environmental protection interests

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Contribute to Government Regulatory Reform 

Contribution to government reviews and developments 
(2015–2021) including:

• Customs Act Review

• Fire Service Act Review 

• Ministry of Transport (MoT) review of alcohol and drug use 
in transport industries. 

• Consideration of changes to the Oil Pollution Levy. 

• MoT and Ministry of Business, Innovation and 
Employment (MBIE) consideration of options for financial 
security requirements in the offshore oil and gas industry.

Desired result: Maritime NZ is consulted by key players on 
relevant policy and programmes. Maritime NZ’s contribution 
influences the outcome where appropriate.

Indicator

• Maritime NZ’s engagement and policy advice improves 
external stakeholders’ understanding of safety, security and 
environmental protection interests.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

Maritime NZ has continued to engage across government 
and with other external stakeholders to contribute to key 
government reviews and developments, most notably: 

• Ministry of Transport (MoT) review of alcohol and drugs 
use in transport.

• Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet’s development 
of a national risk register.

• MOT Cabinet paper and Regulatory Impact Statement on 
changes to the Oil Pollution Levy.

• MoT and Ministry of Business, Innovation and 
Employment (MBIE) discussion paper on options for 
financial security requirements in the offshore oil and gas 
industry.

• Review and introduction of the Border Clearance Levy (led 
by Customs and Ministry for Primary Industries). 

• The legislative review and introduction of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act.

• Input to Public Prosecutions Board to support robust 
system oversight by the Solicitor General. 

• The development and implementation of the Government 
Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg).

Maritime NZ continues to engage across government and 
with other external stakeholders to improve understanding of 
maritime safety, security and environmental protection. Our 
input has been proactively sought by relevant government 
departments to ensure a link to wider government policy and 
programmes.



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 31

CASE STUDY: LARGE TURNOUT TO SEACERT ROADSHOW
Hundreds of seafarers attended public meetings around the country to hear about proposals for changes to 
SeaCert certification rules. The huge turnout and positive feedback highlighted that the roadshows were a very 
successful way of bringing the proposed changes to the attention of seafarers.

Meetings were held in nine port cities, from Whangarei to Invercargill during May and June, with a Maritime NZ 
team on hand to answer questions from individuals about the proposed changes, and SeaCert in general.

Around 350 submissions were received on the proposals by the time consultation closed on June 7, 2016.

The changes will allow holders of older domestic certificates to continue working without transitioning to the new 
SeaCert framework. Director Keith Manch says there was an excellent response from seafarers – both to the 
roadshows and in making submissions that raised a range of issues. 

“The submissions were analysed with a view to finding solutions which maintained the integrity of the 
certification system, but which also met the needs of those working in the industry,” he says.

SeaCert changes will take effect from 30 September 2016.
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Impact 4: Comprehensive domain assessments continually shape regulation and compliance practices

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Develop Evaluation Framework

• Utilise relevant research and data collection opportunities 
and skills on offer in the wider transport sector.

Undertake Reviews of the Maritime System

• Coastal Navigation Safety Review

• Review and refresh the implementation of the Port and 
Harbour Marine Safety Code

• Development of Sector Reports.

Desired result: Domain assessments continually shape 
regulation and compliance practices.

Indicator

• Domain assessments inform decision-making.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

The development of a Maritime NZ Evaluation 
Framework has been deferred to the 2016/17 financial year 
due to resourcing constraints. Evaluation frameworks for 
MOSS and SeaCert have been progressed over the year and 
these will feed into Maritime NZ’s overall framework.

Coastal Navigation Safety Review:  
The Review was completed in February 2016 and was well 
supported by expert input from a range of stakeholders 
including 120 ships’ masters, harbourmasters, pilots and 
other water users. The review was prompted by the need 
to determine if the existing framework for managing ship 
movements around New Zealand’s coast was effective in 
managing risks or needed adjustment – given the increase 
in ship visits to New Zealand, a trend toward larger ships, 
and technology changes in navigational aids. The review 
identified the Hauraki Gulf and Colville Channel, and Cook 
Strait as areas where particular navigational safety risks exist 
but found the current framework is capable of managing 
these. Over the coming year, Maritime NZ will work with 
harbourmasters, pilots, ferry operators, and the coastal 
shipping industry to improve the way operators use various 
aids to navigation, including virtual aids, which use electronic 
systems (rather than physical marks or beacons) – to 
alert ships to navigation hazards through their Automatic 
Identification Systems (AIS).

New Zealand Port and Harbour Marine  
Safety Code:  
The revision of the Code was completed and promulgated 
in 2016 as a tripartite sector partnership arrangement. A 
new governance and management structure has been 
established to support implementation of the Code.

Eight maritime Sector Reports were completed by end of 
January 2016 covering the following sectors:

• Foreign shipping

• Domestic coastal shipping

• Commercial fishing

• Passenger and non-passenger,

• Outdoor and Adventure

• Offshore (mining and exploration)

• Ports and Harbours and

• Recreational boating

The reports provide a resource for all areas of Maritime NZ 
about conditions, trends, issues and opportunities in the 
sectors they work with. The next step is to develop risk profiles 
for each of these sectors. 
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 STRATEGIC GOAL 2:  
RISK-FOCUSED, RESPONSIVE COMPLIANCE PRACTICES  
THAT REDUCE HARM IN THE MARITIME SYSTEM

Risk-focused, responsive compliance practices contribute to the safety, security and cleanliness of the maritime 
system, by enabling us to recognise the diversity of the sectors we regulate; and suitably target our resources and 
activities to focus on preventing harm and address varying risks between different sectors and operators. In practice 
this means we adopt a problem-solving approach, based on increasingly detailed understandings of the factors that 
shape the operations and behaviours of those we regulate. We also apply a range of interventions, selecting the 
strategies and tools that increase the likelihood of compliance by different sectors, groups and individuals.

Our effectiveness also depends on being seen as a professional, credible agency that is fair and appropriate. It is 
important that we design and implement consistent and reliable compliance processes that are informed by an 
understanding of circumstances of the maritime sector, and do not impose undue complexity or cost on the sector.

RISK-FOCUSED 
MEANS:

• Targeted and proportionate to 
sector/operator risks

• Exercising sound judgment in 
applying the right regulatory tools 
at the right time

• Putting emphasis on prevention 
of harm

RESPONSIVE 
MEANS:

• Based on a problem-solving 
approach

• Acknowledging industry business 
drivers, but not dictated by them

• Consistent and reliable 
engagement, without unnecessary 
transaction costs
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Maritime NZ has identified four impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these 
impacts are outlined below:

Impact 1: Compliance strategies and campaigns support, encourage and require commercial operators to 
take responsibility for the safety of their maritime operations

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Implement Health and Safety at Work reforms

Implement and demonstrate the value of the new Health and 
Safety at Work (HSW) Act by working with the lead agency 
(Worksafe NZ) to coordinate implementation activities. These 
will limit dual compliance requirements and ensure that the 
new HSW regulations are easy for operators to use and 
comply with.

Implement Maritime Operator Safety System

Implement and demonstrate the value of the Maritime 
Operator Safety System by:

• supporting relevant sectors to transition from Safe Ship 
Management into MOSS

• building operators’ safety knowledge ‘up front’ and their 
understanding of MOSS

• building frontline maritime technical capability.

Desired result: Operators demonstrate a good 
understanding of appropriate safety systems and their 
accountabilities; and through good practice, there is a 
reduction in the need for direct intervention by Maritime NZ, 
and a reducing risk profile across sectors subject to MOSS 
and the new Health and Safety requirements.

Indicator:

• A reducing risk profile within sectors subject to MOSS over 
time.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR
ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT:  
ACTIVE ENGAGEMENT ONGOING

Health and Safety at Work implementation: 
The new health and safety legislation came into force on 
4th April 2016, expanding Maritime NZ’s health and safety 
responsibilities for the maritime sector. Over the last year, 
Maritime NZ worked closely with MBIE and WorkSafe to 
prepare for and administer these reforms. This resulted in 
Maritime NZ successfully securing additional funding for HSW 
purposes, policy development to support legislation and 
regulations, issuing generic and tailored guidance material 
on health and safety obligations to maritime operators 
and the industry, and delivery of organisational-wide HSW 
training – including tailored training for the Executive, Legal, 
Compliance teams and technical staff. All frontline staff are 
now warranted as Health and Safety Inspectors and have 
been accompanying WorkSafe Inspectors on visits to ensure 
consistency in both groups’ working practices. 

Guidance material about the new Health and Safety at 
Work Act 2015 (HSW) has been developed and provided to 
maritime operators and the sector. The relationship between 
the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 (HSW) and the 
Maritime Transport Act and Rules is not straightforward. 
Compliance with MOSS goes a long way toward compliance 
with HSW (and in some cases may exceed what might be 
expected under HSW). However, some HSW duties extend 
beyond complying with MOSS and some duties in HSW are 
new.

Our guidance aligns with WorkSafe NZ messaging, but is 
tailored for a maritime audience. It focusses on how HSW 
requirements fit with existing safety systems (including 
MOSS), and where operators need to pay extra attention. 
A ‘user group’ drawn from different parts of the maritime 
sector provided valuable feedback during development. They 
emphasised the need for scenarios or case studies illustrating 
how the HSW duties apply in different maritime operations. 
These have proved popular, and overall the guidance has 
been very well received. Going forward, our guidance will 
support conversations between Maritime Officers and 
operators. Health and safety assessments will be carried out 
in association with MOSS audits.



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 35

PROGRESS THIS YEAR
ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: ON TRACK TO 
HAVE ALL OPERATORS IN MOSS BY JUNE 2018

MOSS Implementation: The new Maritime Operator 
Safety System (MOSS) for New Zealand’s 1,696 operators – 
covering 2,824 smaller commercial vessels – was introduced 
in July 2014, replacing the former Safe Ship Management 
(SSM) system. MOSS marks the most significant change to 
New Zealand’s regulatory regime for domestic commercial 
shipping for 15 years.

As at 30 June 2016, 911 operators (5424 percent of 
expected operators) have submitted applications for 
Maritime Transport Operator Certificates (MTOCs), 
representing 68 percent of the vessels expected to enter 
MOSS by June 2018. 207 Deemed MTOC audits have been 
completed for operators with SSM certificates that were valid 
at the changeover date. These numbers are broadly on track 
with expectations for throughput second year of the transition.

Over the year Maritime NZ has built front line capability 
through training in the core compliance skills required. All 
front-line Maritime NZ personnel have also been warranted 
as Health and Safety Inspectors and can carry out HSW 
assessments and inspections in 2016/17. Specific scenario-
based training was delivered to front-line staff on ‘the role of 
the regulator’, allowing them to better understand the context 
within which they undertake compliance activities.

MOSS processes have continued to be refined, and new 
processes and guidance for implementation of the new health 
and safety legislation have been developed. Considerable 
face-to-face engagement between Maritime Officers and 
vessel operators has also continued, supporting operators 
to understand their safety accountabilities, and improving 
industry’s engagement with Maritime NZ generally. 

Risk profiling of sectors subject to MOSS. The initial 
risk profile of an individual operation is assessed as MOSS 
applications are processed by Maritime NZ staff. The 
overall risk profile score is used to calculate the timing 
for the operation to undergo its first audit under MOSS 
(within a 2 year time frame) and subsequent audits (over a 
4 year timeframe depending on the risk rating). The table 
below presents the average risk rating for operators who 
submitted applications for MOSS up until 16th June 2016. 
This information provides an indicative risk baseline but will 
change over time as the remaining operators expected to 
enter MOSS submit their applications and undergo an initial 
risk assessment. Note that by December 2016 25% of MOSS 
operators will have had their initial MOSS audit completed 
and their risk profile reassessed. Over time, MOSS audits will 
provide Maritime NZ with more accurate risk data to determine 
how the risk profile of sectors subject to MOSS operators is 
evolving.

Average Domain Risk Rating for MOSS Sectors
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Impact 2: Safety strategies and campaigns lead to improved safety attitudes and behaviours across the 
recreational boating community

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Implement Recreational Boating Initiatives

• Delivery of annual safer recreational boating 
advertising and educational campaigns

• Leadership of the New Zealand Safer Boating 
Forum and the delivery of Safer Boating Strategic 
Work Plan 2015–2017.

Desired result: Recreational boaties are more knowledgeable about 
safety and demonstrate safer behaviour.

Indicators

• Safety equipment is increasingly carried and used appropriately by 
recreational boaties over time.

• Increasing proportion of survey respondents who report positive 
changes in behaviour as a result of exposure to safety messages.

24 Forty-four % of these operators have been issued their Maritime Transport Operator Certificates (MTOCs),  
representing 61% percent of the vessels expected to enter MOSS by June 2018.

* Note that ‘Sectors subject to MOSS’ are a subset of Maritime NZ’s operators working with wider sectors. MOSS sectors are 
‘Fishing, Passenger, Non Passenger and Sailing’.
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PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

Recreational Boating Initiatives: During the year, 
Maritime NZ and its partners on the NZ Safer Boating 
Forum continued to target the key risk factors leading 
to fatalities – failure to wear lifejackets, not carrying 
emergency communications equipment and not 
checking the weather forecast before heading out on 
the water – through a combination of safety awareness 
programmes and enforcement.

Maritime NZ’s safety awareness initiatives 
included coordination of a successful nationwide 
Safer Boating Week in October to launch the annual 
summer campaign, a Get it on or it’s no Good lifejacket 
television advertising campaign, the publication and 
dissemination of several key safety publications, 
support for community engagement programmes, 
promotion of lifejacket wearing on the Big Angry Fish 
television programme, and social media campaigns.

A key new element in the social media campaign was 
the creation of a world first ‘geofence’ encircling 
the entire country’s 15,000 km coastline. This enabled 
Maritime NZ to send safety messages by smartphone 
to anyone on board a vessel within the “fenced” 
zone who opens one of a number of designated web 
sites. This innovative new digital advertising tool won 
a Beacons award at the 2016 New Zealand media 
advertising awards and was a finalist in the international 
Cannes media awards.

Good progress was made implementing other 
elements of the NZ Safer Boating Forum’s national 
safety strategy, including a review as to the most 
effective application of Fuel Excise Duty (FED) funds 
provided to Maritime NZ by the government for the 
safer boating programme. While there was a very 
substantial and welcome drop during the year in 
the boating toll, the number of fatalities remains too 
high. Maritime NZ and the Forum therefore decided 
to change the FED funded programme mix to place 
greater emphasis on regional activities, in lieu of 
national television advertising. And although TV 
advertising has raised general awareness levels and 
contributed to higher rates of wearing lifejackets, the 
Forum considered it timely to leverage that heightened 
awareness by focussing on more direct interaction with 
boaties at a local level.

Maritime Officers work closely with relevant groups (e.g. regional 
councils, Sea Cadets, boating organisations such as Rowing NZ, NZ 
Surf, Young Mariners and Sea Scouts) to provide advice and enhance 
safety knowledge amongst the recreational boating community.

Maritime NZ commissions a regular survey of recreational boat users 
(people aged 18 years+, key demographics and the degree to which 
they exhibit safety behaviours (i.e. carrying lifejackets; two means of 
communication, avoiding alcohol and checking the weather forecast).

Comparisons between 2016 and the 2013/2014 survey results show 
that self-reported use of safety equipment and safety behaviour of 
recreational boat users has slightly improved but there are variations 
amongst subgroups of users (see below).

USE OF SAFETY EQUIPMENT  
AND SAFETY BEHAVIOUR 2013/14 2016

Carrying life jackets on board

Always wear lifejacket on water  
(new question in 2016)

96%

–

–

63%

Carry two forms of communication on 
their vessel

51% 55%

Check weather forecast before going out 
on water 

64% 65%

Never consume alcohol before going out 
on water 

76% 80%

While 63% always wear a lifejacket on water, more kayakers 
(81%) do this compared to sailboat users (50%). Similarly overall  
55% carry two forms of communication on their vessel, 
but more sailboat users (88%) do this than kayakers (21%) 
These results need to be considered alongside the fact that 93% of 
recreational boat users agreed that boating safety was important/very 
important to them personally.

Extra questions were added to the 2016 survey to review the 
effectiveness of the “Get it on” campaign (which is designed to 
encourage boat users to wear life jackets). Campaign awareness was 
measured on an unprompted and prompted basis, with respondents 
initially asked to describe any television advertising they had seen 
recently about boating safety. Fifty nine percent of all recreational 
boat users recalled the campaign when prompted, with men 
having a higher recall than women (69% compared to 46%). Of those, 
49% agreed that the advertisement was personally relevant, and 
63% agreed the advertising had prompted them to take at least one 
positive action. Actions ranged from making sure that children wear 
lifejackets the whole time out on the water, that adults wear lifejackets 
the whole time, being more likely to wear a lifejacket themselves, 
buying new lifejackets or replacing old ones, or having a conversation 
with someone about wearing a lifejacket.

Maritime NZ is not running a national television advertising campaign 
in In 2016/2017. Instead, it will focus on digital advertising and social 
media, and fund a number of regional initiatives intended to have an 
impact at a local/regional level.
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CASE STUDY: INTRODUCING HSW TO THE SECTOR
A raft of guidance material was developed and 35 personnel trained and warranted as health and safety 
inspectors in preparation for the Health and Safety at Work Act (HSW) that came into force in April 2015.

Responsibility for regulating health and safety requirements on ships remains with Maritime NZ under HSW. 
Maritime officers – now trained as health and safety inspectors – worked closely with sector operators to help 
them understand the new requirements under the Act. HSW assessments are conducted at the same time as 
MOSS audits, with no additional costs to operators. 

Our Compliance Operating Model was revised to reflect the new language and broader focus of HSW.

A 70-page booklet, Health and Safety: A Guide for Mariners, was sent to all operators, along with a quick 
reference brochure. These documents and eight guidance sheets explain the different aspects of HSW and 
how to meet the new duties on due diligence, worker engagement, overlapping and upstream responsibilities, 
facilities, managing asbestos and surveying.

A range of scenarios was also developed to help operators understand what they need to consider for their 
particular business – be it a small fishing boat, a charter firm, or a ferry company. 

Director Keith Manch says “the maritime sector had a head-start compared to other industries in New Zealand 
as we had already developed the new operator safety system MOSS. Many of the requirements of the new Act 
reflect what has been part of the previous legislation and/or is required under MOSS”. 

He says “in the early stages of the Act coming into force we focussed on education. However, we expect 
operators to have plans in place to meet these new requirements”.

Some of the members of the Fast track group that trained as Health and Safety Inspectors, from left are: 
Maritime NZ Northern Assistant Regional Manager Damian Poi; Central Manager Compliance Pelin Davison; 
Specialist Investigator Andy McQueen; Assistant Regional Compliance Manager M-P Abbott; Investigator 
Ginni Murray; Director Keith Manch, Southern Assistant Regional Compliance Manager Dominic Venz; General 
Manager Compliance Harry Hawthorn; Maritime Officer Kelsey Walker; Manager Intelligence and Planning Paul 
Fantham; and former Southern Regional Compliance Manager Dave Billington.
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Impact 3: Compliance strategies and campaigns are based on monitoring and risk profiling to ensure the 
most appropriate interventions are chosen to address risks to safe, secure and clean waters

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Undertake Targeted Compliance Campaigns

• Focus operational compliance activities in key commercial 
sectors (ie. foreign shipping, NZISM, Fishing, etc) on fatal and 
serious harm accidents.

• Port State Control inspection programme for international 
vessels.

• Support frontline intelligence gathering by utilising relevant 
research and data collection opportunities and skills within the 
wider transport sector.

• Standard audit programme and environmental compliance 
activities.

Desired result: Maritime NZ designs and implements 
compliance strategies tailored to sectors and/or operations. 
More operators within a sector are aware of the compliance 
approach Maritime NZ is using and why this is necessary.

Indicators

• A reducing proportion of high risk vessels visiting 
New Zealand

• Proportion of survey respondents reported by sector 
who are aware of their own risk profile and of targeted 
compliance strategies.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: IMPROVED 
BALANCE OF DOMESTIC AND INTERNATIONAL 
COMPLIANCE ACTIVITIES 

Operational compliance activities: Guidelines for dealing with 
illegal operators in accordance with our Compliance Operating 
Model are being applied as part of business-as-usual process 
(e.g. proactively checking operators with certificates that have 
expired or are due to). Maritime NZ has also strengthened its 
intelligence sharing and working relationships with the Ministry for 
Primary Industries. This has assisted Maritime NZ in continuing 
to balance workload and also undertake two targeted exercises 
to identify Illegal Operators over the last year (focusing on unsafe 
surveyor practice and non-compliance with the Three Kings 
exclusion zone). Two operations targeting illegal operators are 
planned for 16/17.

Implementation of recommendations from the Port State 
Control (PSC) review: A significant increase in the percentage 
of Port State Control Inspections of Priority 1 ships visiting 
New Zealand has been achieved, with 155 out of 193 ships 
(80%) inspected, a rise from 49% (exceeding the annual PSC 
inspection rate of 70% of PI ships).The current approach to 
training has been reviewed and areas for refinement identified 
for trialing in the first half of the 2016/2017 year. This includes 
moving the training online where possible, and utilising coaching 
methods for building competency as opposed to relying upon 
manual and classroom-based learning. Maritime NZ staff have 
also supported capacity development throughout the Asia-Pacific 
Region, providing training and support to a number of states. 
This effort is provided in order to reduce the overall risk of ships 
operating in the Region, which in turn reduces the risk profile of 
ships visiting New Zealand.

Reflagging of Foreign Chartered Fishing Vessels (FCFV): 
This project has been successfully concluded, with all25 either 
becoming New Zealand-flagged and meeting the safety 
requirements set by MOSS and New Zealand health and safety 
legislation or no longer operating in New Zealand waters.

There has been a considerable lift in Port State Control 
inspection work by the end of the reporting period, 
supported by training of additional Maritime Officers.  
This has resulted in 80% of higher risk vessels (ie those 
identified as priority one) being inspected, which is a 
positive result, particularly coming from last year’s end  
of year result of 49%.

Over the last year Maritime NZ revised its annual 
stakeholder survey, tailoring it to different sectors. The 
overall intent is to obtain sector specific feedback about 
Maritime NZ’s service quality and the effectiveness of 
regulatory frameworks. The new survey questionnaire will 
also include sector-specific questions to elicit information 
for sector engagement, business planning, reporting and 
evaluation purposes, which will examine respondents 
‘awareness’ of their risk profiles and targeted compliance 
strategies. The Ports and Harbour sector was the first to be 
surveyed, other sectors will be surveyed in the coming year. 

25 Eighteen FCFVs were required to reflag in New Zealand by 1 May 2016 under the new legislation (13 permanently based in 
New Zealand and five seasonally fishing our waters). Ten foreign flag fishing vessels went on to successfully reflag by the  
May 1 deadline. Maintaining this deadline was key to rewarding first movers and ensuring New Zealand holds these operators 
accountable for compliance with applicable New Zealand law, including the new health and safety reforms.
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INNOVATIVE NEW DIGITAL ADVERTISING CAMPAIGN:  
THE WORLD’S FIRST ‘GEOFENCE’
A new award winning online mobile campaign has been targeting boaties out on the water with a timely reminder 
to wear their lifejacket. Maritime NZ partnered with Google last summer to create “virtual coastwatch”, which 
delivered adverts directly to boaties. 

It was the first time in the world that a geofence had been created that encircled an entire country – in this case 
15,000 km of coastline. A geofence is a zone of coordinates that any smartphone’s GPS can read. Maritime NZ’s 
stretches from boat ramps out to 15km from shore, ensuring it triggers a life-saving prompt when anyone out on 
the water passes through it, as long as they had one of more than 25 networks open on their phone.

The initiative went onto win Maritime NZ and FCB Media the 2016 Best Use of Mobile and Best in Show at 
the Communications Agency Association of NZ awards. It also became a finalist, against 41,500 entries, when 
entered into the prestigious Cannes Lions awards in France.

Boaties in the geofence zone who happened to open Facebook, Instagram, the Google Display Network, 
MetService Marine app or more than 24 other advert networks were sent an advert warning them to put on their 
lifejacket: “We know you’re bobbing out on the blue. But are you in your lifejacket?” 

The boating fatality rate for the 2015/16 summer when the campaign ran was four – down from 20 – compared 
to the summer before. While that drop can’t be attributed to the campaign directly, the message was clearly 
getting through. 

The number of boaties clicking through to the Maritime NZ website also went up more than 600 percent, and the 
Metservice Marine app also delivered 236,000 lifejacket safety prompts to users each month. This free app has 
now been downloaded more than 100,000 times.

“Virtual coastwatch” is a Maritime NZ initiative supported by our safety partners Coastguard NZ and the Safer 
Boating Forum. See the video here https://vimeo.com/175756890
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Impact 4: Implementation of the seafarer certification framework provides for internationally acceptable 
seafarer qualifications

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015-2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Implement Seafarer Certification Framework

• Efficient processing of applications for seafarer certificates

• Development and implementation of a transition plan 
and a framework to manage seafarer transitions within 
specified timeframes. 

Desired result: An increasing number of New Zealand 
seafarers have qualifications consistent with Maritime NZ’s 
seafarer certification framework.

Indicators

• Development of a transition plan and a framework to 
manage seafarer transition within specified timeframes.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: TRANSITION 
PLAN IMPLEMENTATION UNDERWAY 

Seafarer Certification Framework: Over the last year, 
Maritime NZ has successfully implemented the new 
framework.

Business-as-usual processing of applications for seafarer 
certificates has progressed smoothly. A continuous 
improvement focus led to procedural changes and has 
reduced processing times (which will be monitored and 
reported from 2016/17 onwards). Seafarers choosing to 
upgrade their certificates report that the new qualification 
framework is successful in recognising their knowledge and 
experience and providing a clearer career progression.

During the year, the need to transition to SeaCert 
qualifications was identified as a concern for seafarers holding 
national certificates and not needing or seeking to upgrade 
or change certificates, but wishing to continue to work in 
the same capacity as they have done for a number of years. 
Their view was that it was unreasonable to force seafarers to 
go through a solely administrative process, at their own cost, 
simply to maintain the status quo. 

Maritime NZ responded by reviewing the framework for 
these seafarers, to remove the requirement for the group 
of seafarers who held older domestic certificates and who 
indicated they wished to continue to operate in their currently 
capacity. Significant work was undertaken to support this 
change, including policy analysis, proposed legislative 
amendments and wide sector consultation. More than 440 
seafarers attended nine public meetings held around the 
country and feedback received through consultation was 
very supportive of the proposed changes. Final decisions 
on proposals to recommend to the Minister were made 
by Maritime NZ on 4 July and the amendments were 
subsequently approved by the Minister. The changes take 
effect from 30th September 2016.

The transition plan (referred to internally as the Tipuna 
Programme) allows Maritime NZ to plan for and efficiently 
manage large volumes of seafarers who choose to either ring-
fence their current old/legacy domestic certificates or to enter 
the SeaCert system. Seafarers will be able register their intent 
to ring-fence or enter SeaCert between late September 2016 
and 31 August 2017.
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 STRATEGIC GOAL 3:  
RESPONSE CAPABILITY THAT IS WELL PREPARED, INTEGRATED  
AND EFFECTIVELY DEPLOYED TO RESOLVE EMERGENCY INCIDENTS

Well prepared, integrated and deployed response capability contributes to the safety, security and cleanliness of 
the maritime system by enabling search and rescue coordination personnel to find and rescue people who are lost 
or in imminent danger through their sea, air, or land activities. It also enables Maritime NZ to respond to maritime 
incidents and emergencies, including oil spills. 

It is essential to be well prepared by providing the public with safety information through communications and 
navigational aids; by maintaining response resources and fit-for-purpose equipment; by ensuring staff are 
appropriately trained; and by making sure Maritime NZ has clear agreements and procedures in place to guide 
and coordinate its work during a response – both internally, and with key partners in central and local government, 
non-government and internationally.

WELL 
PREPARED 

MEANS:

• Resources are in readiness in a 
timely way

• Comprehensive, multi-layered 
capability that can be deployed 
flexibly

INTEGRATED 
MEANS:

• Coordinated between the 
different Maritime NZ functions 
and across central and local 
government agencies, non-
government and international 
partners

• Contributing as appropriate 
to risk-reduction, readiness, 
response and recovery (4Rs)

Maritime NZ has identified four impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these 
impacts are outlined below. Assessment of impact under this strategic goal is measured against Maritime NZ’s 
Response Capability Matrix which is provided as Appendix 6.
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Impact 1: An efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination service within an integrated 
search and rescue system (jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and NZ Police) which takes full advantage of 
modern technology to save lives

SOI PROGRAMME OF WORK 2015–2021 HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Procurement and commissioning of MEOSAR

• Procurement and commissioning the replacement Medium-
altitude Earth Orbit Search and Rescue (MEOSAR) satellite 
system.

• Ongoing liaison, exercises and joint training throughout the 
New Zealand search and rescue region.

Desired result: The coordination of search and rescue 
incidents within New Zealand’s search and rescue region 
continually improves. The search and rescue system continues 
to take advantage of technology improvements.

Indicator: The Search and Rescue element of 
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is reported as 
amber or better with any remedial action plans in place.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

The MEOSAR project has been highly successful. 
Construction of MEOSAR ground-receiving antenna has been 
completed in New Zealand and is now in its formal test phase. 
The system is already contributing data to enhance our SAR 
operations. The complementary Australian element of the 
overall system is almost complete. Technical commissioning 
should be completed before the end of 2016. Within the 
overall project New Zealand is also replacing a complementary 
system (known as GEOSAR); this work is also on track and 
under budget.

The Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand continued to 
deliver high quality Search and Rescue (SAR) coordination 
services with no major issues this year. As at 30 June 2016, 
almost 58,000 active emergency distress beacons were 
registered in RCCNZ’s beacon database. There were 11,093 
new registrations during the year, representing a 19% increase 
on the previous year. In the same period 2,945 beacons were 
deregistered – amounting to real growth in the database of 
over 8,000 active beacons. New registrations were comprised 
almost entirely of personal locator beacons (69%) and EPIRBs 
(used on vessels) (29.5%). Over the year, RCCNZ coordinated 
or supported responses to 924 incidents26.

Ongoing liaison, exercises and joint training Much 
positive progress this year with New Zealand assuming the 
Chair role for the Pacifica SAR Steering Group. A significant 
level of work is occurring across pacific islands within our 
SRR to build capability and deliver prevention messages 
and support, including an MoU between Fiji and NZ. RCC 
worked closely with NZ Police, Coastguard and LandSAR 
to deliver joint training exercises (Whakautu II and a Mass 
rescue Operation in Rauora) and enhance strong working 
relationships. 

New Zealand’s SAR systems and coordination of SAR 
incidents are continually improving. The MEOSAR project is 
operational and working-enhancing the speed of New Zealand 
SAR services.

AMBER STATUS for the Search and Rescue element of 
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix. Despite a very 
successful and efficient year SAR capability is still rated as 
Amber overall due to the challenges of responding to very 
large-scale, severe consequence events (e.g. maritime 
incidents with very large numbers of people in distress). Such 
events are extremely rare but are very challenging for nations 
to respond to; accordingly the capability matrix sets a very 
high bar for an overall green assessment. Significant All-of-
Government effort has been focused on developing improved 
plans and coordination capabilities for such events and strong 
progress is being made with Maritime NZ leading key elements 
of this work.

26 •     644 of these were initiated by an alert from a distress beacon, up 12% from last year (574).

• 873 were category II search and rescue incidents coordinated by RCCNZ – those associated with emergency location 
transmitters, missing or distressed aircraft or vessels. 194 of these resulted in a SAROP with search and rescue assets 
tasked, and 156 resulted in a rescue of some type

• 33 were category I searches where RCCNZ provided support for the New Zealand Police

• 18 other (non SAR) incidents, such as medical evacuations, or coordinating a breakdown tow.
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CASE STUDY: THE MEOSAR SYSTEM – PROVING ITS WORTH

The Maritime NZ $7.2M project to install the new MEOSAR system continues on track and under budget and is 
now almost complete. 

The distress beacons system is an international arrangement whereby distress beacon activations are detected 
by satellites. This signal is sent to a Local User Terminal (LUT) and the data transferred to a Rescue Coordination 
Centre (RCC) in NZ. The RCCNZ can then coordinate a rescue.

The Maritime NZ project involved the completion of a brand new LUT midway between Taupo and Rotorua. 
The MEOSAR system uses newer Mid Earth Orbiting satellites which provide greater accuracy and speed of 
detection than the older systems. NZ will phase out the Low Earth Orbiting (LEO) satellite system towards the 
end of 2017.

New Zealand’s new MEO system is complemented by a similar LUT site in Western Australia. This joint 
Australasian system will provide significant coverage of the wider Pacific, Antarctic and Indian Oceans and land 
masses. Although technically only still in ‘test phase’, the system has been detecting live data since the first 
quarter of 2016, which has assisted in many search and rescue operations. 

The MEO data is generally proving to provide alerts earlier than the older system. An hour’s head start can 
be crucial in search and rescue when dealing with failing daylight or the need for medical attention. With full 
acceptance testing taking place in August the system should be further refined and enhanced. 

Beacon ownership, and use, continues to rise in New Zealand with more than 65,000 beacons currently 
registered in the database. Distress beacons assist in taking the search out of search and rescue and allow 
authorities to locate the lost, missing or injured faster.
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Impact 2: A fit-for-purpose maritime incident response system provides effective response and recovery 
for national maritime incidents, minimising social and economic harm

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Implement Integrated Incident Response Strategy

• Implementation of the Maritime Emergency Response 
Programme (MERP)

• Development of non-oil response capability requirements to 
manage any future maritime transport emergencies

• All of Government relationship management 

Desired result: New Zealand is well prepared for any 
maritime incident through having capable and coordinated 
resources and can quickly access and deploy these as 
required – including those provided by external partners.

Indicator: The Maritime Incident Response Team element 
of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is reported as 
Amber or better with any remedial action plans in place.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET

Maritime Emergency Response Programme Exercise 
Whakautu II was a major milestone in the implementation of 
this programme (and recommendations from the Rena review). 
The exercise confirmed that Maritime NZ and its partners 
across government and industry are better prepared to 
respond to a major maritime incident response. It also helped 
to identify areas of focus for the next period of capability 
building.

A significant amount of training was undertaken this year to 
improve incident response capability and as part of preparation 
for Exercise Whakautu II. This included media training for 
personnel in response leadership roles; table top exercises 
and workshops on a range of topics; Public Information 
Management, Cultural awareness training and a salvage 
oversight update, salvage Non-oil Response and one tailored 
for Incident Controllers

All-of-Government relationship management Maritime NZ 
is well connected to the National Security framework 
and continues to enhance its maritime security through 
engagement with the all-of-government process and 
intelligence agencies. Industry security capability is effective 
and efficient and we continue to undertake training and port 
security exercises with good effect.

Over the year, Maritime NZ engaged successfully with a wide 
range of agencies, WorkSafe, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and 
Trade, the New Zealand Fire Service, the Ministry of Primary 
Industries and Transport Accident Investigation Commission, 
New Zealand Customs and Ministry for Primary Industries 
and Auckland Transport. Engagement became regular and 
more intensive in the lead up to exercise Whakautu II. A series 
of MOUs have been developed and signed off and partner 
agencies were closely involved in the Exercise Whakautu II.

In the year a comprehensive bid for future funding was also 
prepared, submitted and supported by Government, with 
provision of funding for a further three years. This is extremely 
positive and will allow maritime NZ to continue to progress in 
building its overall maritime incident response capability.

AMBER STATUS for the Maritime Incident Response 
elements of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix. This 
assessment reflects the high bar set by the criteria in the 
matrix which recognises the challenges in preparing for and 
responding to major maritime incidents that are extremey rare 
but have potentially severe consequences. Progress this year 
has been strong and the organisation is now well placed to 
continue to build capability going forward.
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CASE STUDY: EXERCISE WHAKAUTU II

In May 2016, Maritime NZ successfully led Exercise Whakautu II, which tested New Zealand’s preparedness  
for a major maritime emergency.

The three-day, national exercise was the culmination of 15 months’ work involving more than one-third of 
Maritime NZ’s staff, and 278 participants from 57 agencies. It brought together central, regional and local 
government, along with Iwi, community organisations and businesses; all under Maritime NZ’s leadership.

Working first from Maritime NZ’s office in Wellington, then from the National Crisis Management Centre at the 
Beehive and a quickly set up Emergency Coordination Centre (ECC) in New Plymouth, the exercise played out 
the response to a collision between a tanker and a cargo ship off the Taranaki coast. It included multiple aspects 
of a coordinated response, including SAR, oil pollution, other environmental impacts, salvage, wildlife response, 
Iwi and community engagement, and the development of recovery plans.

Independent evaluation assessed the exercise as highly successful: “The exercise was executed in a thoroughly 
professional and highly skilled manner”. 

This is supported by extremely positive commentary from the international observers during the ECC hot debrief: 
“The exercise demonstrated that the effort and resources that have gone into development and training of the 
National Response Team in recent years since Rena have been well directed.”

Evaluators also say “Maritime NZ is to be congratulated for the breadth, depth and quality of the preparation that 
preceded the exercise. The material produced has set a new benchmark and provides valuable resources that 
could be used by other agencies in designing and implementing their exercises.”

Importantly, Exercise Whakautu II has benefited Maritime NZ and the other agencies involved. Whether they 
would be leading an emergency response or supporting a lead agency, it has helped make New Zealand safer.

This is an open source image (and was used on all Exercise Whakautu II documents). It 
shows a collision very like the one simulated in the Whakautu II Exercise.
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Impact 3: A comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service minimises the environmental 
and economic impact of any oil spill

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Maintain Oil Pollution Response Strategy

• Adoption of Capability Plan and subsequent implementation

• Marine Pollution Response Service Training (MPRS) System Review 
– Regional and National

• Contribute to Oil Spill capacity building

• Develop a sustainable National Response Team (NRT)

• Enhance Information Management System Response

Desired result: There is sufficient capacity for an 
industry-level response to an incident appropriate to 
the risk (Tier 1); Regional responders demonstrate 
increased competency (Tier 2). Maritime NZ is able 
to lead and manage a comprehensive, effective and 
efficient Tier 3 response to a major oil spill incident.

Indicator: The Marine Pollution Response 
Service element of Maritime NZ’s Response 
Capability Matrix is reported as amber with positive 
trend or better with any remedial action plans in place.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: 
INDICATOR MET

MPRS Capability plan: The plan was completed in December 2016 
and is being implemented in phases, reflecting available funding. 
Significant work has been made on enhancing the oil spill information 
management system; the aviation capability now provides air capability 
out to 50 nautical miles from NZ’s coastline and the National Response 
team is able to effectively operate within the Emergency Coordination 
Center environment. Activities being progressed include National 
Response Team training and the utilisation of the aerial capability 
(which has only recently been developed), and ICT improvements to 
enhance the capture and use of information during a response. Further 
implementation of the plan will occur in 2016/17 and subsequent 
years, funded by planned changes to the Oil Pollution Levy.

AMBER STATUS for the Marine Pollution Response 
Service element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability 
Matrix. Strong positive trend.

Impact 4: An internationally linked, intelligence-led security system assures protection for all in 
New Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Build Integrated Security Intelligence Capability

• Strengthened engagement with all-of-government intelligence 
community

• Enhance measurement of port security compliance activity

Desired result: Maritime NZ consistently receives 
and exchanges relevant security information that 
enables it to identify security risks associated with 
ports and vessels, recognise and address instances 
of security non-compliance.

Indicator: The Security element of Maritime NZ’s 
Response Capability Matrix is reported as amber or 
better with any remedial action plans in place.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR
ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT:  
INDICATOR EXCEEDED

Engagement with all-of-government intelligence community: 
Maritime NZ has continued to receive quality intelligence, which 
provides good situational awareness, pertinent to its security response 
role. All-of-government engagement within the National Security 
Framework was also enhanced due to security activities associated 
with Exercise Whakautu II.

Engagement with Ports and testing of security plans: 
New Zealand’s port security regime is effective and efficient. Fourteen 
maritime security exercises were successfully completed over the year, 
with positive levels of engagement from ports. The scenario complexity 
for exercises continues to improve, and ports are encouraging other 
industry and all-of-government players to increase their level of 
involvement. The United States Coast Guard regards NZ’s capability as 
‘capable one’, which reflects international best practice.

GREEN STATUS for the Security element of 
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix.
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 STRATEGIC GOAL 4:  
A RESULTS-DRIVEN AND RESILIENT ORGANISATION,  
WORKING COLLABORATIVELY FOR SUCCESS

The quality of Maritime NZ’s organisational capability contributes to the safety, security and cleanliness of the 
maritime system by enabling us to build and sustain the skills, structures and systems necessary to operate 
cohesively as a whole; and connect with government partners and sector stakeholders, nationally and 
internationally, to perform its core role as a regulatory, compliance and response agency. Maritime NZ’s capability 
requires development and management of information resources, financial assets, efficient integrated business 
systems and processes, and the commitment, leadership and competence of its people.

RESULTS-
DRIVEN  
MEANS:

• Drawing on a robust evidence 
base and collective organisational 
experience, for greater impact

• Working constructively with sector, 
government and international 
bodies to achieve shared 
outcomes

• Delivering value for money in all  
its processes

RESILIENT 
MEANS:

• A fully committed, supported, 
engaged workforce.

• Coordinated activity between  
the different Maritime NZ  
functions and across central  
and local government agencies, 
non-government and  
international partners

• Contributing as appropriate 
to risk-reduction, readiness, 
response and recovery (4Rs)
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Maritime NZ has identified five impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these 
impacts are outlined below:

Impact 1: An integrated information base that supports evidence-based risk-focused decision-making 
that is of consistent high quality 

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Integrate Information Management

• Implementation of an integrated IM/ICT Strategy

• Develop and deploy a comprehensive ICT security framework 
in alignment with government standards

• Develop and deploy the Maritime NZ System Reform solution 
to fully enable MOSS and SeaCert.

Desired result: All staff understand and use rules for 
organising information. Staff trust and can easily access, 
use, and store and re-use information. Information quality, 
use and flows are governed by formalised policies and 
practices that align with business processes. ICT systems 
are delivered as per the ICT Investment Roadmap.

Indicators

• Proportion of staff who agree that they can easily 
access, use, store and re-use analytical and 
unstructured data

• Information maturity assessment rating

• Desired ICT capability maturity assessment rating 
achieved (self-assessed)

• Completion and deployment of Stages 1–3 
Maritime NZ System Reform by July 2016

PROGRESS THIS YEAR

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: STRATEGY 
IN PLACE TO DRIVE BEST PRACTICE 
INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

Integrated IM-ICT strategy Maritime NZ has continued building 
its information capability over the last quarter, but progress 
continues to be limited by resource constraints. Key achievements 
include the development of a fatal events database and a data 
warehouse to monitor and report the uptake and impact of MOSS 
and SeaCert and upgrades to maintain IT infrastructure to operate 
Maritime NZ’s response related services in an emergency event 
and extend the functionality of systems.

System Reform progress remained steady over the year, with 
increasing functionality being developed to manage operational 
transactions and enhance future data integration, data analysis 
and reporting capability. A change team is in place to actively 
support staff to understand and use the system appropriately, 
and providing regular feedback to guide and refine system 
development. There has been a slight delay to the completion of 
Phase 3 as new requirements have emerged – in particular from 
the new health and safety legislation that came into force towards 
the end of the financial year.

ICT Security During the year Maritime NZ implemented two 
Cyber Security capability projects to validate new services. These 
were ‘Identity Management as a Service’ (Securing Access to 
External Hosted Platforms which hold our data), and data loss 
prevention service capability (enabling Maritime NZ to know what 
data is being lost or sent externally).

Access, use and re-use of information Subsequent 
survey data on staff use of information generally will be 
collected as part of enhancements to Maritime NZ’s 
upgraded Electronic Document and Records 
Management System (EDRMS) which has been deferred 
until 16/17 due to resourcing constraints. However 
organisational and individual staff usage of the upgraded 
EDRMS is routinely measured and monitored. Following 
the period after the upgrade through to the financial 
year ended 30 June 2016, 9% more records have been 
captured, compared with the same period for 2014/2015 
(i.e. pre-upgrade).

Information maturity assessment: Maritime NZ has 
assessed its information maturity as 1.25 (on a 5-point 
scale), based on a government approved assessment 
questionnaire developed by the Department of Internal 
Affairs covering 16 dimensions of information maturity 
(an increase on the previous score of 1.06) during the 
reporting period.

System Reform progress remained steady over the year, 
with significant increases in functionality and extensive 
work to incorporate emerging requirements. Increasing 
functionality continues to develop. The project is due 
to be completed by the mid 2017. Further investment 
and development will be on-going to ensure the system 
remains fit-for-purpose and meets future business 
requirements. 
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EXERCISE BUILDS INFORMATION CAPABILITY

Maritime NZ continued to improve its information capability as part of an Incident Response exercise to  
manage a major Rena-type incident in May 2016. In the simulated scenario, two ships collided off the  
coast of New Plymouth. 

More than 250 personnel from multiple agencies coordinated the national response from the National Crisis 
Management Centre in the Beehive bunker, with an Emergency Coordination Centre set up within 24 hours in 
New Plymouth.

Maritime NZ developed a cloud-based email, collaboration, and information management solution that allowed 
all exercise participants to use a common platform while gathering and recording intelligence, and planning and 
drafting communications.

“What we needed was a rapidly scalable workspace – independent of Maritime NZ’s existing systems – to 
support this live response exercise involving participants from across government and in different locations,” 
says Chief Information Officer Aaron Mikoz. “We built it and tested it over a four month period, and then proved 
during the exercise that the solution we had developed could meet complex business needs,” he says.

“We now have the ability to deploy and support a fully functional forward operating base, as near as possible to 
an incident, anywhere in the country for up to 150 people at very short notice. Having the opportunity to validate 
the solution during a large-scale, multi-agency, real-time exercise like Whakautu II showed us that it worked, and 
we will refine it based on the lessons learned from the exercise.”

Maritime NZ will ensure that responders, including Maritime NZ staff and personnel from other agencies, receive 
continuing training for the solution as part of the maritime incident response capability programme.
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Impact 2: A resilient, healthy, capable organisation has people who are valued and energised to deliver 
high quality regulatory, compliance and response services

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Refresh People Capability Strategy

Following a planning exercise involving leaders and key 
influencers within our organisation our People Capability 
Strategy was reviewed and four People Capability Goals 
identified:

• A leader in health and safety

• The right people capability

• Valued and engaged people

• A shared culture that lives our values and delivers  
our purpose.

Desired result: No one is harmed in the workplace, workloads 
are manageable, staff are skilled and productive, and feel 
supported and valued for their contribution. We also have the right 
people in the right jobs, all of the time.

Indicators

• Best Workplaces Survey: Overall rating above the Public 
Sector median and improved rating for leadership and training/
capability development

• WSMP Level 2 Accreditation is maintained

• Staff retention (resignations over previous reporting periods at 
% average total staff).

PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATORS MET

Delivery of people capability initiatives

The goals in our People Capability Strategy are shaping 
organisational initiatives at all levels, with a key example 
being the work programme led by the Learning and 
Development Steering Group. This is one of four 
governance groups set up to bring an end-to-end 
perspective to key areas of organisational priority, and 
provide enhanced guidance and support.

Work has commenced on a Maritime NZ Leadership and 
Management Development Programme aimed at enabling 
clear alignment with Maritime NZ’s values, strategy and 
performance requirements.

Maritime NZ has a clear goal of maintaining  
Level 2 accreditation in the ACC Workplace Safety 
Management Practices (WSMP) scheme.

Maritime NZ undertook a Workplace Engagement Survey in June 
2016 run by IBM. Maritime NZ’s overall staff engagement was 74 
percent, which is significantly higher than the 2016 Public Sector 
benchmark of 68 percent. The 2016 engagement survey also 
showed a significantly higher level of staff confidence in the senior 
leadership of Maritime NZ (67.5 percent) compared to the Public 
Sector benchmark of 57.1 percent. Maritime NZ’s overall training 
and capability rating (62.6 percent) is very similar to the 2016 
Public Sector benchmark of 62.3 percent.

Staff Survey
2016 MNZ  

Staff Survey
2016 Public 

Sector

Overall Rating 74.0% 68.0%

Leadership rating 67.5% 57.1%

Training/Capability 62.6% 62.3%

WSMP Level 2 Accreditation of Maritime NZ’s internal health 
and safety management system has been maintained. The next 
external, independent audit under the ACC WSMP scheme is 
scheduled for early 2017.

Staff retention for the rolling 12-month period ending  
30 June 2016 was 88.1 percent (i.e. 11.9 percent voluntary staff 
turnover). This is slightly below the 2015 Public Sector average of 
89.1 percent staff retention.

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Develop Organisational Business Continuity 
Planning (BCP) and Security Initiatives

Develop and deploy a BCP framework and supporting 
plans for the Maritime NZ group

Assessment against the Government Protective Security 
Requirements (PSRs) completed and work programme 
developed.

Desired result: Maritime NZ has a fit-for-purpose approach to 
BCP in place which is regularly tested.

Indicator

• Maritime NZ’s approach to business continuity planning is 
independently audited, and confirmed as appropriate.

Desired result: Maritime NZ maintains an appropriate level of self-
assessed compliance against the Government Protective Security 
Requirements.

Indicator

• Maturity self-assessment against protective security 
requirements indicates progress towards desired maturity level 
(over three years).
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PROGRESS THIS YEAR ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: MATURITY EVOLVING

Develop Organisational Business Continuity 
(BCP) and Security Initiatives: Over the last year, 
Maritime NZ has become a member of the Government 
Sector Business Continuity Group, and our BCP has 
been significantly revised to create simpler, practical 
documentation that can support BC processes. 
Planning work to familiarise staff with the BCP 
responsibilities is underway along with exploratory work 
to determine if BCP processes can be made accessible 
across the organisation via a mobile platform.

Government Protective Security Requirements 
(PSR): A gap analysis was completed during the year 
and highlighted the need for a series of improvement  
to occur. 

Maritime NZ’s approach to BCP was audited by Internal Audit 
(NZTA) in August 2015 and rated at three on a six point scale 
from Absent to Optimised. This rating is considered appropriate 
to the stage of development that Maritime NZ is at. Significant 
improvements have been made to the BCP framework and are on 
track for approval and subsequent implementation from Q2 2016/17 
onwards.

Maturity assessment against protective security requirements: 
Maritime NZ’s PSR Compliance work stream is progressing with a 
number of improvements now in place including induction training 
on security issues and a work plan for out-years subject to resource 
constraints. 

Impact 3: There is sustainable funding to deliver identified outcomes

OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021 SUCCESS MEASURE

Medium to Long Term Financial Strategy

• Complete a mid-point funding review, including 
MOSS and SeaCert regimes (2015/16)

• Complete a full funding review (2017–19)

• Develop and deploy the Organisational Finance 
Strategy (2015–20).

Review Oil Pollution Levy

• Oil Pollution Levy Review (2015/16)

• Oil Pollution Levy Review (2018/19).

Desired result: Maritime NZ is appropriately funded via its various 
revenue streams at a level that supports the organisation’s ability to 
deliver its statutory regulatory functions and the outcomes agreed 
with Government. Maritime NZ’s delivery of its regulatory functions 
and other activities reflect value for money.

Indicators

• Implementation of the Maritime NZ mid-point funding and oil 
pollution levy reviews in 2016 provides an appropriate funding 
base for regulatory and oil pollution response activity, and 
informs future funding reviews.

• Maritime NZ operates within available funding over the medium 
to long term whilst maintaining appropriate cash reserves.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR
ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT:  
FUNDING REVIEW COMPLETED

The mid-point funding review was undertaken, 
publicly consulted on, and approved by cabinet in 
2015/16. Rates of Maritime NZ fees for SeaCert and 
the Maritime Levy were adjusted to reflect the cost of 
providing increased support to operators and seafarers, 
during entry to MOSS and SeaCert. These new rates 
were effective from 1 July 2016.

Maritime NZ has planned a full funding review for 
completion by the end of 2018/19. Initial work has 
begun on the more complex issues of appropriate levy 
allocation methodologies, and consideration of risk 
based approaches to levy setting. This is required to 
address the wider question of the appropriate longer 
term resource levels for the organisation.

Mid-point funding review: The mid-point funding review was 
completed successfully with Cabinet approving changes to both 
fees and levies. The revised funding will provide a more stable 
financial base for Maritime NZ in the years 2016/17 to 2018/19 by 
enabling it to operate balanced budgets in those periods.

Oil Pollution Levy (OPL) adjustments: Oil Pollution Levy (OPL) 
adjustments: The OPL review continues to progress, with Cabinet 
approving a new target amount for oil pollution levies. Regulations 
to set the new levies need to be drafted and approved. The 
revised levies, once approved, will support operational capability 
maintenance and capital replacement for the 2016/17 to 2018/19 
years. The planned program will replace key equipment and 
dispersants past their useable dates and will provide a moderate 
increase to oil spill capability particularly oil recovery in coastal areas.
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Impact 4: Collaboration with other agencies enables sharing of resources and builds capability that 
improves government services

SOI PROGRAMME OF WORK 2015–2021 HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Participate in Cross-Government Collaboration and 
Capability Programmes

• Continue Maritime NZ’s proactive engagement in the 
Transport Sector Collaboration and Capability Programme.

• Identify and assess ongoing opportunities to collaborate 
with other regulatory agencies.

• Engagement in Government Regulatory Practice Initiative 
(G-Reg).

Desired result: Maritime NZ proactively engages in 
collaboration opportunities to enable it to build organisational 
capability and improve efficiency.

Indicator

Maritime NZ is regarded as proactive and collaborative in its 
cross agency/sector/all-of-government participation efforts/
engagements.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT:  
ACTIVE COLLABORATION ACROSS THE 
TRANSPORT SECTOR AND GOVERNMENT

During 2015/16 Maritime NZ has maintained its previous 
good relationships with other agencies, the transport sector, 
and all of government. Maritime NZ has during the year 
continued to actively participate in the Transport Sector 
collaboration initiative, work with a range of agencies 
from NZTA to Worksafe and the Environmental Protection 
Agency(EPA). Maritime NZ is also an active supporter of 
the All of Government programs for Procurement and ICT 
governance from which it sees significant benefits accruing. 
Scoping and analysis of options for shared capability in 
accommodation; procurement; finance; shared payroll were 
completed during the year. Opportunities to progress to the 
next phase were only confirmed in the procurement area with 
the other three areas of focus determining that costs and 
complexity largely outweighed any benefits and therefore no 
proposals to progress further were confirmed. A proposal from 
the procurement group to progress towards the design and 
development of a transport procurement Centre of Excellence 
is currently being reviewed by the Transport Collaboration and 
Capability (TCCC) Governance Group.

Maritime NZ continues to actively be involved in the 
Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg). Staff 
are involved at all levels of the governance structure, in all  
five working groups and contributing to the development of 
the Regulatory Compliance Qualifications Framework.  
Almost 60 staff are part of the pilot adoption of the Level Three  
G-Reg Qualification (NZ Certificate in Regulatory Compliance 
(Core Knowledge).

Maritime NZ continues to work with a range of other 
agencies to further common interests in Health & Safety 
and environmental protection, and Transport, collaborating 
effectively with NZTA on sharing ICT and internal audit and risk 
resourcing, and financial system management.

Maritime NZ has supported the Ministry of Transport in its 
implementation of shared accounts processing systems, and 
continues to be active in the full range of sector collaboration 
groups. All-of-government initiatives such as procurement, 
and ICT governance are actively participated in and add value 
to a small agency that benefits from leveraging off the work of 
larger agencies. 
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Impact 5: Business processes enable straight-forward, efficient transactions with Maritime NZ that 
enhance compliance

SOI PROGRAMME OF WORK 2015-2021 HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Undertake Continuous Improvement of Business 
Processes

• Continuous improvement of business processes, including 
the application of Vanguard systems thinking and 
methodology.

Desired result: More participants in the maritime community 
view Maritime NZ services positively and as adding value to 
their operations.

Indicator

An increasing proportion of survey respondents, by sector, 
who rate the timeliness and ease of interactions with 
Maritime NZ as very good or excellentS.

PROGRESS THIS YEAR

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT:  
BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT INITIATIVES  
AND SURVEY PROGRAMME UNDERWAY

Maritime NZ continues to refine MOSS and SeaCert business 
processes. Examples are below.

MOSS:

• Increasing volumes of operators requesting approval for 
changes to their existing operator plans and notifying 
Maritime NZ of these prompted a review and simplification 
of forms and business processes. These changes are 
expected to improve the quality of applications Maritime NZ 
receives.

• MOSS invoicing processes were reviewed, increasing 
awareness of the interdependencies between different 
business processes and enhancing communication across 
teams. Rework dropped, reducing average time to issue 
final invoices from 41 to 21 days.

SeaCert:

• Work to increase the range of people who can certify 
identity documents that are required for fit and proper 
person (FPP) assessments across MOSS and SeaCert has 
been initiated. This is making it easier for operators and 
seafarers to provide correct documentation, improving the 
quality of applications reducing processing times

• Changes have been made to the way in which applications 
are received, checked and allocated for assessment. 
Coupled with an increased focus on cross-skilling 
and training to improve depth of knowledge, this has 
contributed to reduced processing times. The impact of 
these improvements has resulted in average end-to-end 
processing times reducing from 37 to 21 days.

Marine Oil Response Service:

• The WebEoC system now captures information about 
other range of response activities- in addition to oil spill 
responses.

Rescue Coordination Centre 

• Improvements to automate beacon registration processes 
are underway.

Port and Harbour Stakeholder Survey Over the last year 
Maritime NZ revised its annual stakeholder survey, tailoring 
it to different sectors. The overall intent is to obtain sector 
specific feedback about Maritime NZ’s service quality and 
the effectiveness of regulatory frameworks. The new survey 
questionnaire was endorsed in December 2015 by the 
Executive Team. It involves a set of ‘core’ questions (based 
on the State Service Commission’s Common Measurement 
Tool (CMT) to assess sector satisfaction with the delivery 
of organisational services and sector-specific questions to 
elicit information for sector engagement, business planning, 
reporting and evaluation purposes. The Ports and Harbour 
sector was the first to be surveyed.

This sector is comprised of individuals involved in the 
management of port operations, harbourmasters, council 
CEOs and operational staff. The findings show that, generally, 
the ports and harbour sector views Maritime NZ’s performance 
(expectations and interactions with our staff and our services) 
as ‘above average’. Respondents generally felt they were 
treated fairly, their engagement met expectations and 
Maritime NZ followed through with stated actions. Further, 
the sector considered that Maritime NZ provides effective 
and timely information and advice on marine pollution 
preparedness and response. The Offshore Oil, Gas and 
Minerals sector survey is the next to be undertaken. Other 
sectors will be surveyed in the coming year, establishing a 
baseline for subsequent reporting. 



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/201654

VOTE TRANSPORT:  
NON-DEPARTMENTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ that are 
funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure and a summary of appropriations and 
performance measures are detailed in the table below.

NON-DEPARTMENT CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED  
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Maritime New Zealand (M72) This appropriation is intended to achieve continued effective 
functioning of a distress beacon system in New Zealand and 
its international area of responsibility, and the provision of 
a new Information Technology system to support Maritime 
Operator Safety System and Seafarer Certification Rules.

ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET  
2015/16

ACTUAL  
2015/16

Ground station is developed in line with the time-line for the new 
satellite system

100% 100% 100%

Ground station is developed in line with COSPAS-SARSAT 
standards

100% 100% 100%

MNZ System Reform is developed in line with the business 
requirements as detailed in respective statements of work for 
successful implementation of MOSS and SeaCert

Achieved Achieved Achieved

NON-DEPARTMENT CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

ACTUAL  
2014/15 

$000

BUDGET  
2015/16 

$000

ACTUAL  
2015/16 

$000

Replacement ground station for Search and Rescue Satellite 
System

3,613 3,900 2,181

Information Technology system to support Maritime Operator 
Safety System and Seafarer Certification Rules

1,134 1,800 1,418

NON-DEPARTMENT CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED  
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Maritime New Zealand – Incident Response (M72) This appropriation is limited to investment in capability to 
respond to complex maritime pollution incidents.

ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET  
2015/16

ACTUAL  
2015/16

Develop and implement a procurement programme for container 
‘pingers’ by 30 June 2015

Completed No longer a 
measure-

No longer a 
measure-

NON-DEPARTMENT CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

ACTUAL  
2014/15 

$000

BUDGET  
2015/16 

$000

ACTUAL  
2015/16 

$000

Develop and implement a procurement programme for container 
‘pingers’ by 30 June 2015

183 – –
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Part B: Statements 
of Performance and 
Financial Statements
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Statement of Performance
Maritime NZ’s Statement of Performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice. It provides a report on performance for the 2015/16 year against set indicators which span the different 
areas of Maritime NZ’s operations, as represented through six output classes.

Output performance across these activities and responsibilities contributes to Maritime’s Strategic Goals, as  
shown below.

Regulation 
that is relevant 

and robust

Risk-focused, 
responsive 

compliance practices 
that reduce harm 
in the maritime 

system

Response 
capability that 

is well prepared 
and effectively 

deployed to 
resolve emergency 

incidents

• International engagement ensures global regulation aligns with 
New Zealand’s interests

• Policy advice ensures key maritime safety, security and marine 
environmental protection regulation is fit for purpose

• Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime 
safety, security and marine environmental protection interests

• Comprehensive domain assessments continually shape regulation 
and compliance practices

• Compliance strategies and campaigns:

- support, encourage and require commercial operators to take 
responsibility for the safety of their maritime operations

- lead to improved safety attitudes and behaviours across the 
recreational boating community

- are based on monitoring and risk profiling to ensure appropriate 
interventions address risks to safe, secure and clean waters

• Implementation of the seafarer certification and ship registration  
systems provides for internationally acceptable seafarer qualifications.

• An efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination service 
within an integrated search and rescue system (jointly with SAR Secretariat 
and NZ Police) which takes full advantage of modern technology to save 
lives

• A fit-for-purpose maritime incident response system provides effective 
response and recovery for national maritime incidents, minimising social 
and economic harm

• A comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service minimises 
the environmental and economic impact of any oil spill

• An internationally linked, intelligence-led security system assures 
protection for all in New Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility

Influencing the policy 
environment for the 
marine sector
Output classes

Maritime safety and 
marine protection services
Output classes

Search and rescue 
coordination services
Output classes

Marine pollution 
response services
Output classes

Maritime incident 
response capability 
Output classes

Maritime NZ’s statement of performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice. The statement of performance covers six output classes:

Output class 1: Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector

Output class 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services

Output class 3: Marine Pollution Response Service

Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services

Output class 5: Tauranga maritime incident response

Output class 6: Maritime incident response capability development 

These classes highlight the wide range of activities and responsibilities Maritime NZ oversees.
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Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Output Expense

To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ that are 
funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses are indicated (within each relevant Output Class) 
in the following Statement of performance tables with an asterisk (*) denoting performance measures from Vote 
Transport Information Supporting the Estimates 2015/16 and Vote Transport Supplementary Information Supporting 
the Estimates 2015/16. Relevant financial information is also provided in the tables following each output class 
performance summary on pages 58–75.

A summary of appropriations funded through Vote Transport is provided in the table below.

NON-DEPARTMENTAL OUTPUT EXPENSE WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED  
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Search and Rescue Activities (M72) This appropriation is limited to the purchase of search and rescue 
activities and a search and rescue coordination service, including 
follow-up inquiries and reporting, associated with the searches 
and rescues undertaken. 

Search and Rescue and Recreational Boating Safety 
Activities PLA (M72)

The estimated amount to be spent in relation to search and rescue 
and recreational boating safety activities, as authorised under 
Section 9 (1) of the Land Transport Management Act 2003. 

Tauranga Maritime Incident Response (M72) This appropriation is limited to responding to the MV Rena 
grounding off Tauranga. 

Policy Advice and Related Outputs – Maritime (M72) The overarching purpose of this appropriation is to regulate and 
enhance safety in New Zealand’s maritime environment.

Health and Safety in Employment Activities – Maritime

This category is limited to health and safety activities, for which 
there is a designated responsibility. 

Maritime Incident Response

This category is limited to building capability to respond to 
complex maritime pollution incidents.

Maritime Safety and Marine Protection Services

This category is limited to the development and delivery of 
regulatory services which are the responsibility of Maritime 
New Zealand under legislation

Policy Advice – Maritime

This category is limited to the provision of advice (including second 
opinion advice and contributions to policy advice led by other 
agencies) to support decision making by Ministers on government 
policy matters and Ministerial servicing. 
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OUTPUT CLASS 1:  
INFLUENCING THE POLICY ENVIRONMENT  
FOR THE MARITIME SECTOR

This output class includes the provision of evidence-based technical advice that enables the 
development of robust, timely and fit-for-purpose policy and regulation in relation to maritime safety, 
security and environmental protection; reviews of the maritime system to promote the improvement 
and development of its safety and security; effective implementation of the International Ship and 
Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance with the Maritime Security Act; and the provision of 
services to Ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio accountabilities.

OUTPUT 1.1: DEVELOPMENT AND PROVISION OF 
TECHNICAL MARITIME POLICY ADVICE  

What is intended to be achieved: The development and provision of policy advice including:

• provision of technical safety advice (directly, and in association with, the Ministry of Transport) in relation to 
maritime sector policy and legislation

• contribution to the negotiation of international agreements, treaties and conventions

• engagement in relationships with other international maritime administrations

• contribution to the development of policy advice by departments (other than the Ministry of Transport) and local 
government agencies

• development of rules and other legislative instruments under the maritime acts, as funded by the Ministry of 
Transport

• advice on Pacific safety initiatives, as funded by Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.
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How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quality: 
*All written policy advice papers to Ministers and the Ministry of Transport 
meet Maritime NZ’s quality criteria (content, form, and analysis)

100% 100% 100%

Timeliness: 
*All written policy reports/advice to Ministers of transport and Ministry of 
Transport are completed by due date

100% 100% 100%

Transport regulatory programme completed subject to variations agreed 
with Ministry of Transport

100% 100% 100%

Quantity: 
Estimated volume of requests for Maritime NZ advice/participation to 
inform other government reviews and initiatives27

New measure 40–60 51

Proportion of requests for Maritime NZ advice/participation to inform other 
government reviews and initiatives responded to

New measure 80% 100%

A briefing is provided to Maritime NZ delegates attending international 
meetings,28 including key attendance objectives.

New measure 100% 100%

Timeliness: 
All international reporting obligations to international organisations 
completed by due date29

New measure 100% 100%

Timeliness: 
A report on the outcomes and achievement of key attendance objectives 
is provided by the Maritime NZ delegate(s) within six weeks of attendance 
at international meetings.

New measure 100% 100%

Quality: 
Attendance objectives are met at international meetings attended

100% 90% 100%

Improve New Zealand’s ability to influence international maritime 
outcomes through review of the International Engagement Strategy.

100%30

Review 
completed by 

June 2016
Achieved

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation 
target objectives with no material variance.

27 Includes Cabinet papers, legislative proposals, regulatory impact statements, and other requests for advice.

28 Limited to International Maritime Organisation (IMO), Asia-Pacific Heads of Maritime Safety Agencies (APHOMSA), Tokyo MOU, 
and international Labour Organisation (ILO) meetings.

29 Timeframes are set by the international organisation.

30 The 2015/16 result is reported as ‘achieved’ rather than 100% to better fit the target.
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OUTPUT 1.2: REVIEWS OF THE MARITIME SYSTEM
 

What is intended to be achieved: This category is intended to achieve continuous improvement of the safety, 
security and cleanliness of the maritime system through regular review of the system’s frameworks.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Timeliness: 
Outcome evaluation framework developed for the Seafarer 
Certification (SeaCert) framework, by 30 June 2016.

Not achieved Achieved Not achieved 

Quantity and Timeliness:  
Delivery of sector reports to Maritime New Zealand’s Authority. 

Achieved Four sector reports31 Achieved

Coastal Navigation Safety Review and Implementation plan 
completed. 

Achieved Review completed 
by 31 December 

2015 

Achieved

Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code updated. Achieved Updated completed 
by  

30 June 2016

Achieved

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation 
target objectives with no material variance – with the exception of the SeaCert framework. An initial evaluation 
framework for SeaCert has been completed, however revisions are needed to ensure it reflects the policy proposals 
for transitioning existing seafarers with legacy tickets and those for new and existing seafarers, which are awaiting 
approval by Government. The policy proposals are expected to be approved in September 2016 which will enable 
the SeaCert evaluation framework to be completed.

31 Four reports were to be signed off by the Director and presented to the Authority by the end of the 30 June 2016.
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OUTPUT 1.3: MARITIME SECURITY  
AND INTELLIGENCE ADVICE  

What is intended to be achieved: The delivery of key security related functions:

• To ensure effective implementation of the International Ship and Port facility Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance  
with the MSA.

• To take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the provisions of the MSA and of 
regulations and rules made under this Act, including carrying out inspections and audits.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quantity: 
Proportion of foreign ship voyages screened for security non-compliance 
annually

23% 50% 45%32

All known security threats to New Zealand port facilities are identified and 
appropriate action taken33. 

100% 100% 100%

Proportion of identified high-risk ships (of security non-compliance) 
inspected for security deficiencies annually

67% 100% 100%34

Proportion of ports checked by Maritime NZ as having audited their 
security capability against the requirements of the Maritime Security Act.

100% 100% 100%

What do our results show? The maritime security capability is effective and efficient. The maritime security 
exercises reveal that port security plans are appropriate and well managed. Maritime NZ remains well connected 
to the all of government process and maintains active engagement with the intelligence community and industry 
groups. There is an on-going focus to provide intelligence reports to provide good situational awareness and 
where appropriate warning of increased risk. The national risk profile in New Zealand continues to be dynamic and 
active although the national security levels have not altered. Maritime NZ attended the New Zealand Intelligence 
requirements annual meeting over the reporting period.

32 A slight shortfall in the period due to resource constraints. Going forward, the approach in the screening and profiling area 
has been revised and a new measure introduced for 2016/17 (as reported in the Statement of Performance Expectations for 
2016/17 on page 5).

33 Maritime NZ operates in accordance with agreed New Zealand Government security protocols. In the period there was 
one incident meeting the criteria of the protocols and this was successfully resolved through information sharing with port 
authorities.

34 In the period one vessel was identified as having a high risk of security non-compliance but had been inspected within  
12 months of entering New Zealand and was not referred for an additional inspection in this instance, because no new  
security deficiencies had been recorded since 2010.
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OUTPUT 1.4: MINISTERIAL SERVICING
 

What is intended to be achieved: The provision of services to Ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio 
responsibilities, including drafting replies to Ministerial correspondence, responding to Official Information Act 
requests and parliamentary questions, and providing support at select committees on non-legislative matters.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quality: 
Replies to ministerial correspondence and parliamentary questions meet 
agreed quality criteria

99% 100% 100%

Timeliness: 
Ministerial correspondence and parliamentary questions provided within 
agreed timeframes

100% 100% 99%

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation 
target objectives with no material variance.

OUTPUT CLASS 1: TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL 
2014/15 

$000

BUDGET 
2015/16 

$000

ACTUAL 
2015/16 

$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Policy Advice – Maritime) 3,619 3,619 3,619

Crown agencies 899 899 899

NZ International Aid and Development Agency 293 352 178

Marine Safety Charge 786 792 785

Other 232 191 260

Total revenue 5,829 5,853 5,741

Total expenditure 7,446 6,028 7,596

Net deficit (1,617) (175) (1,855)

Refer to Note 31 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget
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OUTPUT CLASS 2:  
MARITIME SAFETY AND MARINE PROTECTION SERVICES

The purpose of this output class is an integrated approach to achieving compliance with safety, security and 
marine protection requirements.

Modern regulatory theory and practice reflects an understanding that the majority of participants in a regulated 
sector will do the right thing if they are well informed and supported to meet their obligations; entry controls 
ensure that participants meet appropriate standards and have relevant knowledge and experience; monitoring, 
investigation and enforcement activities ensure that participants who are not inclined to meet their obligations 
will do so, and hold them to account where necessary if they do not. In addition, these activities also provide 
information that can be used to inform the on-going improvement and adjustment of standards that underpin the 
regulatory system.

Aids to navigation support safety outcomes by signalling hazards, and distress and safety communication 
services provide a safety net for those who get into difficulty.

OUTPUT 2.1: INFORMATION AND EDUCATION

What is intended to be achieved: This output is intended to achieve an increased understanding and knowledge 
of maritime safety and security through the provision of applicable information and education services to, and liaison 
with, the maritime sector. Key functions include the provision of recreational boating safety and awareness services, 
and information/education for the domestic commercial maritime sector.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

RECREATIONAL SECTOR 

Quantity:  
Delivery of Safer Boating Week Campaign

New measure
Campaign delivered 
by November 2015

Achieved

Delivery integrated annual summer safety campaign (television, 
radio, online and print)

135 Campaign delivered 
by 28 February 2016

Achieved

Safe boating packs distributed to recreational boating community 47,638 30,00036 27,030

Delivery of New Zealand Safer Boating Forum Strategic Plan 
(2015–17)

New measure
Work programme 

milestones37 
achieved

Achieved

Quality: 
People who recall boating safety television advertising

New measure 75% 59%38

35 The 2015/16 result has been reported as achieved rather than a number to better fit the target.

36 This year Maritime NZ changed its processes for distributing safer boating packs. Rather than making these available in  
Z Service Stations, packs were actively distributed by frontline staff and through enabling members of the public to order online. 
These changes have ensured a better targeting of delivery to the recreational boating community.

37 Milestones include a review of voluntary safety standards for new vessels and a review of mandatory life jacket wearing options.

38 The 59% figure refers to prompted and unprompted awareness of the Jo Bro “Get it on” advertisement across all respondents. 
Recall was notably higher amongst male recreational vessel users (69%), a key target group given the prevalence of accidents 
and incidents in this demographic.
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

COMMERCIAL SECTORS 

Quantity: 
Number of targeted safety initiatives and/or education programmes 
undertaken 

3 3 25

HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK 

Timeliness: 
Development of Health and Safety guidance material is undertaken 
in collaboration with WorkSafe and other Health and Safety 
regulatory agencies

New measure

Guidance material 
completed in 

advance of Act 
coming into force 

Achieved

What do our results show? Most work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance 
expectations with two exceptions: Distribution rates of Safer Boating packs were lower than estimated but rates 
were expected to vary given the changes in distribution channels and processes. Maritime NZ provided additional 
education programmes (ie workshops) for domestic operators in response to industry request for support and 
guidance to help them understand the Maritime Operator Safety Systems and apply for MOSS.

OUTPUT 2.2: ENTRY CONTROLS

What is intended to be achieved: The exercise of entry controls (including continued eligibility) of operators, 
vessels, seafarers, products, services, ports, installations and facilities into the maritime transport system and/or the 
marine environment, under maritime and related legislation. Key functions include:

• registration of ships in the New Zealand Register of Ships
• issuing marine protection documents
• issuing maritime documents and certificates
• vessel security and port security assessments
• certification of seafarers
• issuing exemptions from the need to comply with maritime and marine protection rules.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quantity: 
Percentage of MOSS applications processed within three months 
receipt of completed application39 

80% 90% 48%

Development and approval of the Seafarer  
‘Transition to SeaCert Plan’

New measure
Plan approved by  

the Director by  
31 December 2015

Achieved

What do our results show? The 90% target for processing MOSS applications was not met due to processing 
delays caused by factors outside of Maritime NZ’s control (for e.g. lack of haste in operators making requested 
updates, uncertainty over the legal names of operators, the impact of the fishing and tourism seasons and time lags 
associated with vessel surveys). In future such applications will be rigorously policed and placed on hold to enable 
clear measurement of the impact of operator delay on processing performance. This will be reported on during 
2016–17. At the end of financial year the average processing time for applications received since July 2015 is 87 
days (ie approximately three months).

39 Completed applications must include the following: MTOC application; Maritime Transport Operator Plan (MTOP); fit and proper 
person form(s); and application fee payment.
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OUTPUT 2.3: MONITORING AND INVESTIGATION  
OF COMPLIANCE

What is intended to be achieved: The monitoring and investigation of compliance with maritime legislation and 
other related legislation. Key functions include:

• inspections of ships registered in other countries when they arrive in New Zealand for compliance with IMO 
requirements (port state control inspections)

• annual flag state control (SOLAS Convention) inspection of New Zealand registered ships that comply with the 
Convention for Safety of Life at Sea

• inspection and oversight of domestic commercial vessels and their documents, to ensure compliance with 
legislation, and survey vessel standards

• audit of New Zealand operators, vessels, facilities, products, services, documents and delegations, and requiring 
compliance with the documents and delegations

• investigations and responses to accidents and incidents, regulatory non-compliance, breaches of maritime 
security requirements, and complaints.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

INTERNATIONAL VESSELS (SOLAS)

Quantity: 
Proportion of Priority 1 vessels coming into New Zealand that have been 
inspected by Maritime NZ

49% 70%40 80%41

The number of concentrated inspection operations of vessels focused 
on human factors systems designed to prevent safety and environmental 
harms

New measure 2 3

Percentage of serious or very serious marine casualities involving SOLAS 
vessels investigated 

New measure 100% 100%

What do our results show? Inspection of Priority 1 vessels: This target has been exceeded this year. Maritime NZ 
continues to train and up-skill Port State Officers to increase our Port State Control capability.

Concentrated inspection operation targets were exceeded this year. These campaigns focused on crew familiarisation 
with enclosed space entry, rest and fatigue management, and navigational aids.

Only two serious marine casualties involving SOLAS vessels occurred over the reporting periods and both were 
investigated. Maritime NZ is continuing to expand its investigative capability.

40 Incremental growth in the performance against this measure is expected over the next three years, a 70% target is in place for 
the 2015/16 year, 75 percent for 2016/17 and 80 percent for 2017/18.

41 This result (80% of PI inspections) is based on Maritime NZ identifying 193 Priority I (PI) ships and inspecting 155 over the 
reporting period. (Thirty eight ships were not inspected due to last minute changes in shipping schedules and the availability 
of operational staff). Verification of the number of PI ships identified by Maritime NZ is not currently possible because the 
priority inspection status of a vessel changes each time an inspection occurs. A PI rating refers to a vessel that has missed its 
‘inspection window’. Inspection windows differ according to the risk rating a vessel is given at each inspection. High risk vessels 
require an inspection every three months while low risk vessels require inspection every 18 months. Once inspected, PI vessels 
are assigned PII status – meaning they are operating within their timeframe requirements. The inspection status of individual 
vessels is continually updated in an external electronic database (APCIS, administered by an overseas provider) but changes 
in PI status are not recorded across time. Maritime NZ inspection processes involve regularly checking the PI status of arriving 
vessels. However, because historical data is not available, it is not possible to retrospectively identify the number of vessels that 
had a PI status at some point over the reporting period.
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

DOMESTIC COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

Quantity and timeliness: 
Number of audits42 completed (estimated volume)

Deemed MTOC Audits completed

MOSS audits completed

New measure
500 243

207

36

Proportion of audits completed within estimated timeframes43

within estimated timeframes – Deemed MTOC audits

within estimated timeframes – MOSS audits 

New measure
90% 48%

64%

55%

What do our results show? The measures to monitor the performance of deemed MTOC and MOSS audits were 
established following the finalisation of our Statement of Performance Expectations 2014/15. The estimated volume 
of audits to complete was not met due to many operators choosing to enter MOSS and a very small number naturally 
exiting the system. Audit processes and quality will continue to be a focus for review and improvement over the next 
year. MOSS audit processes have been selected for inclusion for our 2016/17 internal audit programme.

OUTPUT 2.4: ENFORCEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

What is intended to be achieved: The enforcement of compliance with, and the exercise of exit controls under, 
maritime and related legislation. Key functions include:

• suspension of, or imposition of conditions on, maritime documents or marine protection documents

• detention of ships and seizure of products under the MTA

• follow-up, second and subsequent inspections to review non-conformity and corrective action notices, 
suspensions, conditions and detentions

• issuing infringement notices under the MTA

• issuing improvement notices and prohibition notices under the HSW Act

• prosecution of offences under the MTA

• exit controls – removal of ships from the register, and revocation of maritime and marine protection documents.

42 Audits include:

• MOSS audits for operators who have entered MOSS and received a Maritime Transport Operator Certificate (MTOC)

• Deemed MTOC audits for vessel operators with a valid Safe Ship Management (SSM) certificate on 1 July 2014 who are 
deemed to have entered MOSS, under transitional provisions, until the SSM certificate expires and they are required to 
enter MOSS. These operators are called deemed MTOC holders.

43 Estimated timeframes for completing deemed MTOC audits and MOSS audits have been set at 4.5 to 8 hours, for single vessel 
operators and 6 to 8 hours for an operator with two or more vessels (both excluding travel time). This allows for volume and 
type of non-conformities and observations and the need to ensure thoroughness, though completion timeframes are expected 
to vary more widely for MOSS audits.
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How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quantity: 
*Prosecutions brought under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 
and the Maritime Transport Act that are successful

75%44 75% 87.5%45

What do our results show? Over the reporting period a number of prosecutions were concluded, most which were 
successful in achieving the desired outcome, allowing Maritime NZ to exceed its target.

OUTPUT 2.5: DISTRESS AND SAFETY  
COMMUNICATION SERVICES

What is intended to be achieved: The provision of distress and safety radio services to the maritime community.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Radio station availability46 99.8% 99.8% 99.8%

*Percentage of time a 24-hour Distress and Safety Radio Service is provided47 99.9% 100% 99.8%

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation 
target objectives, with no material variance.

44 Maritime NZ’s Annual Report for 2014–2015 reported performance of 100% of prosecutions brought under the Health and 
Safety in Employment and Maritime Transport Act (MTA) as successful. This figure has been changed to 75% to include a case 
that was mistakenly recorded as successful (one of four cases in 2014/15 – the other three of which were successful).

45 Performance against this measure is based on the number of prosecutions that are concluded during the reporting period and 
where the prosecution action leads to the desired outcome (e.g. compliance, accountability). Over the reporting period seven 
prosecutions were concluded: Six of these were successful. Five involved pleas of guilty and led to conviction and one case 
involved two defendants in which charges against one of the defendants were barred by other legislation and subsequently 
resolution occurred with both defendants that is considered as equivalent to what would have occurred in court. One case 
(considered unsuccessful) was withdrawn following an associated matter that resulted in a not guilty finding.

46 This indicator measures the availability of the very high frequency (VHF) services, high frequency (HF) voice & HF digital selective 
calling (DSC). Outages are logged by Maritime Operations Centre (MOC) operator: Start is “fault first found”, and end is “fault 
repaired”. The target is based on category 1 Aids to Navigation (AtoN) but there are no actual international targets for radio. 
Outages are logged in the MOC database and reported in the monthly MOC report.

47 This measure is intended to show the MOC is fully operational and available to receive distress calls, issue maritime safety 
information (MSI) broadcasts, and respond to requests for assistance or information over the maritime network. The measure 
is reported in the monthly MOC report, with issues reviewed during contractor meetings. Performance should be 100% unless 
there is a major outage or disaster that means the MOC cannot be manned.
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OUTPUT 2.6: AIDS TO NAVIGATION

What is intended to be achieved: The provision of reliable maritime navigation aids. Key functions include the

• provision of navigational aids for shipping on New Zealand’s coast and adjacent islands

• oversight of navigational aids owned by ports and other organisations.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

*Percentage of time lighthouses are available 100% 99.8% 100%

Day-beacons/buoys availability 99.8% 97% 99.8%

What do our results show? Excellent service delivery throughout the period of this critical safety of life capability. All 
work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives with no material 
variance.

OUTPUT CLASS 2: TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL 
2014/15 

$000

BUDGET 
2015/16 

$000

ACTUAL 
2015/16 

$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Maritime Safety and Marine Protection 
Services)

1,937 1,937 1,937

* HSE (Vote Transport: Health and Safety in Employment Activities – 
Maritime)

954 954 1,466

Fuel Excise Duty 2,560 2,560 2,560

Marine Safety Charge 16,679 16,808 16,648

Fees 2,779 3,663 2,913

Other 1,061 829 1,188

Total revenue 25,970 26,751 26,712

Total expenditure 24,849 27,077 25,250

Net surplus/(deficit) 1,121 (326) 1,462

Refer to Note 31 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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OUTPUT CLASS 3:  
MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE SERVICE

Through this output class, Maritime NZ contributes directly to the goal of response capability that is well 
prepared and effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. This is achieved through the delivery of 
services that ensure New Zealand is prepared for, and has the ability to respond to, marine oil spills.

OUTPUT 3.1: MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE CAPABILITY

What is intended to be achieved: This output is aimed at ensuring New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to 
respond to, marine oil spills.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Percentage of regional councils who have trained responders at or above 
80% of recommended number 

12.5% 100% 43.75%

Percentage of regional (19) and national (1) stockpiles maintained within 
last 12 months

100% 100% 100%

Percentage of regional (19) and national (1) stockpiles inspected within 
12-month period ending 30 June 2016

70% 100% 90%

Percentage of Tier 2 oil spills responded to effectively by regional councils, 
independently assessed through Oil Spill Duty Officer reports

100% >90% 100%

Percentage of regional council Tier 2 plans that are current 75% 100% 93.75%

What do our results show? Overall a strong performance reflecting much hard work to improve  
overall capability. The percentage of trained regional responder numbers fell significantly in 2014/15 when there 
was a change in assessing currency of training based on expiry dates changing from six years as at 1st September 
2015 to a two year expiry date. This instantly and artificially placed the majority of responders out of currency but 
it was considered operationally beneficial to reduce the currency period. There was no loss of capability from this 
amendment to the training regime.

Stockpile inspections: Due to the demands of Exercise Whakautu II two stockpile inspections were not completed.

Tier 2 Oil spill responses: All responses conducted by Regional Councils were undertaken successfully reflecting a 
capable Tier 2 oil spill capability. The National Oil Response Team (NRT) capability continues to improve. A full suite of 
training, workshops and exercises were completed over the reporting period and the NRT performed effectively and 
was well reported on during Exercise Whakautu II. Enhancements continue with the oil spill aviation capability, the 
response information management system and a successful capital equipment programme completed.
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OUTPUT CLASS 3: TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL 
2014/15 

$000

BUDGET 
2015/16 

$000

ACTUAL 
2015/16 

$000

Oil Pollution Levies 6,343 5,769 6,830 

Other 111 95 164

Total revenue 6,454 5,864 6,994

Total expenditure 5,327 5,608 6,015 

Net (deficit) 1,127 256 979 

Refer to note 22 of the Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against 
budget.
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OUTPUT CLASS 4:  
SEARCH AND RESCUE COORDINATION SERVICES

This output class contributes directly to Maritime NZ’s goal of a response capability that is well prepared and 
effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. This is achieved through the coordination of a timely and 
appropriate search and rescue response (across land, sea and air). Efficient and effective search and rescue 
operations are supported by distress beacon technology, including a ground station in New Zealand linked to the 
international satellite system.

OUTPUT 4.1: COORDINATION OF SEARCH AND RESCUE 
OPERATIONS 

What is expected to be achieved: This category is intended to achieve coordinated land, sea and air search and 
rescue operations through a search and rescue coordination centre (Rescue Coordination Centre of New Zealand 
(RCCNZ) operated around the clock.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quality: 
*Percentage of the time a minimum of two fully trained search and rescue 
officers are on duty 24/7

100% 100% 100%

Timeliness: 
*Percentage of the time the 24/7 uninterrupted coordination service is 
provided

100% 100% 100%

Logged incidents resolved by communications action only 72% 75% 75.5%

What do our results show? RCCNZ has achieved all of its targets, ensuring that an efficient, effective and 
uninterrupted rescue coordination service was provided 24 hours a day for every day of the year. RCCNZ efficiently 
responded to incidents, resolving just over 75% through communications only, and tasking assets appropriately for all 
other incidents.
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OUTPUT 4.2: MANAGEMENT OF NEW ZEALAND’S EMERGENCY 
DISTRESS BEACON SYSTEM

What is expected to be achieved: This category is intended to achieve the operation and maintenance of the 
ground-based equipment that forms part of the international satellite system. This system detects, locates and alerts 
search and rescue authorities about distress beacons, and includes the operation and maintenance of the distress 
beacons database.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Availability of ground-based satellite equipment 99% 98% 96.6%

*Percentage of beacons’ data verified every two years  
(at 30 June) 

47% 65% 60.4%

Beacon registrations received at the Rescue Coordination Centre NZ and 
processed into the database by the next working day

92% 98% 88.6%

What do our results show? Distress beacons continue as a critical part of the Search and Rescue system. The 
measures and achievements show a slight shortfall in terms of equipment availability; this is the result of aging 
equipment. Going forward the MEOSAR project will replace this equipment and ensure very high reliability and 
availability. The distress beacons registration system measures show slight shortfalls which result from resource 
constraints and the impact of ever increasing numbers of registrations generating significant extra work. Process 
efficiencies have been implemented and a project is underway to redevelop the system to ensure it is effective, 
efficient and sustainable into the future.

OUTPUT CLASS 4: TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Search and Rescue Activities) 3,316 3,316 3,316 

Fuel Excise Duty 1,673 2,024 2,040

Other 63 76 58 

Total revenue 5,052 5,416 5,414 

Total expenditure 4,889 5,415 5,365 

Net surplus/(deficit) 163 1 49 

Refer to note 31 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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OUTPUT CLASS 5:  
TAURANGA MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE

Through this output class, direction and oversight are provided for Maritime NZ operations in Tauranga following 
the grounding of the container vessel Rena. This includes oversight of salvage and clean-up operations, 
application of health and safety regulations, and management of communications with local and national 
stakeholders.

OUTPUT 5.1: RENA NON-OIL INCIDENT RESPONSE

What is expected to be achieved: This output is intended to achieve effective Maritime NZ oversight of Rena 
response activities by Maritime NZ staff and third-party operators, including oil spill response, salvage and clean-up 
operations, and managing stakeholder communications. Enabling effective response to and recovery from this major 
maritime incident has been important for environmental, cultural and economic reasons.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Quality: 
Maritime NZ provides effective oversight48 of on-going Rena response 
activities by third-party operators, covering: wreck reduction and debris 
removal; container recovery; shoreline clean-up including any residual 
oil; ongoing claim reconciliation; and technical advice and support to the 
Bay of Plenty Regional Council regarding application of the Resource 
Management Act.

Achieved ongoing ongoing

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation 
target objective, with no material variance. In February 2016, Independent Commissioners approved the application 
for the remains of the wreck of the Rena to remain and to “discharge” any harmful substances or contaminants from 
the remains that may occur over time, on the Astrolabe Reef subject to comprehensive conditions. The Tauranga 
office has closed as all work required by Maritime NZ has been completed.

OUTPUT CLASS 5: TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Tauranga Maritime Incident Response) 325 250 101

Total revenue 325 250 101 

Total expenditure 325 250 101 

Net surplus – – –

Refer to note 31 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

48 Effective oversight will be evidenced by positive feedback from stakeholders, a good health and safety record, and compliance 
with statutory requirements through weekly situation reports.
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OUTPUT CLASS 6:  
MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT

This output class is intended to achieve the implementation of recommendations from the Murdoch review of 
Maritime NZ’s response to the Rena grounding, to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of New Zealand’s 
response to complex maritime incidents, in particular to address systemic weaknesses in high-level coordination 
across government agencies.

OUTPUT 6.1: MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE CAPABILITY 
DEVELOPMENT (NON-OIL)

What is intended to be achieved: This output is intended to achieve development of a major maritime incident 
response strategy and associated high level plans; incorporating public information management, community 
engagement and iwi engagement, and development of response capability and coordination processes to execute 
the strategy.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL  
2014/15

TARGET 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2015/16

Timeliness: 
Develop and implement a maritime incident exercise based on a 
complex vessel scenario that tests the New Zealand major maritime 
incident response readiness:

Maritime incident exercise “Whakautu II” plan completed. 
 

Exercise “Whakautu II” delivered.

 
New 

measure

 
 
 

Plan signed off by  
March 2016

 
Exercise completed  

May 2016

 
 
 

Not achieved.
Signed in  

April 2016

Achieved

Quantity and timeliness: 
Across government coordination: On-going relationship building with 
agencies supported by memorandums of understanding:

Proportion of bi-annual meetings held with agencies that  
Maritime NZ has a Memorandum of Understanding or a  

Service Level Agreement in place.49

Training of staff from agencies/government departments is undertaken 
to develop a shared understanding of Maritime NZ’s major maritime 

incident response accountabilities.

 
New 

measure

 
 

100% 
 

Training is undertaken 
in accordance  

with incident 
response plan

 
 

Achieved 
 

Achieved

What do our results show? Exercise Whakautu II which ran from 9–11 May 2016 was assessed as very successful 
and demonstrated that significant progress has been made in building response capability and systems at both 
the strategic and operational levels. The exercise highlighted the very good across government participation and 
at the operational level good community interaction. As part of the preparation for delivery of, and follow-up for 
Exercise Whakautu II many meetings, training and capability building workshops were held with an extensive range 
government agencies, including those with whom Maritime NZ has Memorandums of Understandings and/or Service 
Level Agreements. Implementing the recommendations from the Exercise Whakautu II report will be a priority in 
2016/17.

49 Maritime NZ has Memoranda of Understanding and/or service level agreements with the following agencies: Environmental 
Protection Agency, Ministry of Health, National Institute of Water and Atmosphere, New Zealand Defence Force, Ministry for 
Primary Industries, New Zealand Police, WorkSafe, Ministry of Social Development, Department of Conservation, Te Puni Kōkiri, 
Department of Internal Affairs, Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Ministry of Transport and the New Zealand Fire Service.
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OUTPUT CLASS 6: TOTAL REVENUE AND EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Maritime Incident Response) 1,237 733 842 

Total revenue 1,237 733 842 

Total expenditure 1,246 733 842

Net deficit (9) – –

Refer to note 31 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/201676

Financial statements
Statement of responsibility
We are responsible for the preparation of Maritime NZ’s financial statements and statement of performance, and for 
the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for any end-of-year performance information provided by Maritime NZ under section 19A of the 
Public Finance Act 1989.

We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Blair O’Keeffe

Chairman, Maritime NZ

Dated: 31 October 2016

Belinda Vernon

Authority member, Maritime NZ

Dated: 31 October 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the readers of

Maritime New Zealand’s financial statements and performance information  
for the year ended 30 June 2016

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ). The Auditor-General has appointed me, 
Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements 
and the performance information, including the performance information for appropriations, of Maritime NZ on her 
behalf.

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information

We have audited:

• the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 80 to 106, that comprise the statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2016, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expenses, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and

• the performance information of Maritime NZ on pages 26 to 54 and 56 to 75.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of Maritime NZ:

 – present fairly, in all material respects:

 – its financial position as at 30 June 2016;

 – its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

 – comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and have been prepared in accordance 
with the Public Benefit Accounting Standards.

• the performance information:

 – presents fairly, in all material respects, Maritime NZ’s performance for the year ended 30 June 2016, including:

 – for each class of reportable outputs:

 – its standards of performance achieved as compared with forecasts included in the statement of 
performance expectations for the financial year;

 – its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the forecasts included in the statement of 
performance expectations for the financial year;

 – what has been achieved with the appropriations;

 – the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the appropriated or forecast expenses or 
capital expenditure; and

 – complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 31 October 2016. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our 
responsibilities, and explain our independence.
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Basis of opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the 
performance information are free from material misstatement.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our judgement, are likely to 
influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements and the performance information. If we had found 
material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements and the performance information. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including 
our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the performance information, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
preparation of Maritime NZ’s financial statements and performance information in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Maritime NZ’s internal control.

An audit also involves evaluating:

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently applied;

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board;

• the appropriateness of the reported performance information within Maritime NZ’s framework for 
reporting performance;

• the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements and the performance information.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements and the 
performance information. Also, we did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the 
financial statements and the performance information.

We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements and performance information that:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and Public Benefit Entity 
Reporting Standards;

• present fairly Maritime NZ’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows; and

• present fairly Maritime NZ’s performance.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public 
Finance Act 1989.

The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements and performance information that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The 
Board is also responsible for the publication of the financial statements and the performance information, whether in 
printed or electronic form.
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Responsibilities of the Auditor

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and the performance 
information and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from the Public Audit Act 
2001.

Independence

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of the External Reporting Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in Maritime NZ.

Kelly Rushton
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense  
for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

REVENUE

Crown 2 15,881 15,393 15,621

Marine safety charge   17,433 17,600 17,465

Other revenue 3 5,326 5,821 5,135

Interest revenue   159 189 173

Gains 4 11 – 20

Total revenue   38,810 39,003 38,414

EXPENDITURE

Personnel costs 5 21,089 20,795 20,220

Depreciation & amortisation costs 14,15 2,195 2,213 2,102

Property, plant & equipment write-off & impairment provision   25 – 39

Capital charge 6 1,377 1,439 943

Finance costs 7 68 – 10

Other expenses 8 14,400 15,056 15,444

Total expenditure   39,154 39,503 38,758

Surplus/(deficit)   (344) (500) (344)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense 9 (316) – 511

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense   (316) – 511

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (660) (500) 167

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 31.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity  
for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

Balance at 1 July   16,268 16,854 12,067

Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains taken to equity 20 86 – (84)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (660) (500) 167

Capital contribution 20 4,753 4,800 4,118

Balance at 30 June   20,447 21,154 16,268

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 31.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position  
for Maritime New Zealand
As at 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 10 2,970 5,788 5,943

Debtors and other receivables 11 3,368 3,015 4,594

Investments 12 2,660 – –

Prepayments   678 175 579

Inventory 13 191 100 246

Total current assets   9,867 9,078 11,362

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 14 13,198 15,380 10,420

Intangible assets 15 4,628 4,959 4,019

Total non-current assets   17,826 20,339 14,439

Total assets   27,693 29,417 25,801

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Creditors and other payables 16 2,956 3,836 5,015

Finance leases 17 266 266 255

Provision for employee entitlements 18 1,572 1,813 1,541

Provisions 19 12 – 12

Total current liabilities   4,806 5,915 6,823

Non-current liabilities

Finance leases 17 2,348 2,348 2,614

Provisions 19 92 – 96

Total non-current liabilities   2,440 2,348 2,710

Total liabilities   7,246 8,263 9,533

EQUITY

Crown contribution 20 23,959 24,587 19,206

Accumulated surplus/ (deficit) 20 (4,188) (4,023) (3,528)

Revaluation reserve 20 676 590 590

Total equity   20,447 21,154 16,268

Total equity & liabilities   27,693 29,417 25,801

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows  
for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Crown Revenue   15,691 15,393 15,621

Marine safety charge   17,802 17,600 17,770

Other third party   5,966 5,821 4,704

Interest revenue   159 189 173

Payments to employees   (21,058) (20,795) (20,727)

Payments to suppliers   (16,658) (15,056) (14,802)

Capital charge   (1,377) (1,439) (943)

Goods & services tax (net)   (138) – 290

Net cash flows from operating activities 21 387 1,713 2,086

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment   11 – 20

Purchase of property, plant & equipment   (3,880) (4,294) (3,912)

Purchase of intangible assets   (1,649) (2,425) (1,676)

Acquisitions of investments   (2,660) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities   (8,178) (6,719) (5,568)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments of Finance leases 17 (326) (326) (313)

Capital contribution   5,144 4,800 3,409

Net cash flows from financing activities   4,818 4,474 3,096

Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents   (2,973) (532) (386)

Opening cash balance at 1 July   5,943 6,320 6,329

Closing cash balance at 30 June   2,970 5,788 5,943

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid and 
received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as 
the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements  
for Maritime New Zealand

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Reporting entity
Maritime NZ is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown 
Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and operates 
in New Zealand. The relevant legislation governing 
Maritime NZ’s operations included the Crown Entities 
Act 2004 and the Maritime Transport Act 1994. As 
such, Maritime NZ’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand 
Crown.

Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide Maritime 
Regulatory, and Search and Rescue response services 
to the New Zealand public as opposed to that of 
making a financial return. Accordingly, Maritime NZ has 
designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the 
purposes of financial reporting standards.

These financial statements for Maritime NZ are for the 
year ended 30 June 2016 and were approved by the 
Authority on 31 October 2016.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the 
requirement to comply with New Zealand’s generally 
accepted accounting practice (GAAP).

These financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Tier 1 PBE financial reporting 
standards and other applicable financial reporting 
standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

These financial statements are the first financial 
statements presented in accordance with the new 
PBE accounting standards. There are no material 
adjustments arising on transition to the new PBE 
accounting standards.

Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on an 
historical cost basis, except where modified by the 
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and 
equipment.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in 
New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency 
of Maritime NZ is New Zealand dollars.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies 
during the financial year.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that 
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted

In May 2013, the External Reporting Board issued a 
new suite of PBE accounting standards for application 
by public sector entities for reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2014. Maritime NZ has applied these 
standards in preparing the financial statements.

Maritime NZ has not early adopted any new standards 
and interpretations.

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently to 
all periods presented in these financial statements.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable.

Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown, and 
is restricted in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ 
meeting its objectives, as specified in its founding 
legislation and the scope of the relevant appropriations 
of the funder. Maritime NZ considers that there are no 
conditions attached to the funding and it is recognised 
as revenue at the point of entitlement. The fair value 
of revenue from the Crown has been determined 
to be equivalent to the amounts due in the funding 
arrangements. Revenue derived from the provision of 
services to third parties is recognised in proportion to 
the stage of completion at balance date. Marine safety 
charges are based on information from New Zealand 
Customs regarding port visits for international revenue. 
The domestic portion is derived from annual registration 
of vessels and is recognised in the period to which it 
relates.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method. Interest income on an impaired financial asset 
is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when 
Maritime NZ has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Capital charge
The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the 
period to which the charge relates.



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 85

Leases

Finance leases

Leases that transfer to Maritime NZ substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred, are 
classified as finance leases. At the commencement of 
the lease term, Maritime NZ recognises finance leases 
as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial 
position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item 
or the present value of the minimum lease payment. The 
finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated 
over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether 
Maritime NZ will obtain ownership at the end of the 
lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter 
of the lease term and its useful life.

Operating leases

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to 
Maritime NZ are classified as operating leases. Lease 
payments under an operating lease are recognised as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease in the surplus or deficit.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus 
or deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the 
total lease expense.

Taxation
Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently is 
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly 
no charge for income tax has been provided for. 
Maritime NZ is not exempt from indirect tax legislation 
such as that relating to Goods and Services Tax, Pay 
As You Earn or Accident Compensation Corporation 
levies, and therefore is required to comply with these 
regulations.

Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are presented on 
a Goods and Services Tax-exclusive basis, with the 
exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable, 
which are stated as Goods and Services Tax inclusive. 
Where Goods and Services Tax is not recoverable as an 
input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or 
expense.

The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable 
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as part 
of debtors and other receivables or creditors and other 
payables in the statement of financial position. The net 
Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received from, the 
Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services Tax 
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified 

as an operating cash flow in the statement of  
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
exclusive of Goods and Services Tax.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the statement of 
performance expectations, as approved by the Authority 
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures 
have been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 PBE 
accounting standards using accounting policies that are 
consistent with those adopted by the Authority for the 
preparation of the financial statements.

Cost allocation
Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by 
using the cost allocation system outlined below.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an 
output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with a 
specific output. Direct costs are charged directly to 
outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based 
on cost drivers and related activity/usage information. 
Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset utilisation. 
Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time 
incurred. Other indirect costs are assigned to outputs, 
based on the proportion of full-time equivalents.

There have been no changes to the cost allocation 
methodology since the date of the last audited financial 
statements.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits held on call with banks, and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less.

Debtors and other receivables
Debtors and other receivables are recorded at their face 
value, less any provision for impairment. Impairment 
of a receivable is established when there is objective 
evidence that Maritime NZ will not be able to collect 
amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, 
receivership or liquidation, and default in payments are 
considered indicators that the debtor is impaired.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the 
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. When the 
receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the 
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allowance account for receivables. Overdue receivables 
that have been renegotiated are reclassified as current 
(that is, not past due).

Investments
At each balance sheet date, Maritime NZ assesses 
whether there is any objective evidence that an 
investment is impaired.

Bank deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at 
fair value plus transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
investments in bank deposits are measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, 
less any provision for impairment.

For bank deposits, impairment is established when there 
is objective evidence that Maritime NZ will not be able 
to collect amounts due according to the original terms 
of the deposit. Significant financial difficulties of the 
bank, probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy, 
liquidation, and default in payments are considered 
indicators that the deposit is impaired.

Inventory
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in 
the provision of services that are not supplied on a 
commercial basis are measured at cost (determined 
on the weighted average cost method), adjusted 
when applicable, for any loss of service potential. 
Where inventories are acquired through non-exchange 
transactions, the cost is the current replacement cost 
at the date of acquisition. This valuation includes 
allowances for slow moving and obsolete stock.

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service 
potential or from cost to net realisable value is 
recognised in the surplus or deficit in the period of the 
write-down.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which 
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated 
into New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are 
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of:

• lighthouses

• navigational lights, buoys and day beacons

• plant and equipment

• motor vehicles

• furniture, fittings and office equipment

• computer equipment

• leasehold improvements

• land.

Land is measured at fair value. All other assets 
classes are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from fair value, and at least every year.

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed 
every three years by independent valuers to ensure 
that they do not differ materially from fair value. If there 
is evidence supporting a material difference, then the 
off-cycle assets classes are revalued.

Accounting for revaluations
Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of property, plant 
and equipment on a class of assets basis.

The results of revaluing are credited or debited to 
other comprehensive revenue and expense and 
are accumulated to an asset revaluation reserve in 
equity. Where this results in a debit balance in the 
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed 
in the surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on 
revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value 
recognised in the surplus or deficit will be recognised 
first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously 
expensed, and then credited to the revaluation reserve 
for that class of asset.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment 
and is not depreciated.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and 
equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an 
asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, 
it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
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asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the 
surplus or deficit.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included 
in revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are 
transferred to general funds.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item 
will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as 
they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant and equipment other than land, at rates 
that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to 
their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The 
useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in 
the preparation of these statements are as follows:

ASSET TYPE
USEFUL 

LIFE (YEARS)
DEPRECIATION 

METHOD

Lighthouses 10–40 straight-line

Navigational lights, 
buoys & day beacons

10–20 straight-line

Plant and equipment 5–10 straight-line

Motor vehicles 5 straight-line

Furniture, fittings & 
office equipment

5 straight-line

Computer equipment 3 straight-line

Leasehold 
improvements

2–9 straight-line

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated 
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is 
shorter.

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, 
and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on 
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software.

Costs directly associated with the development of 
software for internal use by Maritime NZ are recognised 
as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software 

development, employee costs and an appropriate 
portion of relevant overheads.

Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with the development and 
maintenance of Maritime NZ’s website are recognised 
as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use 
and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of 
major classes of intangible assets have been estimated 
as follows:

ASSET TYPE
USEFUL  

LIFE (YEARS)
AMORTISATION 

METHOD

Acquired 3–5 straight-line

Developed 8 straight-line

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, and intangible assets
Maritime NZ does not hold any cash-generating assets. 
Assets are considered cash-generating where their 
primary objective is to generate a commercial return.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that 
have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is determined using an approach based 
on either depreciated replacement cost approach, 
restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. 
The most appropriate approach used to measure value 
in use depends on the nature of the impairment and 
availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and 
the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable 
amount. For revalued assets, the impairment loss 
is recognised in other comprehensive revenue and 
expense to the extent that the impairment against the 
revaluation reserve. Where that results in a debit balance 
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in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in 
the surplus or deficit.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is 
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense 
and increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class 
of asset. However, to the extent that an impairment loss 
for that class of asset was previously recognised in the 
Surplus or deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is 
also recognised in the surplus or deficit.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or 
deficit.

Creditors and other payables
Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at 
their face value.

Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements

These include salaries and wages accrued up to 
balance date, annual leave earned, but not yet taken at 
balance date are measured at undiscounted nominal 
values, based on accrued entitlements at current rates 
of pay.

Employee entitlements that Maritime NZ expects to 
be settled within 12 months of balance date in which 
the employee renders the related service, is based on 
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. Annual 
leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis in 
accordance with the Holidays Act 2003.

Maritime NZ does not recognise a liability for sick leave, 
as staff have an unlimited entitlement.

Maritime NZ recognises a liability and an expense for 
bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay them, 
or where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation.

Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and Tower 
LifeSaver are accounted for as defined contribution 
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an 
expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Defined benefit schemes

Obligations for contributions to Government 
Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined 
contribution superannuation scheme and are recognised 
as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Provisions
Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future 
expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there 
is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that expenditure 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time, value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
as an interest expense and is included in finance costs.

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when 
Maritime NZ has approved a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring that has either been announced publicly to 
those affected, or for which implementation has already 
commenced.

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ has 
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. 
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimating the fair value of land and buildings

The significant assumptions applied in determining the 
fair value of land and buildings is disclosed in note 13.

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets’ useful lives and 
residual value
At each balance date, Maritime NZ reviews the 
useful lives and residual values of its property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets. Assessing 
the appropriateness of useful life and residual value 
estimates of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets requires Maritime NZ to consider 
a number of factors, such as the physical condition 
of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by 
Maritime NZ, and expected disposal proceeds from the 
future sale of the asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual 
value will impact the depreciation/amortisation 
expense recognised in the surplus or deficit, and on 
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the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of 
financial position. Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this 
estimation uncertainty by:

• physical inspections of assets

• asset replacement programmes

• analysis of prior asset sales.

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to past 
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values, 
except where individual assets have been impaired or 
written off during the financial year due to observable 
changes in the asset itself.

Critical judgements
No critical judgements have been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements.

Commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on 
contracts that relate to unperformed goods or services 
that have been entered into a balance date are 
disclosed as commitments. Commitments disclosed 
include those operating and capital commitments 

arising from non-cancellable contractual or statutory 
obligations.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that 
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets 
are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be 
realised.

Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, 
held in bank accounts and demand deposits in which 
Maritime NZ invests as part of its day-to-day cash 
management.

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments 
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel 
expenses, interest and capital charge. Investing 
activities are those activities relating to the acquisition 
and disposal of non-current assets, intangible assets 
and investments.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and 
debt capital structure of Maritime NZ.

NOTE 2: REVENUE FROM THE CROWN
Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown for the specific purposes of Maritime NZ, as set 
out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriations. Apart from these general 
restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to government funding (2015: nil).

NOTE 3: OTHER REVENUE

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Seafarer licensing 923 683

Ship registration 251 213

User charges 1,740 1,884

Other income 645 473

OIL POLLUTION RECOVERY

Oil pollution recovery 690 690

FUNDING FROM CROWN AGENCIES

Ministry of Transport 899 899

NZ International Aid and Development Agency 178 293

Total other revenue 5,326 5,135
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NOTE 4: GAINS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Net gain on sale of property, plant & equipment 11 20

Total gains 11 20

NOTE 5: PERSONNEL COSTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Personnel & related costs 20,063 19,415

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 934 878

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 18) 92 (73)

Total personnel costs 21,089 20,220

Employee contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government 
Superannuation Fund and Tower LifeSaver.

NOTE 6: CAPITAL CHARGE
Maritime NZ pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds at 30 June and 31 December each year. The 
capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2016 was 8.0% (2015: 8.0%).

NOTE 7: FINANCE COSTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Interest on finance lease 72 72

Discount unwind on provisions (note 19) (4) (62)

Total finance costs 68 10



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 91

NOTE 8: OTHER EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Administration 1,165 1,259

Authority members’ fees (note 25) 104 119

Bad debts written off 6 –

Donations 6 5

Fees to auditors – audit fees for financial statement audit 83 76

Impairment of receivables (note 11) – 188

Maintenance 1,485 1,429

Marketing & public relations 1,244 1,155

Operating 1,688 1,640

Operating lease expenses 1,124 1,201

Professional & safety services 5,386 5,984

Search & rescue variable costs 871 913

Travel 1,238 1,475

Total other expenses 14,400 15,444

NOTE 9: OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Gain/ (Loss) on foreign exchange forward contracts (316) 511

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense (316) 511

NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Cash on hand and at bank 2,970 396

Cash equivalents – term deposits – 5,547

Total cash & equivalents 2,970 5,943

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair  
value. The weighted average effective interest rate for transaction accounts and short-term deposits is 1.99%  
(2015: 3.43%).
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NOTE 11: DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Trade debtors 2,378 2,748

Less: provision for impairment (81) (279)

Net trade debtors 2,297 2,469

Other accounts receivable 1,071 2,125

Total debtors and other receivables 3,368 4,594

TOTAL DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES COMPRISES    

Receivables from the sale of goods and services (exchange transactions) 586 1,307

Receivables from Maritime levies and Crown Revenue (non-exchange transactions) 2,782 3,287

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2016 and 2015, all overdue receivables 
have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below:

DEBTORS AGING

ACTUAL 2016 ACTUAL 2015

GROSS
$000

IMPAIRMENT
$000

NET
$000

GROSS
$000

IMPAIRMENT
$000

NET
$000

Not past due 2,996 – 2,996 3,473 – 3,473

Past due 1–30 days 183 – 183 1,004 (197) 807

past due 31–60 days 108 – 108 283 – 283

Past due 61–90 days 24 – 24 27 – 27

Past due > 90 days 138 (81) 57 86 (82) 4

Total 3,449 (81) 3,368 4,873 (279) 4,594

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for Maritime NZ’s pool of debtors. 
Expected losses are based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors. 
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Balance at 1 July 279 91

Additional provisions made during the year (note 8) – 188

Reverse provisions for previous year (198) –

Balance at 30 June 81 279
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NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

CURRENT PORTION

Term deposit 2,660 –

Total investments 2,660 –

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximate their fair value.

NOTE 13: INVENTORY

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Spare parts 191 246

Total inventory 191 246

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $Nil (2015: $Nil) reflecting the current age and 
condition. There have been no reversals of write-downs, no inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, 
some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.
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NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 
 

LIGHT 
HOUSES

$000

BUOYS, DAY 
BEACONS, 

NAVIGATIONAL 
LIGHTS

$000

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT

$000

MOTOR 
VEHICLES

$000

FURNITURE, 
FITTINGS 

AND OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT

$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENT

$000
LAND
$000

WORK IN 
PROGRESS

$000
TOTAL

$000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance at 1 July 2014 2,083 2,508 9,551 862 1,508 1,661 2,123 674 585 21,555

Additions – 23 3,232 – 16 131 15 – 3,425 6,842

Revaluation – – – – – – – (84) – (84)

Work in progress (WIP) – – – – – – – – 181 181

Transfer from WIP 44 – – – 3 324 – – (371) –

Reclassification between categories – – (85) – – 85 – – – –

Disposals – – – (202) – (751) – – – (953)

Balance at 30 June 2015 2,127 2,531 12,698 660 1,527 1,450 2,138 590 3,820 27,541

Balance at 1 July 2015 2,127 2,531 12,698 660 1,527 1,450 2,138 590 3,820 27,541

Additions 619 13 – – 6 629 305 – 2,308 3,880

Revaluation – – – – – – – 86 – 86

Transfer from WIP 4 – – – – 153 50 – (207) –

Disposals – – (89) (34) (185) – (282) – – (590)

Balance at 30 June 2016 2,750 2,544 12,609 626 1,348 2,232 2,211 676 5,921 30,917

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2014 1,133 2,034 8,923 715 1,126 1,390 1,633 – – 16,954

Depreciation expense 85 67 404 61 123 313 67 – – 1,120

Elimination on disposal – – – (202) – (751) – – – (953)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,218 2,101 9,327 574 1,249 952 1,700 – – 17,121

Balance at 1 July 2015 1,218 2,101 9,327 574 1,249 952 1,700 – – 17,121

Depreciation expense 83 65 409 57 103 374 72 – – 1,163

Elimination on disposal – – (88) (34) (184) – (259) – – (565)

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,301 2,166 9,648 597 1,168 1,326 1,513 – – 17,719

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 30 June 2015 909 430 3,371 86 278 498 438 590 3,820 10,420

At 30 June 2016 1,449 378 2,961 29 180 906 698 676 5,921 13,198

Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of Maritime NZ in 1993 was revalued 
by an independent registered valuer, Beca Limited, on 30 June 2016. The net carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment held under finance leases is $2,614,055 (2015: $2,869,166). 



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 95

NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 
 

LIGHT 
HOUSES

$000

BUOYS, DAY 
BEACONS, 

NAVIGATIONAL 
LIGHTS

$000

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT

$000

MOTOR 
VEHICLES

$000

FURNITURE, 
FITTINGS 

AND OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT

$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENT

$000
LAND
$000

WORK IN 
PROGRESS

$000
TOTAL

$000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance at 1 July 2014 2,083 2,508 9,551 862 1,508 1,661 2,123 674 585 21,555

Additions – 23 3,232 – 16 131 15 – 3,425 6,842

Revaluation – – – – – – – (84) – (84)

Work in progress (WIP) – – – – – – – – 181 181

Transfer from WIP 44 – – – 3 324 – – (371) –

Reclassification between categories – – (85) – – 85 – – – –

Disposals – – – (202) – (751) – – – (953)

Balance at 30 June 2015 2,127 2,531 12,698 660 1,527 1,450 2,138 590 3,820 27,541

Balance at 1 July 2015 2,127 2,531 12,698 660 1,527 1,450 2,138 590 3,820 27,541

Additions 619 13 – – 6 629 305 – 2,308 3,880

Revaluation – – – – – – – 86 – 86

Transfer from WIP 4 – – – – 153 50 – (207) –

Disposals – – (89) (34) (185) – (282) – – (590)

Balance at 30 June 2016 2,750 2,544 12,609 626 1,348 2,232 2,211 676 5,921 30,917

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2014 1,133 2,034 8,923 715 1,126 1,390 1,633 – – 16,954

Depreciation expense 85 67 404 61 123 313 67 – – 1,120

Elimination on disposal – – – (202) – (751) – – – (953)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,218 2,101 9,327 574 1,249 952 1,700 – – 17,121

Balance at 1 July 2015 1,218 2,101 9,327 574 1,249 952 1,700 – – 17,121

Depreciation expense 83 65 409 57 103 374 72 – – 1,163

Elimination on disposal – – (88) (34) (184) – (259) – – (565)

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,301 2,166 9,648 597 1,168 1,326 1,513 – – 17,719

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 30 June 2015 909 430 3,371 86 278 498 438 590 3,820 10,420

At 30 June 2016 1,449 378 2,961 29 180 906 698 676 5,921 13,198

Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of Maritime NZ in 1993 was revalued 
by an independent registered valuer, Beca Limited, on 30 June 2016. The net carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment held under finance leases is $2,614,055 (2015: $2,869,166). 
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NOTE 15: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:

 

ACQUIRED 
SOFTWARE

$000

INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE

$000

WORK IN 
PROGRESS

$000
TOTAL

$000

Balance at 1 July 2014 3,241 3,098 1,535 7,874

Reclassification of opening balance (1,625) 1,625 – –

Additions 244 625 – 869

Work in progress (WIP) – – 807 807

Transfers from intangible WIP 387 1,017 (1,404) –

Disposals (198) – – (198)

Balance at 30 June 2015 2,049 6,365 938 9,352

Balance at 1 July 2015 2,049 6,365 938 9,352

Additions 63 – – 63

Work in progress (WIP) – – 1,578 1,578

Transfers from intangible WIP 379 546 (925) –

Balance at 30 June 2016 2,491 6,911 1,591 10,993

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2014 2,441 2,080 – 4,521

Reclassification of opening balance (1,179) 1,179 – –

Amortisation expense 398 584 – 982

Elimination on disposal (170) – – (170)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,490 3,843 – 5,333

Balance at 1 July 2015 1,490 3,843 – 5,333

Amortisation expense 363 669 – 1,032

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,853 4,512 – 6,365

CARRYING AMOUNTS        

At 30 June 2015 559 2,522 938 4,019

At 30 June 2016 638 2,399 1,591 4,628

There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as security 
for liabilities.
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NOTE 16: CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Trade creditors 1,001 2,365

Accrued expenses 1,606 2,177

Total creditors and other payables under exchange transactions 2,607 4,542

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Taxes Payable (GST, FBT, and rates) 255 397

Other 94 76

Total creditors and other payables under non-exchange transactions 349 473 

Total Creditors and other payables 2,956 5,015 

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the 
carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates the fair value.

NOTE 17: FINANCE LEASE

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

CURRENT PORTION

Finance Lease 266 255

Total current portion 266 255

NON-CURRENT PORTION

Finance Lease 2,348 2,614

Total non-current portion 2,348 2,614

The net carrying amount of assets held under finance leases is disclosed in note 14.
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Analysis of finance lease

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE

Not later than one year 338 327

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,430 1,400

Later than five years 1,490 1,858

Total minimum lease payments 3,258 3,585

Future finance charges (644) (716)

Present value of minimum lease payments 2,614 2,614

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLES

Not later than one year 266 255

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,144 1,114

Later than five years 1,204 1,500

Total present value of minimum lease payments 2,614 2,869

Maritime New Zealand entered into a finance lease of equipment used for the national maritime distress and safety 
radio service for 11 years from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2025 with Kordia Limited. The net carrying amount of this 
asset held under finance lease is shown in note 14.

NOTE 18: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Current annual leave 1,002 910

Accrued salary and wages 570 631

Total employee entitlements 1,572 1,541

NOTE 19: PROVISIONS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY

Lease make good 12 12

Total current provisions 12 12

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY

Lease make good 92 96

Total non-current provisions 92 96

Total provisions 104 108
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:

 

LEASE  
MAKE-GOOD

$000

Balance at 1 July 2014 170

Additional provisions made –

Discount unwind provision (note 7) (62)

Balance at 30 June 2015 108

Balance at 1 July 2015 108

Additional provisions made –

Discount unwind provision (note 7) (4)

Balance at 30 June 2016 104

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any 
damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed 
by Maritime NZ. In many cases, Maritime NZ has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing 
of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about Maritime NZ’s leasing arrangements is 
disclosed in Note 22.

NOTE 20: EQUITY

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

GENERAL FUNDS

Balance at 1 July as previously reported 19,206 15,088

Capital contribution 4,753 4,118

Balance at 30 June 23,959 19,206

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Balance at 1 July as previously reported (3,528) (3,695)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (660) 167

Balance at 30 June (4,188) (3,528)

REVALUATION RESERVE

Balance at 1 July 590 674

Revaluations 86 (84)

Balance at 30 June 676 590

Total equity 30 June 20,447 16,268

The revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2016 consists of land $676,000 (2015: land $590,000).
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NOTE 21: RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

ACTUAL 
2015/16 

$000 

ACTUAL 
2014/15 

$000 

Net surplus/(deficit) (660) 167 

ADD/(LESS) NON-CASH ITEMS 

Depreciation & amortisation 2,195 2,102 

Impairment of receivables (12) 12 

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 25 39 

Total non-cash items 2,208 2,153 

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING/FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment (11) (20) 

Interest payments on finance leases 72 72 

Total items classified as investing/ financing activities 61 52 

ADD/(LESS) MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL 

(Increase)/decrease: Debtors and other receivables 819 (249) 

(Increase)/decrease: Prepayments (99) 43 

(Increase)/decrease: Inventories 55 (46) 

Increase/(decrease): Creditors and other payables (2,043) (154) 

Increase/(decrease): Finance leases 11 255 

Increase/(decrease): Employee entitlements 31 (73) 

Increase/(decrease): Provisions 4 (62) 

Net movements in working capital items (1,222) (286) 

Net cash from operations 387 2,086 
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NOTE 22: OPERATING LEASES

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable and operating leases:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES

Not later than 1 year 3,748 4,000

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 14,653 15,657

Later than 5 years 12,346 13,921

Total non-cancellable operating leases 30,747 33,578

Maritime NZ has recognised a make-good provision of $104,119 (2015: $107,570) in respect of these leases (refer 
Note 19). Operating lease payments relating to the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications Services 
Agreement amount to $26,418,157 (2015: $29,345,778).

NOTE 23: CONTINGENCIES

Contingent liabilities
Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2015: $nil).

Contingent assets
Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2015: $nil).

NOTE 24: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related-party transactions
Maritime NZ is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of Maritime NZ, 
in addition to being a major source of its revenue. Maritime NZ enters into all related-party transactions on an arm’s 
length basis.

Significant transaction with government-related entities

Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown of $15,881,000 (2015: $15,621,000) for specific 
purposes as set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriation. Funding from 
Crown agencies, Ministry of Transport $899,000 (2015: $899,000) and NZ Aid $178,000 (2015: $293,000).

Collectively, but not individually significant, transactions with government-related entities

In conducting its activities, Maritime NZ is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods and Services 
Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn Tax, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The 
payment of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply 
to all tax and levy payers. Maritime NZ is exempt from paying income tax.
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The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate 
value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they 
have control or significant influence were as follows:

TRANSACTION REF

TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

BALANCE OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and 
administrative support to New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund

1 690 690 10 37

Maritime NZ – amounts receivable from 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

  – – 28 78

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs costs directly. These 
costs are recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties 
(2015: $nil).

Key management personnel compensation

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

BOARD MEMBERS

Remuneration 104 119

Full-time equivalent members 0.2 0.2

LEADERSHIP TEAM

Remuneration 1,853 1,832

Full-time equivalent members 8.0 8.0

Total Key management personnel remuneration 1,957 1,951

Total full time equivalent personnel 8.2 8.2

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining seven members of 
the executive team (2015: eight members). 



MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 103

NOTE 25: AUTHORITY MEMBER REMUNERATION
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was as follows:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

David Ledson (Chairman) 39 39

Maxine Moana-Tuwhangai 7 20

Peter Cowper 20 20

Belinda Vernon 20 20

Russell Watson 4 20

Blair O’Keeffe 8 –

Janice Fredric 6 –

Total Authority member remuneration 104 119

There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority, who were not Authority 
members, during the financial year.

Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken in the performance of 
Maritime NZ’s functions.

Maritime NZ has affected directors’ and officers’ liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during the 
financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and employees.

NOTE 26: EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE $
ACTUAL 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2014/15

100,000–109,999 27 27

110,000–119,999 20 16

120,000–129,999 16 13

130,000–139,999 10 6

140,000–149,999 4 7

150,000–159,999 6 6

160,000–169,999 6 1

170,000–179,999 2 3

180,000–189,999 2 1

190,000–199,999 – –

200,000–209,999 1 2

210,000–219,999 2 3

220,000–229,999 1 –

230,000–239,999 2 1

290,000–299,999 – 1

300,000–309,999 1 –

Total employees 100 87

During the year ended 30 June 2016 one (2015: nil) employee received compensation and other benefits in relation 
to cessation totalling $27,005 (2015: $nil). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation 
to cessation (2015: $nil).
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NOTE 27: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.

NOTE 28: CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

LOANS & RECEIVABLES

Cash & cash equivalents (note 10) 2,970 5,943

Debtors & other receivables (note 11) 3,368 4,594

Total loans & receivables 6,338 10,537

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Creditors & other payables (note 16) 2,956 5,015

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,956 5,015

NOTE 29: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS
Maritime NZ’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments, and seeks to 
minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are 
speculative in nature.

Market risk
The interest rates on Maritime NZ’s investments are disclosed in note 10.

Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. Maritime NZ’s exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits, which are held at 
fixed rates of interest.

Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow interest rate 
risk. Maritime NZ’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term 
interest rate movements. Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments.

Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2016, if interest rates on transaction accounts and term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with 
all other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have been $28,135 (2015: $27,737) higher/lower. 
This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term deposits.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and services overseas, which requires it to enter into 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. 
Maritime NZ does not operate any overseas-currency bank accounts.

It is Maritime NZ’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by 
entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign-currency risk exposure.
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime NZ, causing Maritime NZ to incur a 
loss. Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks. 
Maritime NZ’s investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. Maritime NZ has 
processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit.

Maritime NZ’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying 
amount of cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) and net debtors (Note 11). There is no collateral held as security 
against these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.

Maritime NZ has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit customers and invests 
funds only with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor’s credit ratings.

Maritime NZ holds cash with Westpac, ANZ, Bank of New Zealand, Kiwibank and ASB.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they 
fall due. Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market 
positions. Maritime NZ mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual forecast and actual cash flow 
requirements.

Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.

The table below analyses Maritime NZ’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining 
period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows.

 

LESS THAN 
31 DAYS

$000

BETWEEN 31 
& 60 DAYS

$000

BETWEEN 61 
& 90 DAYS

$000

OVER 90 
DAYS
$000

2015

Creditors & other payables (note 16) 4,748 248 19 –

2016

Creditors & other payables (note 16) 2,956 – – –

NOTE 30: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Maritime NZ’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by 
net assets.

Maritime NZ is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, 
which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing of guarantees and indemnities, 
and the use of derivatives.

Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose 
while remaining a going concern.

NOTE 31: EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for significant variations from Maritime NZ’s budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance 
Expectation 2015–2016 are as follows:
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Statement of financial performance

Crown revenue
Revenue is above budget as a result of additional one-off funding for the implementation phase of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act.

Marine Safety Charge
Revenue is under budget due to slightly fewer New Zealand port visits by international commercial vessels paying the 
marine safety charge, during the year.

Other revenue
Revenue is lower than budget as a result of the following:

• Some reduction in Seacert revenue due to applications to transition legacy seafarer certificates being placed on 
hold for the second half of the year, while the policy approach was reviewed.

• A refinement of the processing model for MOSS caused an increase in non-fee-able time spent on upfront support 
and information provision to operators, which then resulted in a reduction in fee-able application assessment time. 
These application processing efficiencies were flowed through to the fees charged to operators.

Personnel and other expenses
Personnel expenses are marginally higher than budget due to the additional contract support staff utilised to 
implement Health and Safety at Work Act requirements and undertake work on the Mid-point funding review.

Depreciation and capital charge expenses are under budget due to a change in the timeline for implementation of 
the Systems Reform capital project, and the MEOSAR capital project being completed at a lower capital cost than 
expected.

Other expenses are below budget primarily due to management reducing expenditure to offset the lower levy and 
fees revenue for the year and reanalysis of expenditure on the Incident Response Project into alternative categories.

Statement of financial position

Debtors and other receivables
The debtors and other receivables are higher than budget due to capital contribution drawdown accruals and 
unrealised foreign exchange gains on forward contract with the New Zealand Debt Management Office.

Creditors and other payables
The Creditors and other payables are higher than budget due to payment pattern revisions made post budget.

NOTE 32: DIRECTIONS ISSUED BY MINISTERS
There were no Directions issued by the Minister within the financial reporting period.
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Appendix 1: Financial Statements for  
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

Chairman’s report

NEW ZEALAND OIL POLLUTION FUND
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil 
installations and pipelines. The levy is risk-based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships 
and types of oil.

The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn 
recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.

The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the ongoing annual contributions from levies are 
applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective 
marine oil pollution response system for New Zealand.

Blair O’Keeffe

Chairman, Maritime NZ

Date: 31 October 2016

Part C: Appendices
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Statement of responsibility  
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
We are responsible for the preparation of New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund financial statements and statement of 
performance, and for the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for any end-of-year performance information provided by New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund under 
section 19A of the Public Finance Act 1989.

We have the responsibility for establishing and maintenance a system of internal control designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Blair O’Keeffe

Chairman, Maritime NZ

Dated: 31 October 2016

Belinda Vernon

Authority member, Maritime NZ

Dated: 31 October 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2016

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the 
financial statements, of the Fund on her behalf.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited:

• the financial statements of the Fund on pages 111 to 130, that comprise the statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2016, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expenses, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of the Fund:

 – present fairly, in all material respects:

 – its financial position as at 30 June 2016;

 – its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

 – comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and have been prepared in accordance 
with the Public Entity Accounting Standards.

Our audit was completed on 31 October 2016. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our 
responsibilities, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our judgement, are likely to 
influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were 
not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements and the performance information. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our 
assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the Fund’s financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

An audit also involves evaluating:

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently applied;

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board;

• the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements. Also, we 
did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements.

We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements that:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

• present fairly the Fund’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004, and the Public 
Finance Act 1989.

The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board is also responsible for 
the publication of the financial statements, whether in printed or electronic form.

Responsibilities of the Auditor

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion to 
you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Independence

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of the External Reporting Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Fund.

Kelly Rushton

Audit New Zealand

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense for 
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

REVENUE

Oil Pollution Levy   6,830 5,768 6,343

Other third party 2 83 47 35

Interest revenue   73 48 72

Gains 3 8 – 4

Total revenue   6,994 5,863 6,454

EXPENDITURE

Personnel costs 4 969 986 1,005

Depreciation & amortisation costs 11,12 483 644 440

Finance costs 5 4 – (5)

Other expenses 6 4,559 3,976 3,887

Total expenditure   6,015 5,606 5,327

Surplus/(deficit)   979 257 1,127

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   979 257 1,127

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 22.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity  
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

Balance at 1 July   8,655 8,030 7,528

Total comprehensive revenue and expense  16 979 257 1,127

Balance at 30 June   9,634 8,287 8,655

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position  
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
As at 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,643 2,476 2,561

Debtors and other receivables 8 507 600 711

Investments 9 1,000 – –

Prepayments   48 30 28

Inventory 10 891 1,515 1,624

Total current assets   5,089 4,621 4,924

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 11 5,485 4,621 4,910

Intangible assets 12 – – 54

Total non-current assets   5,485 4,621 4,964

Total assets   10,574 9,242 9,888

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Creditors and other payables 13 814 850 1,099

Provision for employee entitlements 14 64 50 76

Provisions 15 62 – –

Total current liabilities   940 900 1,175

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 15 – 55 58

Total non-current liabilities   – 55 58

Total liabilities   940 955 1,233

EQUITY 

General funds 16 9,634 8,287 8,655

Total equity   9,634 8,287 8,655

Total equity & liabilities   10,574 9,242 9,888

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 22.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows  
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2016

  NOTES

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Oil Pollution Levy   6,970 5,768 6,094

Other third party   146 47 35

Interest revenue   73 48 72

Payments to employees   (981) (986) (1,022)

Payments to suppliers   (4,044) (3,976) (4,415)

Goods & services tax (net)   (113) – 234

Net cash flows from operating activities   2,051 901 998

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment   8 – 4

Purchase of property, plant & equipment   (977) (1,000) (939)

Acquisition of investments   (1,000) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities   (1,969) (1,000) (935)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents   82 (99) 63

Opening cash balance at 1 July   2,561 2,575 2,498

Closing cash balance at 30 June   2,643 2,476 2,561

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid and 
received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as 
the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements  
for New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Reporting entity
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has designated 
itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of 
financial reporting standards.

The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund have been prepared in accordance with 
section 330(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2016 
and were authorised by the Authority for issue on 31 
October 2016.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which 
includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand 
generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP).

These financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Tier 2 PBE financial reporting 
standards and other applicable financial reporting 
standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

These financial statements are the first financial 
statements presented in accordance with the new 
PBE accounting standards. There are no material 
adjustments arising on transition to the new PBE 
accounting standards.

Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on an 
historical cost basis, except where modified by the 
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and 
equipment.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in 
New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency 
of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is New Zealand 
dollars ($NZD).

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been applied consistently to 
all periods presented in these financial statements.

Revenue
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund earns revenue 
from interest on investments and oil pollution levies. 
Oil pollution levy charges to third parties are based on 
information from New Zealand Customs regarding port 
visits for international vessels. The domestic portion 
are derived from annual registration of vessels. Such 
revenue is recognised when earned, and is reported in 
the financial period to which it relates.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method. Interest income on an impaired financial asset 
is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable.

Leases

Operating leases

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to 
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are classified as 
operating leases. Lease payments under an operating 
lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease in the Surplus or deficit.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus 
or deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the 
total lease expense.

Finance leases

A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually 
transferred. At the commencement of the lease term, 
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises finance 
leases as assets and liabilities in the statement of 
financial position at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased item, or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.

The finance charge is charged to the Surplus or deficit 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. The amount recognised as an asset is 
depreciated over its useful life. If there is no certainty 
as to whether the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will 
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset 
is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and its useful life.
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Debtors and other accounts receivable
Debtors and other accounts receivable are recorded at 
their face value, less any provision for impairment.

Impairment of a receivable is established when there is 
objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund will not be able to collect amounts due according 
to the original terms of the receivable. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or 
liquidation, and default in payments are considered 
indicators that the debtor is impaired.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the 
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. When 
the receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account for receivables. Overdue receivables 
that have been renegotiated are reclassified as current 
(i.e. not past due).

Investments
At each balance sheet date, the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund assesses whether there is any objective 
evidence that an investment is impaired.

Bank deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at 
fair value plus transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
investments in bank deposits are measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, 
less any provision for impairment.

For bank deposits, impairment is established when there 
is objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund will not be able to collect amounts due according 
to the original terms of the deposit. Significant financial 
difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter 
into bankruptcy, liquidation, and default in payments are 
considered indicators that the deposit is impaired.

Inventories
Inventories held for consumption in the provision of 
services that are not issued on a commercial basis are 
measured at cost (determined on the weighted average 
cost method), adjusted when applicable, for any loss 
of service potential. The replacement cost or service 
potential of oil spill dispersant held for distribution 
reflects any obsolescence or any other impairment. The 
write-down from cost to current replacement cost or net 
realisable value is recognised in the surplus or deficit in 
the period when the write-down occurs.

Inventory items used to repair or maintain an asset are 
recorded as an expense in the surplus or deficit. Items 
that replace an existing asset and are over $2,000 are 

recorded as property, plant and equipment, with the 
asset being replaced written off. If the replacement item 
is under $2,000, the cost is recorded as repairs and 
maintenance unless the item is part of an operating 
asset unit, in which case the cost is recorded as 
property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which 
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated 
into New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes are as 
follows:

• plant and equipment

• vessels

• motor vehicles

• furniture, fittings and office equipment

• computer equipment

• leasehold improvements.

All assets classes are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment 
and is not depreciated.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and 
equipment is initially recognised at its cost where an 
asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is 
recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the 
surplus or deficit.
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Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefit or service potential associated with the item will 
flow to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense as they are 
incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant and equipment, at rates that will write-off 
the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated 
residual values over their useful lives.

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used 
in the preparation of these statements are as follows:

ASSET TYPE

USEFUL 
LIFE 

(YEARS)
DEPRECIATION 

METHOD

Plant and equipment 5–50 straight-line

Vessels 10–35 straight-line

Motor vehicles 5 straight-line

Furniture, fittings and 
office equipment

5 straight-line

Computer equipment 3 straight-line

Leasehold 
improvements

2–9 straight-line

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and 
depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease. 
Items under construction are not depreciated. The total 
cost of a capital project is transferred to the appropriate 
asset class on its completion and then depreciated.

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, 
and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software. Costs that are directly 
associated with the development of software for 
internal use by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include 
the software development, employee costs and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs and costs associated with the 
development and maintenance of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund’s website are recognised as an expense 
when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use 
and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of 
major classes of intangible assets have been estimated 
as follows:

ASSET TYPE

USEFUL 
LIFE 

(YEARS)
AMORTISATION 

METHOD

Acquired 3–5 straight-line

Developed 8 straight-line

Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an 
asset where the future economic benefits or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the 
asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and where 
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund would, if deprived of 
the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits 
or service potential.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount 
is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued 
assets, the impairment loss is recognised against the 
asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset to 
the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed 
the amount in the revaluation reserve for that class of 
asset. Where that results in a debit balance in the asset 
revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense.

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is 
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense 
and increases the asset revaluation reserve. However, 
to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of 
asset was previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense, a reversal of the 
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impairment loss is also recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Creditors and other payables
Short-term creditors and payables are recorded at their 
face value.

Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements

These include salaries and wages accrued up to 
balance date, annual leave earned but not yet taken at 
balance date.

Employee entitlements that the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund expects to be settled within 12 months 
of balance date that the employee renders the related 
service, is based on accrued entitlements at current 
rates of pay. Annual leave is calculated on an actual 
entitlement basis in accordance with the Holidays Act 
2003.

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund does not recognise 
a liability for sick leave, as staff have an unlimited 
entitlement.

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a liability 
and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually 
obliged to pay them, or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation.

Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver are accounted 
for as defined contribution superannuation schemes 
and are recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense as incurred.

Defined benefit schemes

Obligations for contributions to Government 
Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined 
benefit superannuation scheme and are recognised as 
an expense in the statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense as incurred.

Provisions
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a 
provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or 
timing when there is a present obligation (either legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that expenditures will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
as an interest expense and is included in finance costs.

Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are presented on 
a Goods and Services Tax exclusive basis, with the 
exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable, 
which are stated with Goods and Services Tax included. 
Where Goods and Services Tax is not recoverable as 
input tax, then it is recognised as part of the related 
asset or expense.

The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable 
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial 
position.

The net Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received 
from Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services 
Tax relating to investing and financing activities, is 
classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
exclusive of Goods and Services Tax.

Income tax
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a public authority 
in terms of the Income Tax Act 2007 and consequently 
is exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no charge for 
income tax has been provided for.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the statement of 
performance expectations, as approved by the Authority 
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures 
have been prepared in accordance with PBE accounting 
standards using accounting policies that are consistent 
with those adopted by the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund for the preparation of the financial statements. 
Some budget numbers have been classified differently 
from the statement of performance expectations to 
bring them into line with the classifications used in the 
financial statements.

Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the financial period to which 
they relate.

Cost allocation
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has determined 
the cost of outputs by using the cost allocation system 
outlined below.
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Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an 
output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with a 
specific output. Direct costs are charged directly to 
outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based 
on cost drivers and related activity/usage information. 
Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset utilisation. 
Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time 
incurred. Other indirect costs are assigned to outputs, 
based on the proportion of full-time equivalents.

There have been no changes to the cost allocation 
methodology since the date of the last audited financial 
statements.

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has made estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future. These 
estimates and assumptions may differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below:

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets useful lives and residual 
value
At each balance date, the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund reviews the useful lives and residual values of its 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual 
value estimates of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets requires the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund to consider a number of factors, such as the 
physical condition of the asset, expected period of use 
of the asset by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and 
expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the 
asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value 
will impact on the depreciation/amortisation expense 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense, and on the carrying amount of the asset 
in the statement of financial position. The New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund minimised the risk of this estimation 
uncertainty by:

• physical inspections of assets

• asset replacement programmes

• review of the second-hand market prices for similar 
assets

• analysis of prior asset sales.

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has not made 
significant changes to past assumptions concerning 
useful lives and residual values except where individual 
assets have been written-off due to observable changes 
to the asset itself.

Capital commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on 
contracts that relate to unperformed goods or services 
that have been entered into at balance date are 
disclosed as commitments. Commitments disclosed 
include those operating and capital commitments 
arising from non-cancellable contractual or statutory 
obligations.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that 
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets 
are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be 
realised.

Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held 
in bank accounts, and demand deposits in which the 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund invests as part of its 
day-to-day cash management.

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments 
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel 
expenses, interest, and capital charges.

Investing activities are those activities relating to 
the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets, 
intangible assets and investments.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and 
debt capital structure of the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund.

Terminology
Output class income and expenditure prior year financial 
information is reclassified to align with the Statement 
of Intent. The reclassification is made to provide 
information that is relevant to the understanding of 
the financial statements and has no impact on the net 
surplus/deficit.
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NOTE 2: OTHER THIRD-PARTY REVENUE

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Equipment hire 9 24

Other Income 74 11

Total other revenue 83 35

NOTE 3: GAINS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Net gain on sale of property, plant & equipment 8 4

Total gains 8 4

NOTE 4: PERSONNEL EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Personnel & related costs 934 952

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 51 55

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 14) (16) (2)

Total personnel costs 969 1,005

NOTE 5: FINANCE COSTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Discount unwind on provisions (note 15) 4 (5)

Total finance costs 4 (5)
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NOTE 6: OTHER EXPENSES

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Administration 178 93

Costs covered by Maritime NZ 690 690

Consultancy 171 375

Impairment of receivables (note 8) (12) 7

Maintenance 241 136

Marketing & public relations 54 54

Operating 937 234

Operating lease expenses 163 149

Professional & safety services 894 648

Regional council costs 711 789

Travel 262 297

Training & exercises 264 415

Total other expenses 4,559 3,887

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Cash on hand and at bank 2,643 462

Cash equivalents – term deposits – 2,099

Total cash & equivalents 2,643 2,561

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.

The weighted average effective interest rate for transaction account & short-term deposits with maturity dates of 
three months or less is 2.00% (2015: 3.43%).

Due to receiving interest on transaction accounts, only long term cash surplus are place on term deposit, classified as 
investments (note 9).
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NOTE 8: DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Trade debtors 500 653

Less: provision for impairment – (12)

Net trade debtors 500 641

Other accounts receivable 7 70

Total debtors and other receivables 507 711

TOTAL DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES COMPRISES

Receivables from Oil Pollution levies (non-exchange transactions) 507 711

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s 
pool of debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s losses in previous 
periods, and review of specific debtors.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Balance at 1 July 12 5

Additional provisions made during the year (note 8) – 7

Reverse provisions from previous year (note 8) (12) –

Balance at 30 June – 12

NOTE 9: INVESTMENTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Current portion – –

Term deposits 1,000 –

Total investments 1,000 –

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximate their fair value.
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NOTE 10: INVENTORY

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Oil spill response and dispersants 891 1,624

Total inventory 891 1,624

The write-down of dispersant inventories held for distribution amounted to $751,850 (2015: $nil). There have been no 
reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some inventories are subject 
to retention of title clauses.
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NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 
 

PLANT &  
EQUIPMENT

$000
VESSELS

$000

MOTOR  
VEHICLES

$000

FURNITURE, 
FITTINGS AND 

OFFICE EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

$000

WORK IN  
PROGRESS

$000
TOTAL

$000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance at 1 July 2014 9,188 423 286 92 23 60 1,098 11,170

Additions 149 44 – – 21 – – 214

Work in progress   – – – – – 725 725

Transfer from WIP 1,098 – – – – – (1,098) –

Balance at 30 June 2015 10,435 467 286 92 44 60 725 12,109

Balance at 1 July 2015 10,435 467 286 92 44 60 725 12,109

Additions 5 – – – 2 – – 7

Work in progress   – – – – – 972 972

Transfer from WIP 725 – – – – – (725) –

Disposals (2) (63) – – – – – (65)

Balance at 30 June 2016 11,163 404 286 92 46 60 972 13,023

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2014 6,143 245 258 92 23 58 – 6,819

Depreciation expense 333 34 7 – 6 – – 380

Balance at 30 June 2015 6,476 279 265 92 29 58 – 7,199

Balance at 1 July 2015 6,476 279 265 92 29 58 – 7,199

Depreciation expense 361 28 7 – 7 – – 403

Elimination on disposal (1) (63) – – – – – (64)

Balance at 30 June 2016 6,836 244 272 92 36 58 – 7,538

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 30 June 2015 3,959 188 21 – 15 2 725 4,910

At 30 June 2016 4,327 160 14 – 10 2 972 5,485

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s PPE and there are no PPE pledged as 
security for liabilities.
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NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 
 

PLANT &  
EQUIPMENT

$000
VESSELS

$000

MOTOR  
VEHICLES

$000

FURNITURE, 
FITTINGS AND 

OFFICE EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

$000

WORK IN  
PROGRESS

$000
TOTAL

$000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance at 1 July 2014 9,188 423 286 92 23 60 1,098 11,170

Additions 149 44 – – 21 – – 214

Work in progress   – – – – – 725 725

Transfer from WIP 1,098 – – – – – (1,098) –

Balance at 30 June 2015 10,435 467 286 92 44 60 725 12,109

Balance at 1 July 2015 10,435 467 286 92 44 60 725 12,109

Additions 5 – – – 2 – – 7

Work in progress   – – – – – 972 972

Transfer from WIP 725 – – – – – (725) –

Disposals (2) (63) – – – – – (65)

Balance at 30 June 2016 11,163 404 286 92 46 60 972 13,023

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2014 6,143 245 258 92 23 58 – 6,819

Depreciation expense 333 34 7 – 6 – – 380

Balance at 30 June 2015 6,476 279 265 92 29 58 – 7,199

Balance at 1 July 2015 6,476 279 265 92 29 58 – 7,199

Depreciation expense 361 28 7 – 7 – – 403

Elimination on disposal (1) (63) – – – – – (64)

Balance at 30 June 2016 6,836 244 272 92 36 58 – 7,538

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 30 June 2015 3,959 188 21 – 15 2 725 4,910

At 30 June 2016 4,327 160 14 – 10 2 972 5,485

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s PPE and there are no PPE pledged as 
security for liabilities.
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NOTE 12: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:

 
 

ACQUIRED 
SOFTWARE

$000

INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE

$000
TOTAL

$000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance at 1 July 2014 27 492 519

Balance at 30 June 2015 27 492 519

Balance at 1 July 2015 27 492 519

Balance at 30 June 2016 27 492 519

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2014 27 378 405

Amortisation expense – 60 60

Balance at 30 June 2015 27 438 465

Balance at 1 July 2015 27 438 465

Amortisation expense – 54 54

Balance at 30 June 2015 27 492 519

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 30 June 2015 – 54 54

At 30 June 2016 – – –

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s intangible assets, and there are no 
intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.

NOTE 13: CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Trade creditors 288 397

Accrued expenses 515 577

Total creditors and other payables under exchange transactions 803 974

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Taxes Payable (GST, FBT, and rates) (2) 111

Other 13 14

Total creditors and other payables under non-exchange transactions 11 125

Total Creditors and other payables 814 1,099

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the 
carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.
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NOTE 14: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

Current annual leave 43 51

Accrued salary and wages 21 25

Total employee entitlements 64 76

NOTE 15: PROVISIONS

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY

Lease make good 62 –

Total non-current provisions 62 –

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY

Lease make good – 58

Total non-current provisions – 58

Total provisions 62 58

Movements for each class of provision are as follows:

 

LEASE  
MAKE-GOOD

$000

Balance at 1 July 2014 63

Discount unwind provision (note 5) (5)

Balance at 30 June 2015 58

Balance at 1 July 2015 58

Discount unwind provision (note 5) 4

Balance at 30 June 2016 62

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to 
make good any damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or 
fittings installed by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. In many cases, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has the 
option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. 
Information about the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in note 17.
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NOTE 16: EQUITY

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

GENERAL FUNDS

Balance at 1 July as previously reported 15,282 15,282

Balance at 30 June 15,282 15,282

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Balance at 1 July as previously reported (6,627) (7,754)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 979 1,127

Balance at 30 June (5,648) (6,627)

Total equity 30 June 9,634 8,655

NOTE 17: OPERATING LEASES

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES

Not later than 1 year 39 155

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years – 39

Total non-cancellable operating leases 39 194

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has recognised a make-good provision of $62,000 (2015: $58,000) in respect of 
these leases (note 15).

NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES

Contingent liabilities
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent liabilities (2015: $nil).

Contingent assets
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent assets (2015: $nil).

NOTE 19: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related-party transactions
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences 
the role of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund enters into all related party 
transactions on an arm’s length basis.
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Significant transaction with government-related entities

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund received no Crown Funding in 2016 (2015: $Nil).

Collectively, but not individually, significant, transactions with government-related entities

In conducting its activities, New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods 
and Services Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the 
Crown. The payment of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions 
that apply to all tax and levy payers. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is exempt from paying income tax.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate 
value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they 
have control or significant influence were as follows:

TRANSACTION REF 

TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

BALANCE OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund –  
salaries & administration cost recovered by 
Maritime NZ

1 690 690 10 37

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund –  
amount owed to Maritime NZ

  – – 28 78

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The costs relating to this administration  
have been paid to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties 
(2015: $nil).

Employee remuneration

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE $
ACTUAL 
2015/16

ACTUAL 
2014/15

100,000–109,999 1 –

110,000–119,999 1 2

120,000–129,999 1 1

130,000–139,999 1 –

Total employees 4 3

During the year ended 30 June 2016, no employees received compensation and other benefits in relation  
to cessation (2015: $nil). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to  
cessation (2015: $nil).

NOTE 20: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.
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NOTE 21: CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

 

ACTUAL 
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL 
2014/15

$000

LOANS & RECEIVABLES

Cash & cash equivalents (note 7) 2,643 2,561

Debtors & other receivables (note 8) 507 58

Total loans & receivables 3,150 2,619

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Creditors & other payables (note 12) 814 1,099

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 814 1,099

NOTE 22: EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES  
AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for significant variations from New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s budgeted figures in the Statement of 
Performance Expectations 2015–2016 are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense

Oil pollution levy
Revenue is higher than budget due to a greater leviable tonnage higher than expected. This was predominantly due 
to an increase of oil tankers port visits and an increase in individual vessel tonnages.

Personnel and Other expenses
Depreciation and amortisation costs were below budget as the pattern of new oil spill equipment purchases was 
different to that projected.

Other expenses are above budget due to some oil spill response dispersant stocks being written off after a laboratory 
based assessment that the decreased efficacy levels of these chemicals requires their replacement in 2016/17.

Statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents and investments
Cash and cash equivalents, and cash Investments are higher than budget, arising from the higher than budget 
surplus for the year and higher than expected opening balance at the start of the financial year. The budgeted cash 
inflows for 2015/16 were based primarily on projections made in the original Oil Pollution Levy implementation 
in 2013/14. Increases in leviable volumes in the intervening period caused actual cash inflows to be higher than 
expectation.

NOTE 23: DIRECTIONS ISSUED BY MINISTERS
There were no directions issued by Ministers within the financial reporting period.
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Appendix 2: Maritime New Zealand and Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand additional financial 
information
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand 
with Maritime NZ’s traditional business activities. This appendix provides additional financial information that does 
not form part of Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more detail about the cost of operating Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand.
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

 
NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

REVENUE

Crown 2 10,525 10,053 10,632 5,356 5,340 4,989 15,881 15,393 15,621

Marine safety charge   17,433 17,600 17,465 – – – 17,433 17,600 17,465

Other revenue 3 5,324 5,821 5,135 2 – – 5,326 5,821 5,135

Interest revenue   103 113 110 56 76 63 159 189 173

Gains 4 11 – 20 – – – 11 – 20

Total revenue   33,396 33,587 33,362 5,414 5,416 5,052 38,810 39,003 38,414

EXPENDITURE

Personnel costs 5 18,585 18,230 17,832 2,504 2,565 2,388 21,089 20,795 20,220

Depreciation & amortisation costs 14,15 2,142 2,146 2,051 53 67 51 2,195 2,213 2,102

Property, plant & equipment write-off & impairment 
provision

  – – 39 25 – – 25 – 39

Capital charge 6 894 896 820 483 543 123 1,377 1,439 943

Finance costs 7 75 – 12 (7) – (2) 68 – 10

Other expenses 8 12,093 12,816 13,115 2,307 2,240 2,329 14,400 15,056 15,444

Total expenditure   33,789 34,088 33,869 5,365 5,415 4,889 39,154 39,503 38,758

Surplus/(deficit)   (393) (501) (507) 49 1 163 (344) (500) (344)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense 9 – – 1 (316) – 510 (316) – 511

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense   – – 1 (316) – 510 (316) – 511

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (393) (501) (506) (267) 1 673 (660) (500) 167
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

 
NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

REVENUE

Crown 2 10,525 10,053 10,632 5,356 5,340 4,989 15,881 15,393 15,621

Marine safety charge   17,433 17,600 17,465 – – – 17,433 17,600 17,465

Other revenue 3 5,324 5,821 5,135 2 – – 5,326 5,821 5,135

Interest revenue   103 113 110 56 76 63 159 189 173

Gains 4 11 – 20 – – – 11 – 20

Total revenue   33,396 33,587 33,362 5,414 5,416 5,052 38,810 39,003 38,414

EXPENDITURE

Personnel costs 5 18,585 18,230 17,832 2,504 2,565 2,388 21,089 20,795 20,220

Depreciation & amortisation costs 14,15 2,142 2,146 2,051 53 67 51 2,195 2,213 2,102

Property, plant & equipment write-off & impairment 
provision

  – – 39 25 – – 25 – 39

Capital charge 6 894 896 820 483 543 123 1,377 1,439 943

Finance costs 7 75 – 12 (7) – (2) 68 – 10

Other expenses 8 12,093 12,816 13,115 2,307 2,240 2,329 14,400 15,056 15,444

Total expenditure   33,789 34,088 33,869 5,365 5,415 4,889 39,154 39,503 38,758

Surplus/(deficit)   (393) (501) (507) 49 1 163 (344) (500) (344)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense 9 – – 1 (316) – 510 (316) – 511

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense   – – 1 (316) – 510 (316) – 511

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (393) (501) (506) (267) 1 673 (660) (500) 167
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Statement of changes in net assets/equity
Year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

 
NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

Balance at 1 July   11,241 10,916 10,524 5,027 5,938 1,543 16,268 16,854 12,067

Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains taken 
to equity

20 86 – (84) – – – 86 – (84)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (393) (501) (506) (267) 1 673 (660) (500) 167

Capital contribution 20 1,418 1,800 1,307 3,335 3,000 2,811 4,753 4,800 4,118

Balance at 30 June   12,352 12,215 11,241 8,095 8,939 5,027 20,447 21,154 16,268
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Statement of changes in net assets/equity
Year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

 
NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

Balance at 1 July   11,241 10,916 10,524 5,027 5,938 1,543 16,268 16,854 12,067

Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains taken 
to equity

20 86 – (84) – – – 86 – (84)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (393) (501) (506) (267) 1 673 (660) (500) 167

Capital contribution 20 1,418 1,800 1,307 3,335 3,000 2,811 4,753 4,800 4,118

Balance at 30 June   12,352 12,215 11,241 8,095 8,939 5,027 20,447 21,154 16,268
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Statement of financial position
Year ended 30 June 2016

NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 10 2,377 4,723 3,967 593 1,065 1,976 2,970 5,788 5,943

Debtors and other receivables 11 2,981 3,000 3,696 387 15 898 3,368 3,015 4,594

Investments 12 1,790 – – 870 – – 2,660 – –

Prepayments   486 150 405 192 25 174 678 175 579

Inventory 13 191 100 246 – – – 191 100 246

Total current assets   7,825 7,973 8,314 2,042 1,105 3,048 9,867 9,078 11,362

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 14 6,801 7,164 6,657 6,397 8,216 3,763 13,198 15,380 10,420

Intangible assets 15 4,556 4,934 4,002 72 25 17 4,628 4,959 4,019

Total non-current assets   11,357 12,098 10,659 6,469 8,241 3,780 17,826 20,339 14,439

Total assets   19,182 20,071 18,973 8,511 9,346 6,828 27,693 29,417 25,801

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Creditors and other payables 16 2,780 3,527 3,409 176 309 1,606 2,956 3,836 5,015

Finance leases 17 266 266 255 – – – 266 266  255 

Provision for employee entitlements 18 1,332 1,715 1,352 240 98 189 1,572 1,813 1,541

Provisions 19 12 – 11 – – 1 12 – 12

Total current liabilities   4,390 5,508 5,027 416 407 1,796 4,806 5,915 6,823

Non-current liabilities

Finance leases 17 2,348 2,348 2,614 – – – 2,348 2,348 2,614

Provisions 19 92 – 90 – – 6 92 – 96

Total non-current liabilities   2,440 2,348 2,704 – – 6 2,440 2,348 2,710

Total liabilities   6,830 7,856 7,731 416 407 1,802 7,246 8,263 9,533

EQUITY                    

Crown contribution 20 11,962 11,264 10,544 11,997 13,323 8,662 23,959 24,587 19,206

Accumulated surplus/ (deficit) 20 (286) 361 107 (3,902) (4,384) (3,635) (4,188) (4,023) (3,528)

Revaluation reserve 20 676 590 590 – – – 676 590 590

Total equity   12,352 12,215 11,241 8,095 8,939 5,027 20,447 21,154 16,268

Total equity & liabilities   19,182 20,071 18,972 8,511 9,346 6,829 27,693 29,417 25,801
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Statement of financial position
Year ended 30 June 2016

NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 10 2,377 4,723 3,967 593 1,065 1,976 2,970 5,788 5,943

Debtors and other receivables 11 2,981 3,000 3,696 387 15 898 3,368 3,015 4,594

Investments 12 1,790 – – 870 – – 2,660 – –

Prepayments   486 150 405 192 25 174 678 175 579

Inventory 13 191 100 246 – – – 191 100 246

Total current assets   7,825 7,973 8,314 2,042 1,105 3,048 9,867 9,078 11,362

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 14 6,801 7,164 6,657 6,397 8,216 3,763 13,198 15,380 10,420

Intangible assets 15 4,556 4,934 4,002 72 25 17 4,628 4,959 4,019

Total non-current assets   11,357 12,098 10,659 6,469 8,241 3,780 17,826 20,339 14,439

Total assets   19,182 20,071 18,973 8,511 9,346 6,828 27,693 29,417 25,801

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Creditors and other payables 16 2,780 3,527 3,409 176 309 1,606 2,956 3,836 5,015

Finance leases 17 266 266 255 – – – 266 266  255 

Provision for employee entitlements 18 1,332 1,715 1,352 240 98 189 1,572 1,813 1,541

Provisions 19 12 – 11 – – 1 12 – 12

Total current liabilities   4,390 5,508 5,027 416 407 1,796 4,806 5,915 6,823

Non-current liabilities

Finance leases 17 2,348 2,348 2,614 – – – 2,348 2,348 2,614

Provisions 19 92 – 90 – – 6 92 – 96

Total non-current liabilities   2,440 2,348 2,704 – – 6 2,440 2,348 2,710

Total liabilities   6,830 7,856 7,731 416 407 1,802 7,246 8,263 9,533

EQUITY                    

Crown contribution 20 11,962 11,264 10,544 11,997 13,323 8,662 23,959 24,587 19,206

Accumulated surplus/ (deficit) 20 (286) 361 107 (3,902) (4,384) (3,635) (4,188) (4,023) (3,528)

Revaluation reserve 20 676 590 590 – – – 676 590 590

Total equity   12,352 12,215 11,241 8,095 8,939 5,027 20,447 21,154 16,268

Total equity & liabilities   19,182 20,071 18,972 8,511 9,346 6,829 27,693 29,417 25,801
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

 
NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Crown   10,140 10,053 10,632 5,551 5,340 4,989 15,691 15,393 15,621

Marine safety charge   17,802 17,600 17,770 – – – 17,802 17,600 17,770

Other third party   5,964 5,821 4,704 2 – – 5,966 5,821 4,704

Interest revenue   103 113 110 56 76 63 159 189 173

Payments to employees   (18,605) (18,230) (18,296) (2,453) (2,565) (2,431) (21,058) (20,795) (20,727)

Payments to suppliers   (12,930) (12,816) (13,742) (3,728) (2,240) (1,060) (16,658) (15,056) (14,802)

Capital charge   (894) (896) (820) (483) (543) (123) (1,377) (1,439) (943)

Goods & services tax (net)   (141) – 319 3 – (29) (138) – 290

Net cash flows from operating activities 21 1,439 1,645 677 (1,052) 68 1,409 387 1,713 2,086

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment  11 – 20 – – – 11 – 20

Purchase of property, plant & equipment   (1,147) (784) (467) (2,733) (3,510) (3,445) (3,880) (4,294) (3,912)

Purchase of intangible assets   (1,578) (2,400) (1,676) (63) (25) – (1,649) (2,425) (1,676)

Acquisitions of investments   (1,790) – – (870) – – (2,660) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities   (4,512) (3,184) (2,123) (3,666) (3,535) (3,445) (8,178) (6,719) (5,568)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments of Finance leases  17 (326) (326) (313) – – – (326) (326) (313)

Capital contribution   1,809 1,800 983 3,335 3,000 2,426 5,144 4,800 3,409

Net cash flows from financing activities   1,483 1,474 670 3,335 3,000 2,426 4,818 4,474 3,096

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents  (1,590) (65) (776) (1,383) (467) 390 (2,973) (532) (386)

Opening cash balance at 1 July   3,967 4,788 4,743 1,976 1,532 1,586 5,943 6,320 6,329

Closing cash balance at 30 June   2,377 4,723 3,967 593 1,065 1,976 2,970 5,788 5,943
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 30 June 2016

 
 

 
NOTES

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

ACTUAL
2015/16

$000

BUDGET
2015/16

$000

ACTUAL
2014/15

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Crown   10,140 10,053 10,632 5,551 5,340 4,989 15,691 15,393 15,621

Marine safety charge   17,802 17,600 17,770 – – – 17,802 17,600 17,770

Other third party   5,964 5,821 4,704 2 – – 5,966 5,821 4,704

Interest revenue   103 113 110 56 76 63 159 189 173

Payments to employees   (18,605) (18,230) (18,296) (2,453) (2,565) (2,431) (21,058) (20,795) (20,727)

Payments to suppliers   (12,930) (12,816) (13,742) (3,728) (2,240) (1,060) (16,658) (15,056) (14,802)

Capital charge   (894) (896) (820) (483) (543) (123) (1,377) (1,439) (943)

Goods & services tax (net)   (141) – 319 3 – (29) (138) – 290

Net cash flows from operating activities 21 1,439 1,645 677 (1,052) 68 1,409 387 1,713 2,086

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment  11 – 20 – – – 11 – 20

Purchase of property, plant & equipment   (1,147) (784) (467) (2,733) (3,510) (3,445) (3,880) (4,294) (3,912)

Purchase of intangible assets   (1,578) (2,400) (1,676) (63) (25) – (1,649) (2,425) (1,676)

Acquisitions of investments   (1,790) – – (870) – – (2,660) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities   (4,512) (3,184) (2,123) (3,666) (3,535) (3,445) (8,178) (6,719) (5,568)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments of Finance leases  17 (326) (326) (313) – – – (326) (326) (313)

Capital contribution   1,809 1,800 983 3,335 3,000 2,426 5,144 4,800 3,409

Net cash flows from financing activities   1,483 1,474 670 3,335 3,000 2,426 4,818 4,474 3,096

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents  (1,590) (65) (776) (1,383) (467) 390 (2,973) (532) (386)

Opening cash balance at 1 July   3,967 4,788 4,743 1,976 1,532 1,586 5,943 6,320 6,329

Closing cash balance at 30 June   2,377 4,723 3,967 593 1,065 1,976 2,970 5,788 5,943
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Appendix 3: Recreational boating fatalities  
(by calendar year)
Figure 4: Recreational boating fatalities for calendar years 2000–2015  
(with three-year moving average)
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Appendix 4: Safety notification information
The following charts present a summary of the maritime system safety performance from 2009/10–2014/1550, based 
on maritime incidents reported to Maritime NZ. Comparisons between notifications data and other sources of data 
on the number of harm events (for example, ACC claims) indicate that the notifications captured by Maritime NZ are 
unlikely to be an accurate reflection of the harm events occurring in the maritime system annually, with the actual 
numbers being potentially significantly higher.

Figure 6: Commercial accident notifications
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Figure 7: Commercial serious harm injuries

2014/152013/142012/132011/122010/112009/10

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

Figure 8: Commercial fatalities
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Figure 9: Recreational fatalities
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CATEGORY 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Commercial accidents 262 314 422 317 234 179

Commercial serious harm injuries 67 92 100 105 64 21

Commercial fatalities 9 3 9 3 7 3

Recreational fatalities 21 16 16 15 24 32

50 Fatalities and serious harm figures for 2015/16 (and three previous financial years) are reported as a rate (ie per 100,000 
population rather than raw numbers) for seven out of Maritime NZ’s eight sectors on pages 22–23. This format allows harm 
rates across Maritime sectors to be more consistently compared.
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Appendix 5: Changes to Maritime NZ’s reporting  
of harm events

Over the last year, Maritime NZ has continued to make 
changes to the way harm event data is captured and 
classified. These changes are aimed at improving the 
consistency and relevance of our current harm data, 
and positioning Maritime NZ to access and analyse 
relevant data from other agencies ( such as ACC and 
Statistics NZ). The changes will improve regulatory and 
compliance planning and decision-making and lead 
to changes in the way harm data is reported in our 
quarterly and annual reports.

Reporting harm events for key sectors
From July 2016, Maritime NZ’s quarterly and annual 
reports will report harm events for six of our eight 
sectors; ie for Foreign Shipping, Domestic Coastal 
Shipping, Domestic Fishing, Domestic Passenger/
Non Passenger, Domestic Outdoor and Adventure and 
Recreational Boating. Maritime NZ’s previous quarterly 
reports have reported harm event data as raw numbers 
of fatalities and serious harms for four groups (SOLAS, 
SSM, Commercial Tourism and Commercial <6m) 
reflecting legislative requirements. However, refinements 
to our data capture processes and the introduction of 
MOSS make it more feasible and appropriate for harm 
events to be reported for the key sectors (described 
above) as defined in our Statement of Intent 2015–2021.

In the next financial year, Maritime NZ will consider how 
to achieve meaningful reporting for the two remaining 
sectors, namely the small and highly regulated Offshore 
sector and the Ports and Harbours sector. Harm events 
involving port workers or any other third party, whether 
or not they are actively involved in the operation of that 
vessel at that point in time will be reported under the 
relevant sector that the operation and vessel itself are 
part of. Events that involve port employees working 
on vessels (eg stevedores, who are employed by 
New Zealand port companies) are currently attributed to 
the sector that the ship belongs to, and this practice will 
continue. Maritime NZ recognises that there is significant 
interest in additional reporting of these events under the 
heading of the Ports and Harbours sector. Achieving 
effective, efficient reporting for these two sectors without 
duplicating reporting for the other sectors will require 
some effort.

Change in terminology: Harm events, 
fatalities, notifiable injuries and illnesses
The Health and Safety at Work (HSW) Act 2015 requires 
Maritime NZ to report notifiable events to Worksafe NZ. 
Notifiable events refer to any of the following events that 
arise from work:

(a) the death of a person; or

(b) a notifiable injury or illness; or

(c) a notifiable incident.

The HSW Act has replaced the meaning of the term 
serious harm (as specified in the Maritime Transport 
Act) with ‘death; or a notifiable injury or illness’. As a 
result, Maritime NZ will report harm events distinguishing 
between fatalities and notifiable injuries or illnesses’.

Meaning of notifiable injury or illness 
In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires, 
a notifiable injury or illness, in relation to a person, 
means—

(a) any of the following injuries or illnesses that require 
the person to have immediate treatment (other than 
first aid):

(i) the amputation of any part of his or her body:

(ii) a serious head injury:

(iii) a serious eye injury:

(iv) a serious burn:

(v) the separation of his or her skin from an underlying 
tissue (such as degloving or scalping):

(vi) a spinal injury:

(vii) the loss of a bodily function:

(viii) serious lacerations:

(b) an injury or illness that requires, or would usually 
require, the person to be admitted to a hospital for 
immediate treatment:
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(c) an injury or illness that requires, or would usually 
require, the person to have medical treatment within 
48 hours of exposure to a substance:

(d) any serious infection (including occupational 
zoonoses) to which the carrying out of work is a 
significant contributing factor, including any infection 
that is attributable to carrying out work—

(i) with micro-organisms; or

(ii) that involves providing treatment or care to a person; 
or

(iii) that involves contact with human blood or bodily 
substances; or

(iv) that involves handling or contact with animals, 
animal hides, animal skins, animal wool or hair, 
animal carcasses, or animal waste products; or

(v) that involves handling or contact with fish or marine 
mammals:

(e) any other injury or illness declared by regulations to 
be a notifiable injury or illness for the purposes of 
this section.

Meaning of notifiable incident 
In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires, a 
notifiable incident means an unplanned or uncontrolled 
incident in relation to a workplace that exposes a worker 
or any other person to a serious risk to that person’s 
health or safety arising from an immediate or imminent 
exposure to—

(a) an escape, a spillage, or a leakage of a substance; 
or

(b) an implosion, explosion, or fire; or

(c) an escape of gas or steam; or

(d) an escape of a pressurised substance; or

(e) an electric shock; or

(f) the fall or release from a height of any plant, 
substance, or thing; or

(g) the collapse, overturning, failure, or malfunction 
of, or damage to, any plant that is required to be 
authorised for use in accordance with regulations; 
or

(h) the collapse or partial collapse of a structure; or

(i) the collapse or failure of an excavation or any 
shoring supporting an excavation; or

(j) the inrush of water, mud, or gas in workings in an 
underground excavation or tunnel; or

(k) the interruption of the main system of ventilation in 
an underground excavation or tunnel; or

(l) a collision between 2 vessels, a vessel capsize, or 
the inrush of water into a vessel; or

(m) any other incident declared by regulations to be a 
notifiable incident for the purposes of this section.
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Appendix 6: Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix 
– Assessment matrix descriptors
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix captures information about its overall response capability across five key 
elements. The capability of each element is assessed, on a six-monthly basis, against a range of criteria to determine 
an overall rating. Assessments are reported to Maritime NZ’s Audit and Risk Committee. Maritime NZ is striving to 
sustain overall response capability as amber or higher over the term of this Statement of Intent and beyond.

MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE TEAM MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE SERVICE SEARCH AND RESCUE SECURITY RESPONSE COORDINATION

Capable of responding  
fully to a Maritime Incident:

Capable of responding  
to a National oil spill:

Fully capable of responding 
efficiently and effectively to all SAR 

incidents in the NZ Search and 
Rescue Region (NZSRR):

Fully capable of responding to a 
Maritime Security Incident:

Full integration of  
response components: 

• National exercise held every four years

• Responders fully trained to identified competencies

• Minimum of four exercises undertaken each year

• Rena recommendations (where appropriate) fully 
implemented.

• Regional and National responders fully trained to meet risk

• Minimum number of Industry/Regional and National 
exercises undertaken

• Equipment stockpiles Fit for Role (FFR)

• Regulatory obligations met.

• National SAR Plan in place

• Standard Operating Procedures in 
place

• Memoranda of understanding with 
national SAR resource providers and 
SAR agreements with relevant nations 
in place

• Tested plans in place for appropriate 
augmentation of SAR capability for 
large scale operations.

• Maritime NZ fully connected to the 
New Zealand Intelligence Community

• Full response capability in 
accordance with Maritime Security 
Plan

• Regulatory obligations met.

• Maritime NZ fully connected to 
the NZ Emergency Response 
Community

• Maritime NZ has a comprehensive 
response capability in accordance 
with Maritime Emergency Response 
Plan

• All regulatory obligations met. 

Able to respond to a Maritime Incident  
but lacking in specific areas of competency:

Able to respond to a National oil spill  
but lacking in some areas:

Capable of responding efficiently 
and effectively to most SAR 

incidents in the NZSRR:

Able to respond to a Maritime 
Security incident, but lacking in 

specific areas:

Able to respond to a Maritime 
Emergency Response Incident, but 

lacking coordination in specific 
areas:

• National exercise being developed, planning and 
coordination underway for exercise

• Responder competencies identified and appropriate 
training being developed

• High priority training completed with some responders

• Rena recommendations (where appropriate) partially 
implemented.

• Responder capability competencies identified and 
appropriate training being developed

• Industry/Regional and National exercises being developed, 
planning and co-ordination underway for exercise

• Equipment stockpiles maintained but some shortfalls in 
equipment holdings against capability plan

• Regulatory obligations partially met.

• Sufficient staff to run Operations 
Room 24/7 year round

• Insufficient staff to undertake full 
range of support tasks

• Plans and procedures for mass 
rescue/large scale events not fully 
developed and implemented.

• Maritime NZ has limited connectivity 
to NZ Intelligence Community

• Reduced response capability

• Regulatory obligations partially met.

• Maritime NZ has limited connectivity 
to NZ Emergency Response 
Community

• Overall response capability limited to 
some degree

• Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of effectively responding  
to a Maritime Incident:

Not capable of effectively responding  
to a National oil spill:

Not capable of responding efficiently 
and effectively to most incidents in 

the NZSRR:
Not capable of responding:

Response capability  
not aligned:

• No national exercises held

• Responder competencies not identified therefore no 
training in place

• Rena recommendations (where appropriate) not 
implemented.

• Responder capability limited in numbers and competency

• Regional exercises not meeting criteria. No Industry or 
National exercises undertaken or planned

• Major deficiencies in equipment, hampering response 
capability.

• Insufficient staff to run Operations 
Room 24/7 year round

• Inadequate stakeholder engagement 
and liaison leads to a failure in 
coordination of incidents

• Insufficient funding to sustain 
operations and operational support 
activity.

• Maritime NZ has no connection to 
the NZ Intelligence community

• Ineffective response capability

• Regulatory obligations not met.

• Maritime NZ response functions 
are siloed, not connected or well-
coordinated

• Ineffective response capability

• Regulatory obligations not met.
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Appendix 6: Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix 
– Assessment matrix descriptors
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sustain overall response capability as amber or higher over the term of this Statement of Intent and beyond.
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place
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in place

• Tested plans in place for appropriate 
augmentation of SAR capability for 
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• Maritime NZ fully connected to the 
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• Full response capability in 
accordance with Maritime Security 
Plan

• Regulatory obligations met.

• Maritime NZ fully connected to 
the NZ Emergency Response 
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• Maritime NZ has a comprehensive 
response capability in accordance 
with Maritime Emergency Response 
Plan

• All regulatory obligations met. 
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Able to respond to a National oil spill  
but lacking in some areas:

Capable of responding efficiently 
and effectively to most SAR 

incidents in the NZSRR:

Able to respond to a Maritime 
Security incident, but lacking in 

specific areas:

Able to respond to a Maritime 
Emergency Response Incident, but 

lacking coordination in specific 
areas:

• National exercise being developed, planning and 
coordination underway for exercise

• Responder competencies identified and appropriate 
training being developed

• High priority training completed with some responders

• Rena recommendations (where appropriate) partially 
implemented.

• Responder capability competencies identified and 
appropriate training being developed

• Industry/Regional and National exercises being developed, 
planning and co-ordination underway for exercise

• Equipment stockpiles maintained but some shortfalls in 
equipment holdings against capability plan

• Regulatory obligations partially met.

• Sufficient staff to run Operations 
Room 24/7 year round

• Insufficient staff to undertake full 
range of support tasks

• Plans and procedures for mass 
rescue/large scale events not fully 
developed and implemented.

• Maritime NZ has limited connectivity 
to NZ Intelligence Community

• Reduced response capability

• Regulatory obligations partially met.

• Maritime NZ has limited connectivity 
to NZ Emergency Response 
Community

• Overall response capability limited to 
some degree

• Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of effectively responding  
to a Maritime Incident:

Not capable of effectively responding  
to a National oil spill:

Not capable of responding efficiently 
and effectively to most incidents in 

the NZSRR:
Not capable of responding:

Response capability  
not aligned:

• No national exercises held

• Responder competencies not identified therefore no 
training in place

• Rena recommendations (where appropriate) not 
implemented.

• Responder capability limited in numbers and competency

• Regional exercises not meeting criteria. No Industry or 
National exercises undertaken or planned

• Major deficiencies in equipment, hampering response 
capability.

• Insufficient staff to run Operations 
Room 24/7 year round

• Inadequate stakeholder engagement 
and liaison leads to a failure in 
coordination of incidents

• Insufficient funding to sustain 
operations and operational support 
activity.

• Maritime NZ has no connection to 
the NZ Intelligence community

• Ineffective response capability

• Regulatory obligations not met.

• Maritime NZ response functions 
are siloed, not connected or well-
coordinated

• Ineffective response capability

• Regulatory obligations not met.
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Current Status – MNZ Response Capability

2015/2016  
Previous  

period status:  
Amber

Overall assessment at Amber

Very good, continued positive progress in the period. Routine, small-scale BAU SAR and oil 
spill response being delivered to a high standard. Excellent performance in Exercise  
Whakautu II demonstrating the real progress made since the RENA incident. The exercise 
also high-lighted areas for further development.

Maritime NZ staff were fully engaged in the exercise and awareness of the core response role 
is now widespread across the organisation. Overall good progress on the understanding and 
acquisition of skills around being a ‘Response Organisation’. On-going work is still required 
to refine systems and processes, undertake further internal training and external cooperation 
and to refresh skills and knowledge as staff come and go. With the approval of the budget bid 
for a response coordinator and the lijkley implementation of a revised (increased Oil Pollution 
levy) in Q1 of the next FY the organisation is well placed to continue to develop and build the 
required capabilities. 

Overall – Amber, positive trend.

Maritime 
Incident 

Response 
Team

Able to respond to a Maritime Incident but lacking in specific areas of competency:

Exercise Whakautu II was the second all-of-government exercise on the National  
Exercise Programme 2015–19. It was led by MNZ and involved 278 participants from over  
55 government, industry and emergency agencies – it was the prime area of work focus 
during the reporting period. Although the evaluation team assessed that “considerable 
progress was evident in the conduct of the MIRT” there remains significant work to be 
completed to ensure that the MIRT can undertake maritime response functions effectively 
and efficiently. Confirmation was received late in the reporting period for sustained funding 
to develop and maintain maritime incident response preparedness activities. This will ensure 
that MNZ’s incident response capability will steadily improve and specifically will provide 
opportunities to conduct training, exercises and enhance skills and experience. 

Overall – Amber with slight positive trend.

Maritime 
Pollution 

Response 
Service

Able to respond to a National Oil spill, but lacking in some areas:

Significant enhancements and innovations have been undertaken over the reporting period 
which has meant that NZ, under MPRS leadership is better able to respond to major oil spills. 
Overall it is assessed that the National Response Team is at a skill level that would ensure an 
effective Tier 3 response within the ‘Headquarters environment’ (ECC). This is a significant 
advance and reflects the many exercises, workshops, information system enhancements and 
capability improvement, such as the aerial projects that have occurred during the reporting 
period. A lack of suitable offshore oil equipment continues to limit the ability to effectively 
respond to near/offshore oil spill incidents. Increases to the Oil Pollution Fund late this 
calendar year will allow a slow enhancement of oil spill equipment to occur. 

Overall – Amber with positive trend.
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Search  
and Rescue

Capable of responding efficiently and effectively to most SAR incidents in NZSRR:

Ongoing professional response to Cat II SAROPs and support to police for Cat I SAROPs. 
RCCNZ moved into new purpose built premises in Q3. Further work on Mass Rescue plans 
with police and key partners as well as desk top exercises. Further large scale exercises with 
police commence in Q4. Two new SAROs graduated in Q4. Progess being made in various 
improvement projects including cross sector health & safety compliance work for the new 
Act. SAR assessments completed for Kiribati, Niue, Samoa & Cook Islands. Follow up training 
delivered in Kiribati with futher training planned for the other countries. Further Pacific work 
underway in Q1 and Q2 next period. MEOSAR project close to completion and handing 
overto BAU including new GEOSAR capability. Positive sector partner relationships. 

Overall – Amber with a positive trend.

Security

Fully Capable of Responding to a Maritime Security Incident:

New Zealand’s national internal security environment continues to be dynamic and active. 
Reporting from all of government agencies continues to reflect an active internal security 
situation, although the national security level remains low. Maritime security exercises 
conducted by NZ ports reinforce the positive response capabilities which would ensure an 
effective activation and response should there be a need to increase port security levels. 
MNZ continues to receive a rich flow of intelligence reporting and continues to be positively 
engaged in the all of government arena which is instrumental for an effective governmental 
security response. All ports remain compliant to the ISPS code and compliant to the Maritime 
Security Act 2004.

Maintenance of positive trend – Green.

Response 
Coordination

Able to Respond to a Maritime Emergency Response Incident, but Lacking 
Coordination in in specific areas:

Exercise Whakautu II was completed in Q4 after some 15 months of preparatory work. The 
all-of-government exercise was very successful in demonstrating the very good progress 
made on response coordination – both inside Maritime NZ and wider across government 
agencies and departments and out into the regions. There was extensive build up training for 
the exercise including on salvage, PIM and legal powers. The independent assessment rated 
the exercise very highly.

The work on the exercise supported further relationship development to back up the formal 
MOUs.

The budget bid for on-going funding for response coordination (focused on non-oil matters) 
was successful and funding will be available from Q1 in 2016/17. Maritime NZ will then 
appoint a full time response coordinator and continue to evolve and develop the response 
capability programme. Pressure still remained in the period on staff availability with the 
exercise being a major drain on resources. This will remain the case going forward but 
engagement levels are very high. 

Overall – Amber with a positive trend.
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Appendix 7: Governance and accountability
The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament for overseeing and managing the Crown’s interests in 
Maritime NZ.

The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Authority to set the direction of the entity, achieve the government’s desired 
results set out in the Marine Transport Act 1994 (“MTA”) and in other legislation and policy, and manage any maritime 
safety and security risks on behalf of the Crown.

Members act in accordance with applicable statutory requirements (for example, the MTA and the Crown Entities Act 
2004), and in the interests of the role and functions of maritime safety and security.

Authority membership and composition
Maritime NZ is made up of a Board of five members appointed by the Minister of Transport. The Board appoints the 
Director of Maritime NZ, who has independent statutory powers under the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (a sub-committee of the Authority) is comprised of all Authority 
members. The Committee has the authority to make recommendations only.

The objectives of the Committee are to ensure:

• the robustness of risk management systems and practices

• the independence and adequacy of the internal audit functions

• compliance with application regulations, standards and best practice guidelines.

Risk Management
The Authority is responsible for ensuring that Maritime NZ has a comprehensive risk register which identifies all 
significant risks, corresponding mitigation actions and the regular monitoring of these mitigations.

Internal Audit
The Audit and Risk Management Committee establishes a risk-based internal audit programme each year, covering 
the key functions and services of Maritime NZ. The programme also includes the flexibility to schedule reviews of 
areas of interest to the Director and the Committee as the need arises.

Internal Audit services are provided through the Transport Sector Risk Assurance Centre of Excellence (CoE), whose 
purpose and objectives are outlined in an Operating Agreement with Maritime NZ. The New Zealand Transport 
Agency (NZTA) is the host agency for the CoE.

Legislative compliance and ethics
Maritime NZ is guided by its Codes of Conduct and the State Services Commissioner’s Standards of Integrity and 
Conduct. Authority members are required to complete a declaration of interests upon appointment and whenever 
changes occur during their term. A schedule of Authority members’ interests is reviewed at every Authority meeting.

The Authority ensures that the Maritime NZ complies with all legislation. Maritime NZ is committed to complying with 
all applicable legislation in carrying out its functions and activities. Maritime NZ ensures that a legislative compliance 
programme covering all relevant Acts and regulations is in place, which is regularly monitored and reviewed.
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Appendix 8: Maritime NZ’s legislative framework and 
primary functions

Maritime NZ’s legislative framework
Maritime NZ has direct or delegated authority under the Marine Transport Act 1994 (“MTA”) to help set and administer 
the regulatory framework for the maritime sector, including the commercial fishing sector. The regulatory framework is 
aimed at achieving the Government’s overarching goals for the transport sector, and also the Maritime NZ vision of a 
maritime environment that is “safe, secure, clean”

Maritime NZ’s statutory functions
Under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Maritime NZ has the following functions:

• To promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment in and beyond New Zealand, in 
accordance with New Zealand’s international obligations

• To ensure the provision of appropriate distress and safety radio communication systems and navigational aids for 
shipping

• To ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills

• To license ships, their operation and their crews

• To cooperate with, or provide advice and assistance to, any government agency or local government agency 
when requested to do so by the Minister

• To provide information and advice with respect to maritime transport and marine protection, and to foster 
appropriate information and education programmes with respect to maritime transport and marine protection

• To investigate and review maritime transport accidents and incidents, and maritime security breaches and 
incidents

• To maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships

• To maintain and preserve records and documents relating to the Authority’s functions

• To advise the Minister on technical maritime safety policy

• To administer the international obligations of the Crown under the treaties, memoranda and other international 
maritime and marine environment protection agreements, as agreed with the Minister of Transport.

Other functions
The principal pieces of legislation that support the work of Maritime NZ are:

1. The Crown Entities Act 2004 – establishes Maritime NZ’s governance and operational framework, identifies the 
powers and duties of board members, and prescribes the Authority’s accountability to Government.

2. Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 (“HSE Act”) – sets the broad principles for health and safety in 
New Zealand workplaces. Maritime NZ is the designated agency for administering the HSE Act for work on 
board ships and ships as places of work.

3. The Ship Registration Act 1992 – administered by Maritime NZ, this Act regulates all vessels over 24 metres in 
length, others that depart for the high seas by mandate and smaller vessels voluntarily.

4. The Maritime Security Act 2004 (“MSA”) – administered by Maritime NZ, the MSA sets out how New Zealand 
will meet its obligations to prevent international terrorism on board ships and in ports, as set out in the United 
Nations International Ship and Port Facility Security Code.

5. The Civil Aviation Act 1990 – sets out Maritime NZ’s responsibilities for coordinating Category II search and rescue 
operations, and operating and maintaining the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand.
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